
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded on tape 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
 

 
Janet Pritchard 
247 4327 
 
 
 

Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Richard Mills 
Telephone No: 2474557 
 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (CITY DEVELOPMENT) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 
Tuesday, 13th January, 2009 at 10.00 am 

 
A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board  

in a Committee Room at 9.30 am 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
R Pryke (Chair) - Burmantofts and 

Richmond Hill 

C Beverley - Morley South 

B Gettings - Morley North 

R Harington - Gipton and Harehills 

A Hussain - Gipton and Harehills 

J Jarosz - Pudsey 

M Lobley - Roundhay 

R Procter - Harewood 

N Taggart - Bramley and 
Stanningley 

G Wilkinson - Wetherby 

A Barker - Horsforth 

J Matthews - Headingley 

A Ogilvie - Beeston and Holbeck 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded). 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting) 
 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

 
No exempt items or information have been 
identified on this agenda. 
 
 
 

 



 

 
C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration.  
 
(The special circumstance shall be specified in the 
minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To declare any personal/prejudicial interests for the 
purpose of Section 81(3) of the Local Government 
Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct.  
 

 

5     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 
 
To receive and approve the minutes of the last 
meeting held on 16th December 2008. 
 

1 - 6 

7   
 

  LEEDS STRATEGIC PLAN PERFORMANCE 
REPORT FOR QUARTER 2 2008/09 
 
To consider the attached report of the Head of 
Policy, Performance and Improvement providing 
the Board with an update on the revised approach 
to performance reporting and accountability 
arrangements for the Leeds Strategic and Council 
Business Plans and a performance report on the 
progress against improvement priorities relevant to 
the Board at Quarter 2 2008/09. 
 

7 - 32 

8   
 

  A660 CORRIDOR TRANSPORT ISSUES 
 
To consider the attached report of the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development attaching the 
report of the Director of City Development on the 
A660 Corridor Transport Issues to the North West 
(Inner) Area Committee and the joint report of the 
Chief Highways Officer and Director of Resources 
dated 24th November 2008 referred by the North 
West (Inner) Area Committee to this Board for 
discussion. 
 

33 - 
56 



 

 
D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

9   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To consider the attached report of the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development regarding the 
Board’s work programme, together with a copy of 
the Forward Plan of Key Decisions pertaining to 
this Board’s Terms of Reference for the period 1st 
January to 30th April 2009 and the Executive Board 
Minutes of 3rd December 2008. 
 

57 - 
80 

10   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
To note that the next meeting of the Board will be 
held on 10th February 2009 at 10.00am with a pre-
meeting for Board Members at 9.30am. 
 

 

 



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 13th January, 2009 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (CITY DEVELOPMENT) 
 

TUESDAY, 16TH DECEMBER, 2008 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R Pryke in the Chair 

 Councillors C Beverley, B Gettings, 
R Harington, M Lobley, G Wilkinson, 
J Matthews and A Ogilvie 

 
68 Chair's Opening Remarks  
 

The Chair welcomed all in attendance to the December meeting of the 
Scrutiny Board (City Development). 
 

69 Declaration of Interests  
 

Councillor Gettings declared a personal interest in respect of agenda item 10, 
‘City Varieties’, due to being a member of the Grand Theatre Board (Minute 
No. 76 refers). 
 

70 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillors Jarosz and Taggart. 
 

71 Minutes of Last Meeting  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 18th November 2008 
be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

72 Matters Arising  
 

In relation to Minute No. 61 (resolution b) ‘Consultation on the Draft Vision for 
Leisure Centres in Leeds’, it was reported that Members had not yet received 
a map highlighting Council and private leisure centres.  The Principal Scrutiny 
Adviser agreed to circulate copies of the map after the meeting. 
 

73 Inquiry on Residents Parking Schemes  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report attaching 
for Members’ consideration the Board’s draft final report on the Review of 
Residents Parking Schemes and comments received from the Chief 
Highways Officer on behalf of the Director of City Development. 
 
The Chair welcomed to the meeting to respond to Members’ queries and 
comments Andrew Mason, Chief Environmental Services Officer, Graham 
Wilson, Head of Environmental Action and Parking, Howard Claxton, Traffic 
Engineering Manager and Mark Jefford, Parking Manager, Enforcement. 
 
The Chair introduced the report and the main highlighted points were:- 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 13th January, 2009 

 

 

• Officers still had some concerns in relation to residents developing their 
own parking schemes.  The Board was advised that residents would 
need to be provided with full information about the financial 
implications, if the option was pursued.   

• In relation to recommendation 6, it was reported that work was already 
underway to reduce the level of fraud in resident parking zones.  It was 
agreed that a report back to the Board to discuss progress would be 
provided.   

• In response to a query, the Board was advised that fraudulent use of a 
blue badge was a criminal offence.  It was also advised that a permit 
may be withdrawn if it was found to have been misused. 

• The Board discussed the issuing of resident and visitors parking 
permits.  In particular there were challenges in terms of issuing permits 
to multiple occupancy households.  One Member suggested linking 
Council tax and the issuing of resident parking permits. 

 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Board’s final report and recommendations be agreed. 
(b) That the relevant Directors be requested to formally respond to the 

Scrutiny Board (City Development)’s recommendations within two 
months of receipt of the Board’s report. 

 
74 Previously Received Performance Indicators  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report attaching, 
at the request of Members, information on previously received performance 
indicators provided by the Director of City Development. 
 
The Chair introduced the report and in brief summary, the main highlighted 
points were: 
 

• Members discussed previously reported performance indicators and 
the lack of useful data e.g. the number of books taken out of a library 
rather than the number of people making use of the various facilities. 

• The accuracy of some of the data and how data was collected e.g. how 
do we assess the number of people visiting our parks? 

• Concern that by asking to receive some previously reported 
performance information that this might duplicate data being provided 
to the Board on a quarterly basis.  

• There was a request for continued performance data on library visits 
(CPA C2c).   

• Members wished to be kept informed on the number of people killed or 
seriously injured in road traffic collisions (BV-99ai). 

• There was also a request for regular updates on debt advice and other 
related indicators (LAA-EDE13 – LAA-EDE17), residents satisfaction 
with parks and open spaces (BV-119E) and repairs to roads and 
pavements (LKI HM1 and LKIHM2). 

 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 13th January, 2009 

 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development be 

noted. 
(b) That the information provided by the Director of City Development be 

noted. 
(c) That the Board receives regular updates on a number of specific 

previously received performance indicators identified above. 
 

75 Traffic Congestion - Key Locations  
 

The Director of City Development submitted a report providing an update to 
the information previously provided to the Board on 18th December 2007 on 
key locations for congestion on the major highway network.  Included within 
the report was information concerning congestion locations specifically 
identified by Ward Members. 
 
The Chair welcomed to the meeting Andrew Hall, Transport Strategy 
Manager, City Development, to present the report and respond to queries and 
comments from the Board. 
 
In brief summary, the following points were discussed: 
 

• The Board was advised that there was regular monitoring of traffic 
congestion.  An annual report was available next year which would provide 
further information and data on emerging trends. 

• It was reported that the information appended to the report had been 
updated to reflect Members’ concerns. 

• Members queried what improvements were being undertaken prior to the 
2013-14 programme of works.  It was reported that a package of schemes 
had been submitted to the Regional Transport Board for consideration.  

• In relation to the need for further improvements to the A660, one Member 
requested further information on the option to introduce park and ride 
facilities.  It was advised that a forthcoming meeting of the North West 
(Inner) Area Committee was taking place, which would involve discussing 
some of the issues in greater detail.  

• There was a request for the Board to be provided with further information 
on what short term improvements could be made to reduce traffic 
congestion at the A661 King Lane junction with the Ring Road. 

• Members discussed red routes and the possibility of introducing access 
arrangements at specific times. 

 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the report be noted. 
(b) That the Board be provided with a further report on what short term 

improvements could be made to reduce traffic congestion at the A661 
King Lane junction with the Ring Road. 

 
76 City Varieties  
 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 13th January, 2009 

 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report notifying 
Members of a presentation to the Board by the Chief Libraries, Arts and 
Heritage Officer on the work to be carried out to the City Varieties during 2009 
in order for the Board to determine whether further scrutiny should be 
undertaken. 
 
The Chair welcomed to the meeting Clifford Ball, Project Manager, Design 
Services and Catherine Blanshard, Chief Libraries, Arts and Heritage Officer. 
 
The Project Manager, Design Services, circulated plans and elevation 
drawings for the Board’s consideration.  A brief presentation on work to be 
undertaken was also provided.   
 
The Board was advised that refurbishment of City Varieties addressed the 
need for improvements in respect of disabled access, heating and ventilation 
and congestion at the stalls bar.  The refurbishment was a £9.2 million 
scheme, which included £3 million award in principle from the Heritage Lottery 
Fund and £1 million donation from the Grand Theatre Board.  It was 
anticipated that the refurbishment would be completed by July 2010. 
 
The Chair then invited Members’ questions and comments and the main 
highlighted points were: 
 

• One Member queried whether the auditorium’s capacity was affected by 
the proposed new seating arrangements.  It was advised that capacity in 
the auditorium would reduce by approximately 50 seats.  This was due to 
improvements to disabled facilities and the installation of removable seats 
next to the stage.  

• Another Member queried whether name plaques would appear on the 
seats.  Members were advised that as a fundraising measure, people 
would be encouraged to purchase new name plaques. 

• In response to a query regarding improvements to ventilation, it was 
advised that a heat recovery system was being installed.   

• There was a request to clear up the area of land behind City Varieties.  
The Board was advised that the land was not in the ownership of City 
Varieties. 

• There was also a request to make improvements to part of Swan Street.  It 
was suggested that City Development could be contacted to address this 
issue.  

 
RESOLVED – That further scrutiny be undertaken of the work to be carried 
out to the City Varieties during 2009. 
 

77 Current Work Programme  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report providing 
Members with a copy of the Board’s current Work Programme.  The Forward 
Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1st December 2008 to 31st March 2009 
and the Executive Board Minutes of 5th November 2008 were also attached to 
the report. 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 13th January, 2009 

 

 
RESOLVED – That the work programme be agreed. 
 

78 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

To note that the next meeting of the Board would be held on Tuesday 13th 
January 2009 at 10.00am with a pre-meeting for Board Members at 9.30am. 
 
 
(The meeting concluded at 11.45 am). 
 
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the Head of Policy, Performance and Improvement 
 
City Development Scrutiny Board 
 
Date: 13th January 2009 
 
Subject: Leeds Strategic Plan Performance Report for Quarter 2 2008/09 
 

        
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the revised approach to performance reporting 
and accountability arrangements for the Leeds Strategic and Council Business Plans and to provide 
a performance report by exception (ie red and amber) on the progress against improvement priorities 
relevant to the Board at Quarter 2 2008/09.  
 
It outlines how the development of the partnership approach to the Leeds Strategic Plan and the  
changes that will result from the implementation of the comprehensive area assessment have 
required us to review and revise our council performance management framework and associated 
reporting processes.  As a result, this has seen a significant change, in particular, the identification of 
lead and contributory officers for each improvement priority and the introduction of a reporting 
process that will provide a single source of performance information to be used by the full range of 
different stakeholders in the accountability process. 
 
An overview of current performance information at the mid-year point is provided although this needs 
to be interpreted with some caution given the newness of the reporting process.  A more robust and 
comprehensive position of performance progress against the Leeds Strategic and Council Business 
Plans should be available at the end of year one of implementation.  In addition, there is a need to 
ensure that year end data is reported by partners and the council in a full and timely fashion so that 
any necessary remedial action can be expedited promptly.  

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 

Originators:  Marilyn Summers 
 

 
Tel:  39 50786  

 

 

 
 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report) 
  

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



1.0 Purpose of this Report 

1.1 This report provides a strategic overview of performance against those improvement priorities 
within the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11, and specifically in relation to City Development 
priorities.  In particular the Action Tracker Summary Sheet (appendix 1) provides an overall 
assessment of progress against each of the improvement priorities relevant to the Board; a 
rating of Red, Amber or Green is applied to indicate the status of each improvement priority. 

1.2 In appendix 2 to this report the Action Trackers are provided on an exception basis for those 
areas of under performance and/or of concern in relation to the improvement priorities for City 
Development, within the Leeds Strategic Plan, as at 30th September 2008.  In addition, 
performance indicator information is provided for those indicators from the 198 National 
Indicator Set which are not included within the Action Trackers provided together with any 
locally agreed indicators where appropriate.  Through this the Board will continue to receive 
the full set of performance indicator information. 

2.0 Background Information 

2.1 Executive Board approved a new corporate planning framework for the council in July 2007.  
The strategic element of this framework includes two high level plans which set the policy 
objectives for the organisation and our partnership working.  These are: 

ØØØØ Leeds Strategic Plan 2008 to 2011 - which sets out the customer/citizen (external) 
focused strategic outcomes being sought by the council and its partners for the city.  
This plan includes our requirements to produce a Local Area Agreement and is the 
main delivery mechanism for the Vision for Leeds 2004 to 2020. 

ØØØØ Council Business Plan 2008 to 2011 - which sets out what the council needs to do 
internally to enable the organisation to achieve the Leeds Strategic Plan.  That is 
outlining the business development, organisational change, process transformation 
and financial planning activities that we will be undertaking over the next three years.   

2.2 Both these plans include a set of outcomes, improvement priorities and aligned performance 
indicators with three year targets.  Through our performance reporting and accountability 
arrangements we need to track our progress against the improvement priorities as well as 
against the indicators to provide both a qualitative and quantitative picture of performance.  
This is because the scope of most of the improvement priorities is wider than that of the 
performance indicator and without some form of contextual reporting we would not be able to 
capture or monitor this progress. 

3.0 Main Issues 

3.1 Comprehensive Area Assessment 
 

A key aspect of a robust performance management framework is to highlight an 
organisation’s self-awareness.  This will be a fundamental part of the CAA process where 
councils will be expected to carry out an annual self evaluation that will be crucial in 
determining the overall CAA judgement of the area and the organisation, having particular 
importance in relation to the Managing Performance KLOE. 

 
The joint inspectorates’ proposal for consultation, issued in summer 2008, notes that: 

 
“Councils and their partners, and their representative bodies, are developing approaches to 
self-evaluation.  While we are not making it a requirement of CAA, we do expect that each 
area will wish to complete an annual self-evaluation and we will take full account of it and any 
service level self-evaluation.  We do not intend to repeat the work carried out already by the 
council or its partners.  We will expect that any self-evaluation is based on verifiable 
evidence.  The more robust the self-evaluation the more reliance we will be able to place on 
it.   
 

Page 8



CAA will draw as far as possible on the information used by the council and its 
partners to manage performance and deliver improvements set out in the Local Area 
Agreement and Sustainable Community Strategies.  This approach will minimise the 
administrative burden imposed by CAA and will make optimum use of self-evaluation.” 

 
The self evaluation will enable the partnership to work through and be able to demonstrate 
that it is sufficiently self-aware of key issues and that there are effective plans in place to 
address any concerns.  It will demonstrate that the partnership is aware of where there are 
gaps in performance that need to be addressed or where more focused attention is needed to 
ensure that the partnership will deliver its outcomes.   It will also highlight where action plans 
are in place to address these issues.  This is important in ensuring self awareness and 
preparedness to really deliver on improvements.   

 
As such, it is important that timely, appropriate and accountable performance information is 
available to the relevant audiences so that problems in relation to performance and/or data 
quality are flagged, the focus of improvement activity can be challenged and that appropriate 
action is being taken and reported to address areas of under performance. 

  
Within the council Lead Chief Officers have the key role in making this happen through co-
ordinating the activities of contributors and providing an overview of the progress against the 
improvement priority for which they are accountable. This overview position is described in 
the Action Trackers previously approved by CLT and agreed by Lead Officers, and updated at 
Qtr 2 and Qtr 4 of the performance reporting and accountability process. The Action Trackers 
at Qtr 2 & Qtr 4, therefore, provide a single source of performance information for the full 
range of different stakeholders in the accountability process. 

  
3.2 Role of Scrutiny Board 
 
 A key performance management role of Elected Members is to ensure that delivery of our 

strategic outcomes and improvement priorities within both the Leeds Strategic Plan and 
Council Business Plan is on track.  Members need to be made aware of any issues and areas 
of under performance, and be assured that actions are being taken to improve performance, 
that the appropriate level of resources are available and that problems or blockages to 
delivery are identified and addressed.  However, it is recognised that the volume of 
information within the Action Trackers produced for each six months could hinder Scrutiny 
Boards in carrying out their role in the accountability process. Therefore the approach from 
Quarter 2 is to provide the Action Trackers by exception, highlighting just those areas that are 
under performing or causing concern ie those traffic lighted amber or red.  This is 
supplemented by a performance indicator report that includes all of the performance 
indicators relevant to the Board - except for those that already appear within the action 
trackers themselves.   

 The Scrutiny Board role is to challenge the council’s performance to raise standards acting as 
a balance to the Executive Board by examining and questioning the range of actions, 
activities and decisions, and also considering and challenging the work of partnership bodies 
contributing to the delivery of improvement priorities.  

3.3 Information Provided 
 

Therefore within this report the following information is provided: 

Appendix 1 Action Tracker Summary Sheet - this sheet sets out all the improvement 
priorities relevant to the Board and shows the full set of overall progress traffic lights. 

Appendix 2 Action Trackers – this appendix includes the action trackers for the 
improvement priorities that have been given an amber or red rating for overall progress.  
There is a guidance sheet to assist members in interpreting the information provided. 

 

Page 9



Appendix 3 Performance Indicator Report – this appendix list the Q2 performance 
indicator results for the indicators taken from the green action trackers, along with those from 
the rest of the 198 national indicator set and any locally agreed indicators for which quarterly 
results are available.   

4.0 Implications for Council Policy and Governance 

4.1 Effective performance management enables senior officers and Elected Members to be 
assured that the council is making adequate progress and provides a mechanism for them to 
challenge performance where appropriate.  Effective performance management also forms a 
key element of the organisational assessment proposed under the new Comprehensive Area 
Assessment.  The CAA will examine and challenge the robustness and effectiveness of both 
our corporate performance management arrangements and those across the partnership. 

5.0 Legal and Resource Implications 

5.1 The implementation of these new performance reporting arrangements is achievable within 
current resources across the organisations as they essentially replace an existing similar 
process. 

6.0 Conclusions 

6.1 The development of the partnership approach of the Leeds Strategic Plan, the introduction of 
a Council Business Plan and the changes resulting from CAA have required us to review and 
revise our council performance management framework and associated reporting processes.  
As a result, this has seen a significant change in identifying lead and contributory officers and 
partners with accountable roles for each improvement priority within the Leeds Strategic Plan 
and Council Business Plan as appropriate.  There is a need to fully complete this framework 
and strengthen a culture of accountability within the council and with partner organisations 
through our scrutiny arrangements. 

6.2 At Qtr 2 each Lead Chief Officer/partner has completed an Action Tracker against each of the 
improvement priorities, which has significantly increased the amount of performance 
information produced.  As such, in order for Elected Members to fulfil their role effectively 
through the scrutiny process, these action trackers are reported by exception; highlighting just 
those areas that are under performing or causing concern.  This is supplemented by a 
complete set of performance indicator information to enable members to maintain an 
overview of performance.  

6.3 As the lead partner for the Local Area Agreement and Leeds Strategic Plan, it is 
fundamentally important that the council can demonstrate to partners, Government Office and 
through CAA that its has an integrated, robust performance management framework that is fit 
for purpose.   

7.0 Recommendation 

7.1 That members of Scrutiny Board note the content of the report and comment on any particular 
performance issues of concern. 

 

 

Background Papers 

 

None Used 

Page 10



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
r 
S
u
m
m
a
ry
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

C
o
d
e

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r

C
o
d
e
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r

C
U
-1
a

E
n
a
b
le
 m
o
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 c
u
lt
u
re
 b
y
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
ilt
y
 a
n
d
 w
id
e
r 
ra
n
g
in
g
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

E
E
-1
a

In
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
tr
e
p
re
n
e
u
ri
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
it
y

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

C
U
-2
a

F
a
c
ili
ta
te
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 
c
u
lt
u
ra
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 o
f 
in
te
rn
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
c
e

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

E
E
-1
b

F
a
c
ili
ta
te
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
m
a
jo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
 t
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 l
o
c
a
l 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

E
E
-2
a

In
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
te
rn
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
 a
n
d
 a
tt
ra
c
t 
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t.

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

C
o
d
e

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r

C
o
d
e

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r

E
N
V
-1
b
R
e
d
u
c
e
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 f
ro
m
 p
u
b
lic
 s
e
c
to
r 
b
u
ild
in
g
s
, 
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 o
th
e
rs
 t
o
 d
o
 s
o

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

T
R
-1
a

D
e
liv
e
r 
a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
a
n
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
y
s
te
m
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
y
c
lin
g
 a
n
d
 w
a
lk
in
g

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

E
N
V
-1
c
U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 o
u
r 
re
s
ili
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 c
lim
a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

T
R
-1
b

Im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
, 
u
s
e
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
.

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

E
N
V
-2
b
Im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 b
u
ilt
 a
n
d
 n
a
tu
ra
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

T
R
-1
c

Im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
e
e
ts
 a
n
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 b
y
 c
a
rr
y
in
g
 o
u
t 
a
 m
a
jo
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
.

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

T
R
-1
d

Im
p
ro
v
e
 r
o
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
o
u
r 
u
s
e
rs
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 m
o
to
r 
c
y
c
lis
ts
, 
p
e
d
a
l 
c
y
c
lis
ts
 a
n
d
 p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
s
.

 J
e
a
n
 D
e
n
t

C
o
d
e
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r

C
o
d
e

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

A
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r

L
N
-1
a

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 s
k
ill
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
th
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 t
o
 f
u
lf
il 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l.

R
o
s
e
m
a
ry
 A
rc
h
e
r

T
P
-1
e

In
c
re
a
s
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
 i
n
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 a
re
a
s
.

 N
e
il 
E
v
a
n
s

L
e
e
d
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n

L
e
a
rn
in
g

T
h
ri
v
in
g
 P
la
c
e
s

C
u
lt
u
re

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
y

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 2

C
it
y
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

A
c
ti
o

n
 T

ra
c
k
e

rs
 Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
2

 2
0

0
8

-0
9

C
U
-1
a

P
I 
R
e
f

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t

Y
e
a
r 
to
 D
a
te
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

R
A
G
 R
a
ti
n
g

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
li
ty

N
I 

8
2

0
.5

%

(2
0

0
5

/0
6

A
c
ti
v
e

 P
e

o
p

le
 S

u
rv

e
y
)

In
c
re

a
s
e

 o
f 

1
%

 o
n

 

th
e

 b
a

s
e

lin
e

 b
y
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

S
u

rv
e

y
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 

O
c
to

b
e

r 
0

8
 -

 

re
s
u

lt
 a

v
a

ila
b

le
 

la
te

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r

A
m

b
e

r
N

o
 c

o
n

c
e

rn
s
 w

it
h

 d
a

ta

L
K

I-
S

C
1

9
1

3

(2
0

0
7

/0
8

)

1
2

(M
o

rl
e

y
 w

ill
 b

e
 

c
lo

s
e

d
 f

o
r 

it
s
 P

F
I 

re
b

u
ild

 a
n

d
 w

ill
  

lo
s
e

 

it
s
 a

c
c
re

d
it
a

ti
o

n
 

s
ta

tu
s
 0

8
/0

9
. 

 D
u

ri
n

g
 

0
9

/1
0

 A
rm

le
y
 w

ill
 

a
ls

o
 c

lo
s
e

 f
o

r 

re
b

u
ild

)

F
ig

u
re

 r
e

p
o

rt
e

d
 

a
s
 a

t 
3

1
s
t 

M
a

rc
h

 

e
a

c
h

 y
e

a
r

G
re

e
n

N
o

 c
o

n
c
e

rn
s
 w

it
h

 d
a

ta

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

S
p

o
rt

 C
a

p
it
a

l 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

O
n

g
o

in
g

 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

2
0

0
8

-2
0

1
0

S
c
h

o
o

l 
Im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
d

v
is

o
r

H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 

A
c
ti
v
e

 R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
2

0
1

2

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

K
e

y
 i
n

it
ia

ti
v
e

s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

 S
p

o
rt

 L
e

e
d

s
 'T

ra
c
k
e

r'
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 £

6
4

0
,0

0
0

 l
e

v
e

ra
g

e
d

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

 S
p

o
rt

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 I

n
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 

F
u

n
d

 b
y
 t

h
e

 c
o

u
n

c
il 

a
n

d
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
, 

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l 
c
lo

s
e

 b
e

in
g

 a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
 o

n
 t

h
e

 P
F

I 

'N
e

w
 L

e
a

f' 
p

ro
je

c
t,

 a
n

d
 w

o
rk

 o
n

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 G

u
id

a
n

c
e

 1
7

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

s
 t

o
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 n

e
e

d
 f

o
r 

s
p

o
rt

 f
a

c
ili

ti
e

s
.

T
h

e
 c

h
a

lle
n

g
e

 o
f 

m
o

v
in

g
 6

,7
3

7
 (

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
) 

p
e

o
p

le
 f

ro
m

 e
it
h

e
r 

d
o

in
g

 n
o

 s
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 a

c
ti
v
e

 r
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
, 

o
r 

fr
o

m
 o

n
e

 o
r 

tw
o

 3
0

 

m
in

u
te

 'm
o

d
e

ra
te

 i
n

te
n

s
it
y
' s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 3
 t

im
e

s
 a

 w
e

e
k
 

th
re

s
h

o
ld

 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
ra

b
le

.

L
a

c
k
 o

f 
m

a
tc

h
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 f

o
r 

th
e

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 I

n
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
F

u
n

d
 h

a
s
 

in
h

ib
it
e

d
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 i
n

 c
e

rt
a

in
 a

s
p

e
c
ts

 o
f 

th
e

 p
o

rt
fo

lio
.

P
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 i
n

e
q

u
a

lit
ie

s
 a

m
o

n
g

s
t 

p
ri
o

ri
ty

 g
ro

u
p

s
 i
s
 a

 c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
, 

a
s
 i
s
 a

lig
n

in
g

 s
p

o
rt

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 t

h
e

 'H
e

a
lt
h

 a
n

d
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
' 

a
g

e
n

d
a

.

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
t 

th
e

 S
p

o
rt

 L
e

e
d

s
 'T

ra
c
k
e

r'
 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 

m
o

v
in

g
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n

t 
o

n
 a

ll 
5

5
 a

c
ti
o

n
s
.

P
ro

d
u

c
e

 a
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
 t

o
 a

s
s
e

s
s
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

a
x
im

is
e

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 I

n
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
F

u
n

d
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti
o

n
 

(3
1

/0
3

/0
9

 d
e

a
d

lin
e

).

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 'N

e
w

 L
e

a
f' 

P
F

I 
p

ro
je

c
t 

(2
0

1
0

 c
o

m
p

le
ti
o

n
 

d
a

te
) 

a
n

d
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 P
o

lic
y
 G

u
id

a
n

c
e

 1
7

 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t.

T
ra

c
k
e

rP
ro

g
re

s
s
o

n
A

c
ti
o

n
s
!A

1

T
h

e
 d

e
m

a
n

d
in

g
 n

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
ta

rg
e

t 
fo

r 
8

5
%

 o
f 

c
h

ild
re

n
 t

o
 b

e
 i
n

v
o

lv
e

d
 i
n

 t
w

o
 h

o
u

rs
 

p
e

r 
w

e
e

k
 o

f 
h

ig
h

 q
u

a
lit

y
 P

E
 a

n
d

 s
c
h

o
o

l 
s
p

o
rt

 b
y
 t

h
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
th

e
 2

0
0

7
/0

8
 

a
c
a

d
e

m
ic

 y
e

a
r 

h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

tl
y
 e

x
c
e

e
d

e
d

. 
 R

e
c
e

n
tl
y
 p

u
b

lis
h

e
d

 f
ig

u
re

s
 

s
h

o
w

 t
h

a
t 

L
e

e
d

s
 a

ls
o

 e
x
c
e

e
d

e
d

 t
h

e
 n

a
ti
o

n
a

lly
 n

e
g

o
ti
a

te
d

 “
s
tr

e
tc

h
 t

a
rg

e
t”

 o
f 

9
0

%
 

b
y
 t

h
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
th

e
 2

0
0

7
-0

8
 a

c
a

d
e

m
ic

 y
e

a
r.

L
o

n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 f
u

n
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 s

u
s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
s
c
h

o
o

l 
s
p

o
rt

s
 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

s
.

F
u

rt
h

e
r 

w
o

rk
 t

o
 c

re
a

te
 s

c
h

o
o

l 
s
p

o
rt

s
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e

 

c
it
y
.

P
ro

v
id

e
 q

u
a

lit
y
 t

ra
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
o

u
s
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

l 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

fo
r 

s
ta

ff
.

E
n

s
u

re
 t

h
e

 i
n

n
o

v
a

ti
v
e

, 
“w

a
k
e

 s
h

a
k
e

 u
p

” 
in

it
ia

ti
v
e

 (
d

a
n

c
e

 b
a

s
e

d
 

p
h

y
s
ic

a
l 
a

c
ti
v
it
y
 r

o
u

ti
n

e
s
) 

is
 u

s
e

d
 r

e
g

u
la

rl
y
 i
n

 p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h

o
o

ls
.

A
n

 u
p

d
a

te
d

 P
la

y
in

g
 P

it
c
h

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 t
o

 A
s
s
e

t 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 

G
ro

u
p

 (
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 e

n
s
u

re
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

 o
f 

h
ig

h
 q

u
a

lit
y
 s

p
o

rt
s
 p

it
c
h

e
s
 t

h
a

t 
m

e
e

t 

d
e

m
a

n
d

).
  

A
 p

ro
je

c
t 

lis
t 

fo
r 

th
e

 n
e

x
t 

tw
o

 y
e

a
rs

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 a

s
s
e

m
b

le
d

 a
n

d
 s

o
m

e
 

fu
n

d
in

g
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 s

e
c
u

re
d

.

L
a

c
k
 o

f 
a

v
a

ila
b

le
 g

ra
n

t 
fu

n
d

in
g

 a
n

d
 n

o
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 c
a

p
it
a

l 
fo

r 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
ts

.

S
u

b
s
id

y
 i
n

to
 s

p
o

rt
s
 p

it
c
h

e
s
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

tl
y
 h

ig
h

e
r 

th
a

n
 i
n

c
o

m
e

 

g
e

n
e

ra
te

d
.

U
p

d
a

te
d

 P
la

y
in

g
 P

it
c
h

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

d
. 

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 b
id

s
 t

o
 

w
ri
tt

e
n

 i
n

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h

 l
o

c
a

l 
c
lu

b
s
 a

n
d

 t
e

a
m

s
. 

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 o

f 
p

ro
je

c
ts

 w
it
h

 s
e

c
u

re
d

 f
u

n
d

in
g

.

T
w

o
 n

e
w

 l
e

is
u

re
 c

e
n

tr
e

s
, 

A
rm

le
y
 a

n
d

 M
o

rl
e

y
, 

a
re

 b
e

in
g

 f
u

n
d

e
d

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 h

e
lp

 o
f 

£
3

0
m

 P
F

I 
c
re

d
it
s
. 

 C
o

n
tr

a
c
to

rs
 a

re
 o

n
 s

it
e

 a
t 

b
o

th
 v

e
n

u
e

s
, 

w
it
h

 b
o

th
 d

u
e

 t
o

 o
p

e
n

 

in
 2

0
1

0
.

D
e

liv
e

ry
 o

f 
th

e
 b

u
ild

in
g

s
 t

o
 t

im
e

s
c
a

le
s
 a

n
d

 q
u

a
lit

y
 s

p
e

c
if
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
.

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 w
it
h

 b
u

ild
in

g
 c

o
n

s
tr

u
c
ti
o

n
 p

h
a

s
e

.

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

A
d

u
lt
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 i
n

 s
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 a

c
ti
v
e

 r
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
T

h
e

 D
e

p
a

rt
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
C

u
lt
u

re
, 

M
e

d
ia

 a
n

d
 S

p
o

rt
, 

th
ro

u
g

h
 i
ts

 P
u

b
lic

 S
e

rv
ic

e
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
th

re
e

, 

c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y
 t

a
rg

e
ts

 a
 o

n
e

 p
e

r 
c
e

n
t 

y
e

a
r-

o
n

-y
e

a
r 

in
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
. 

 S
c
a

n
d

in
a

v
ia

n
 a

n
d

 

C
a

n
a

d
ia

n
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
 t

h
a

t 
h

a
v
e

 f
o

c
u

s
e

d
 o

n
 t

h
is

 a
re

a
 f

o
r 

a
 l
o

n
g

e
r 

p
e

ri
o

d
 s

u
g

g
e

s
t 

th
is

 i
s
 

e
x
tr

e
m

e
ly

 c
h

a
lle

n
g

in
g

. 
 T

h
e

 s
iz

e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

u
rv

e
y
 s

a
m

p
le

 a
ls

o
 l
e

a
d

s
 t

o
 a

 r
e

la
ti
v
e

ly
 h

ig
h

 c
o

n
fi
d

e
n

c
e

 

le
v
e

l 
o

f 
a

p
p

ro
x
 t

h
re

e
 t

o
 f

o
u

r 
p

e
r 

c
e

n
t 

e
it
h

e
r 

w
a

y
. 

 F
u

rt
h

e
r 

to
 t

h
is

, 
L

e
e

d
s
 h

a
s
 a

 g
ro

w
in

g
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
, 

w
h

ic
h

 m
e

a
n

s
 t

h
e

 o
n

e
 p

e
r 

c
e

n
t 

in
c
re

a
s
e

 w
ill

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

 l
a

rg
e

r 
n

u
m

b
e

rs
 o

f 
p

e
o

p
le

 t
o

 b
e

 a
c
ti
v
e

 t
o

 

a
c
h

ie
v
e

 t
a

rg
e

ts
. 

 T
h

e
re

fo
re

, 
a

 l
o

w
e

r 
ta

rg
e

t 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 s

e
t 

th
a

t 
is

 s
ti
ll 

c
h

a
lle

n
g

in
g

, 
b

u
t 

fe
lt
 

d
e

liv
e

ra
b

le
 b

y
 t

h
e

 S
p

o
rt

 L
e

e
d

s
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
.

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

s
p

o
rt

s
 f

a
c
ili

ty
 t

y
p

e
s
 w

it
h

 a
 s

p
e

c
if
ie

d
 q

u
a

lit
y
 a

s
s
u

re
d

 

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

D
u

ri
n

g
 2

0
0

8
/0

9
, 

th
e

 m
a

jo
ri
ty

 o
f 

w
o

rk
 w

ill
 f

o
c
u

s
 u

p
o

n
 s

u
s
ta

in
in

g
 a

c
c
re

d
it
a

ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

 

v
is

it
s
 a

t 
th

e
 v

a
s
t 

m
a

jo
ri
ty

 o
f 

s
it
e

s
 t

h
a

t 
w

e
re

 p
u

t 
th

ro
u

g
h

 i
n

 2
0

0
7

/0
8

. 
 F

o
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e

 c
o

n
s
o

lid
a

ti
o

n
 

p
e

ri
o

d
 i
n

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

, 
w

h
e

n
 t

w
o

 P
F

I 
s
it
e

s
 w

ill
 c

lo
s
e

 d
o

w
n

 f
o

r 
re

b
u

ild
 a

n
d

 l
o

s
e

 t
h

e
ir
 Q

u
e

s
t 

a
c
c
re

d
it
a

ti
o

n
 (

M
o

rl
e

y
 i
n

 J
u

ly
 0

8
 a

n
d

 A
rm

le
y
 i
n

 J
u

ly
 0

9
),

 i
t 

is
 e

x
p

e
c
te

d
 t

h
a

t 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

s
it
e

s
 w

ill
 b

e
 

a
c
c
re

d
it
e

d
 e

n
s
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 o
v
e

ra
ll 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 a
t 

le
is

u
re

 c
e

n
tr

e
s
 i
n

 L
e

e
d

s
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

s
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

. 
 

T
h

is
 f

a
c
to

rs
 i
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
o

p
e

n
in

g
 o

f 
M

o
rl
e

y
 a

n
d

 A
rm

le
y
 i
n

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 t
h

a
t 

w
ill

 p
ro

v
id

e
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
s
to

c
k
 t

o
 

a
c
c
re

d
it
.

O
v
e
ra
ll
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

In
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 q

u
a

lit
y
 a

s
s
u

ra
n

c
e

 o
f 

s
p

o
rt

 f
a

c
ili

ti
e

s
, 

th
e

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

 t
a

rg
e

t 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
th

a
t 

it
 w

ill
 b

e
 e

x
c
e

e
d

e
d

 b
y
 t

h
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r'
s
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
d

a
te

 o
n

 t
h

e
 3

1
s
t 

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

. 
 I

n
it
ia

l 
d

a
ta

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

 'A
c
ti
v
e

 P
e

o
p

le
' s

u
rv

e
y
 l
o

o
k
s
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 f

o
r 

W
e

s
t 

Y
o

rk
s
h

ir
e

; 
h

o
w

e
v
e

r,
 u

n
ti
l 
d

a
ta

 a
re

 

p
ro

v
id

e
d

 f
o

r 
L

e
e

d
s
 i
t 

is
 d

if
fi
c
u

lt
 t

o
 a

s
s
e

s
s
 w

h
a

t 
is

 a
 l
a

g
 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r.
  

D
e

s
p

it
e

 t
h

is
, 

th
e

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 S

p
o

rt
 L

e
e

d
s
 'T

ra
c
k
e

r'
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 I

n
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
F

u
n

d
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e

 h
a

d
 a

 p
o

s
it
iv

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

u
p

o
n

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
. 

 A
d

d
it
io

n
a

lly
, 

to
ta

l 
u

s
a

g
e

 o
f 

le
is

u
re

 c
e

n
tr

e
s
 h

a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d
 o

v
e

r 
re

c
e

n
t 

y
e

a
rs

. 
 T

h
e

 

c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

d
 w

o
rk

 b
y
 t

h
e

 P
a

rk
s
 a

n
d

 C
o

u
n

tr
y
s
id

e
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 i
n

 i
n

v
e

s
ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 s

p
o

rt
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e

s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 a
g

a
in

 i
m

p
a

c
t 

p
o

s
it
iv

e
ly

 o
n

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
; 

h
o

w
e

v
e

r,
 a

 c
a

p
it
a

l 
g

a
p

 o
f 

£
1

3
m

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 t

o
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

 t
h

e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

'G
re

e
n

 F
la

g
' i

m
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

. 
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
 c

o
n

s
tr

a
in

ts
 s

ti
ll 

p
ro

v
id

e
 c

h
a

lle
n

g
e

s
 a

n
d

 

s
o

m
e

 a
re

a
s
 h

a
v
e

 h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 k

e
y
 r

is
k
s
 t

o
 b

e
 o

v
e

rc
o

m
e

, 
h

e
n

c
e

 t
h

e
 a

m
b

e
r 

ra
ti
n

g
. 

  

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

E
n
a
b
le
 m
o
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 S
P
O
R
T
 a
n
d
 c
u
lt
u
re
 b
y
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 b
e
tt
e
r 
q
u
a
li
ty
 

a
n
d
 w
id
e
r 
ra
n
g
in
g
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
il
it
ie
s
.

M
a
rt
in
 F
a
rr
in
g
to
n

L
e
e
d
s
 C
 C

A
m
b
e
r

C
u
lt
u
re
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 U
p
d
a
te

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

O
v
e
ra
ll
 P
ro
g
re
s
s
 R
a
ti
n
g

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

Page 13



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 2

C
it
y
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

A
c
ti
o

n
 T

ra
c
k
e

rs
 Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
2

 2
0

0
8

-0
9

S
p

o
rt

 O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r,
 P

ri
n

c
ip

a
l 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
S

p
o

rt
 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

O
n

g
o

in
g

S
p

o
rt

s
 O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
s
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r,
 P

ri
n

c
ip

a
l 

O
ff

ic
e

r 
S

p
o

rt
 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

O
n

g
o

in
g

H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 

A
c
ti
v
e

 R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
, 

S
p

o
rt

s
 O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
s
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

3
1

/0
3

/0
9

A
c
ti
n

g
 C

h
ie

f 

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
 O

ff
ic

e
r

2
0

2
0

A
c
ti
n

g
 C

h
ie

f 

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
 O

ff
ic

e
r

2
0

0
9

S
p

o
rt

 C
a

p
it
a

l 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

O
n

g
o

in
g

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

C
it
y
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
it
y
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
it
y
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

C
it
y
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

  
  

C
a

th
e

ri
n

e
 B

la
n

s
h

a
rd

L
e

e
d

s
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 F

o
u

n
d

a
ti
o

n
 T

ru
s
t

C
h

ri
s
 B

u
tl
e

r/
M

ik
e

 D
o

y
le

E
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n
 L

e
e

d
s

S
te

v
e

 S
p

e
a

k
V

C
F

S
 -

 L
e

e
d

s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a

lt
h

 F
o

ru
m

D
a

v
id

 C
o

w
a

n
 /

 J
e

a
n

n
e

tt
e

 M
o

rr
is

-B
o

a
m

P
h

il 
C

ra
b

tr
e

e
R

e
'n

e
w

S
te

v
e

 W
ill

ia
m

s
o

n

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
rs

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
r

D
e

p
u

ty
 D

ir
e

c
to

r 
S

p
o

rt
 E

n
g

la
n

d
J
u

lie
 H

a
n

n
a

n

T
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
c
a

p
it
a

l 
in

v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
, 

th
e

 E
A

S
E

L
 p

ro
je

c
t 

te
a

m
 

h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 c
o

n
ta

c
te

d
 t

o
 h

e
lp

 e
n

s
u

re
 f

it
 f

o
r 

p
u

rp
o

s
e

 l
e

is
u

re
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 a

re
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 E

A
S

E
L

 a
n

d
 A

ir
e

 V
a

lle
y
 r

e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 a

re
a

s
. 

 A
n

 i
n

it
ia

l 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
 

w
ill

 t
a

k
e

 p
la

c
e

 s
o

o
n

.

A
b

ili
ty

 t
o

 f
in

d
 r

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 t

o
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 l
e

is
u

re
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

E
A

S
E

L
 a

re
a

.

R
e

o
rg

a
n

is
e

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 e
n

g
a

g
e

 w
it
h

 E
A

S
E

L
.

P
a

rk
s
 a

n
d

 C
o

u
n

tr
y
s
id

e
 s

it
e

s
 p

ro
v
id

e
 v

e
n

u
e

s
 f

o
r 

p
h

y
s
ic

a
l 
a

c
ti
v
it
y
 a

n
d

 a
c
t 

a
s
 

m
e

e
ti
n

g
 s

p
a

c
e

s
 f

o
r 

in
fo

rm
a

l 
a

n
d

 o
rg

a
n

is
e

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 r

e
c
re

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
. 

 

W
o

rk
 t

o
 r

e
v
is

e
 t

h
e

 p
ro

c
e

s
s
 f

o
r 

th
e

 b
o

o
k
in

g
 a

n
d

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

e
v
e

n
ts

 h
e

ld
 o

n
 

P
a

rk
s
 a

n
d

 G
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e

 i
s
 o

n
g

o
in

g
.

T
h

e
 M

o
o

r 
K

n
o

ll 
p

la
y
 a

re
a

 w
ill

 b
e

 r
e

fu
rb

is
h

e
d

 i
n

 O
c
to

b
e

r 
2

0
0

8
, 

a
 s

tu
d

e
n

t 
g

o
lf
 

s
e

a
s
o

n
 t

ic
k
e

t 
fo

r 
th

e
 f

o
u

r 
g

o
lf
 c

o
u

rs
e

s
 m

a
n

a
g

e
d

 b
y
 L

C
C

 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

c
e

d
, 

a
n

d
 

m
a

n
y
 s

c
h

o
o

ls
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 i
n

v
o

lv
e

d
 i
n

 s
e

e
d

 g
a

th
e

ri
n

g
 e

v
e

n
ts

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 o

f 

th
e

 F
o

re
s
tr

y
 a

n
d

 R
a

n
g

e
r 

S
e

rv
ic

e
.

L
im

it
e

d
 t

a
k
e

-u
p

 o
f 

th
e

 s
tu

d
e

n
t 

s
e

a
s
o

n
 t

ic
k
e

t.

T
h

e
 s

e
e

d
 g

a
th

e
ri
n

g
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

s
 m

u
c
h

 s
ta

ff
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 a

n
d

 s
ta

ff
 a

re
 

a
lr
e

a
d

y
 a

t 
fu

ll 
c
a

p
a

c
it
y
.

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 i
s
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 w

it
h

 s
u

rr
o

u
n

d
in

g
 r

e
s
id

e
n

ts
 r

e
g

a
rd

in
g

 

th
e

 v
a

lu
e

 o
f 

th
e

 M
o

o
r 

K
n

o
ll 

s
it
e

 f
o

r 
fu

rt
h

e
r 

fu
tu

re
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

.

E
x
p

lo
re

 t
h

e
 p

o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 

th
e

 r
a

n
g

e
rs

 t
a

k
in

g
 o

n
 m

o
re

 o
f 

th
e

 

s
e

e
d

 g
a

th
e

ri
n

g
 c

o
-o

rd
in

a
ti
o

n
.

A
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
s
c
h

e
m

e
s
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 u

n
d

e
r 

th
e

 P
a

rk
s
 R

e
n

a
is

s
a

n
c
e

 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
/C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 P

a
rk

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

c
a

p
it
a

l 
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 h
a

v
e

 e
it
h

e
r 

b
e

e
n

 

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 o

r 
a

re
 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
 o

f 
b

e
in

g
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
.

A
 c

a
p

it
a

l 
n

e
e

d
 o

f 
£

1
3

m
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 t

o
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

 t
h

e
 G

re
e

n
 

s
p

a
c
e

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 t

a
rg

e
t 

o
f 

a
ll 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 p

a
rk

s
 t

o
 G

re
e

n
 F

la
g

 

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

 b
y
 2

0
2

0
.

T
h

e
 P

a
rk

s
 R

e
n

a
is

s
a

n
c
e

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 h

a
s
 r

e
d

u
c
e

d
 f

o
r 

2
0

0
9

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

re
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 a

 v
e

ry
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
in

v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
n

e
e

d
.

T
h

e
 P

a
rk

s
 R

e
n

a
is

s
a

n
c
e

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 f

u
n

d
in

g
 h

a
s
 r

e
d

u
c
e

d
 f

o
r 

2
0

0
9

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

re
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 a

 v
e

ry
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
in

v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
n

e
e

d
.

S
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 A

c
ti
v
e

 R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
 d

e
m

o
n

s
tr

a
te

 t
h

e
 q

u
a

lit
y
 o

f 
s
p

o
rt

s
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e

s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

a
c
c
re

d
it
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 t

h
e

 Q
U

E
S

T
 s

c
h

e
m

e
. 

 T
w

e
lv

e
 s

it
e

s
 a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 a

c
c
re

d
it
e

d
 a

n
d

 

th
e

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 i
s
 o

n
 t

ra
c
k
 t

o
 h

it
 i
ts

 2
0

0
8

-0
9

 t
a

rg
e

t.

B
u

d
g

e
t 

to
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 w

id
e

r 
a

c
c
re

d
it
a

ti
o

n
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 a

n
d

 f
in

a
n

c
ia

l 

re
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 t

o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

Q
u

e
s
t 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 i
s
 n

o
t 

w
id

e
s
p

re
a

d
.

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 w
o

rk
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 Q

u
e

s
t 

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

 v
is

it
s
 a

n
d

 

im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
t 

a
c
ti
o

n
s
.

C
u

rr
e

n
tl
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
in

g
 t

h
e

 p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
to

 a
d

d
 t

w
o

 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

s
it
e

s
 p

ri
o

r 
to

 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

.

S
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 A

c
ti
v
e

 R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

s
 t

o
 w

o
rk

 t
o

 r
e

d
u

c
e

 t
h

e
 i
n

e
q

u
a

lit
y
 o

f 

p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 i
n

 s
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 a

c
ti
v
e

 r
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
 b

y
 f

o
c
u

s
in

g
 o

n
 s

p
e

c
if
ic

 t
a

rg
e

t 
g

ro
u

p
s
 

(i
.e

. 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 (
u

n
d

e
r 

1
9

);
 o

ld
e

r 
p

e
o

p
le

 (
6

0
+

);
 d

is
a

b
le

d
 p

e
o

p
le

; 
B

M
E

; 
th

e
 

fi
n

a
n

c
ia

lly
 d

is
a

d
v
a

n
ta

g
e

d
).

  
S

p
o

rt
s
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 s

p
o

rt
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 

a
re

 t
a

s
k
e

d
 w

it
h

 d
e

liv
e

ri
n

g
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 t

h
a

t 
m

e
e

t 
th

e
s
e

 p
ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

ir
 w

o
rk

 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
; 

fo
r 

e
x
a

m
p

le
, 

th
e

 F
ri
d

a
y
 N

ig
h

t 
c
lu

b
 p

ro
je

c
t 

fr
o

m
 S

o
u

th
 L

e
e

d
s
 

L
e

is
u

re
 C

e
n

tr
e

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 e

x
te

n
d

e
d

 t
o

 M
id

d
le

to
n

 L
e

is
u

re
 C

e
n

tr
e

. 
 T

h
is

 t
a

rg
e

ts
 

y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 f
ro

m
 d

e
p

ri
v
e

d
 a

re
a

s
.

Y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

's
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
ff

ic
e

r 
p

o
s
t 

v
a

c
a

n
t 

a
t 

p
re

s
e

n
t.

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 I

n
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
F

u
n

d
 b

id
 f

o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e

o
p

le
's

 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
ff

ic
e

r.

E
ig

h
t 

s
p

o
rt

s
 s

p
e

c
if
ic

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

p
la

n
s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 r
e

v
ie

w
e

d
 a

n
d

 r
e

-l
a

u
n

c
h

e
d

, 

a
n

d
 n

e
w

 a
n

n
u

a
l 
a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 d
ra

w
n

 u
p

. 
 A

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 a

g
re

e
d

 i
n

 A
p

ri
l 

2
0

0
8

 w
it
h

 s
p

o
rt

s
 d

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
ff

ic
e

rs
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 s

p
o

rt
s
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
re

 b
e

in
g

 

d
e

liv
e

re
d

; 
fo

r 
e

x
a

m
p

le
, 

th
e

re
 w

a
s
 a

n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 

ta
k
in

g
 p

a
rt

 i
n

 t
h

e
 D

is
a

b
ili

ty
 T

A
G

 r
u

g
b

y
 f

e
s
ti
v
a

l.
  

T
h

e
 n

e
w

 g
y
m

n
a

s
ti
c
s
 c

o
o

rd
in

a
to

r 

is
 h

e
lp

in
g

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 t
h

e
 q

u
a

lit
y
 a

n
d

 n
u

m
b

e
rs

 t
a

k
in

g
 p

a
rt

 i
n

 l
e

is
u

re
 c

e
n

tr
e

 

g
y
m

n
a

s
ti
c
s
 c

la
s
s
e

s
.

A
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
o

u
td

o
o

r 
s
u

m
m

e
r 

h
o

lid
a

y
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 w

e
re

 c
a

n
c
e

lle
d

 

d
u

e
 t

o
 a

d
v
e

rs
e

 w
e

a
th

e
r 

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
s
, 

w
h

ic
h

 m
a

y
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

a
tt

e
n

d
a

n
c
e

 a
t 

fu
tu

re
 s

c
h

e
m

e
s
.

A
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
v
a

c
a

n
c
ie

s
 e

x
is

t 
o

n
 t

h
e

 s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 w

h
ic

h
 m

a
y
 a

ff
e

c
t 

o
v
e

ra
ll 

p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 d

a
ta

.

C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 m
o

n
it
o

r 
th

e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
 b

y
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

ir
 w

o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t

a
rg

e
ts

.

Page 14



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 2
C

it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
A

c
ti
o
n
 T

ra
c
k
e
rs

 Q
u
a
rt

e
r 

2
 2

0
0
8
-0

9

P
I 
R
e
f

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t

Y
e
a
r 
to
 D
a
te
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

R
A
G
 R
a
ti
n
g

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
li
ty

N
I 
1
8
5

B
a
s
e
lin
e
 t
o
 b
e
 s
e
t 
fr
o
m
 2
0
0
8
 

c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r

T
o
 b
e
 s
e
t 
w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 

b
a
s
e
lin
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

c
a
lc
u
la
te
d

n
/a

n
/a

N
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

T
o
m
 K
n
o
w
la
n
d

R
e
v
is
e
d
 p
o
lic
y
 

a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 e
n
d
 o
f 

y
e
a
r

M
a
rk
 A
llm

a
n

O
n
g
o
in
g

T
o
m
 K
n
o
w
la
n
d

O
n
g
o
in
g

T
o
m
 K
n
o
w
la
n
d

C
o
m
p
le
te
 p
ro
je
c
t 

d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
s
 b
y
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8

H
e
le
n
 F
ra
n
k
lin

O
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 2
0
1
1

R
e
p
la
c
in
g
 8
0
,0
0
0
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ts
 a
c
ro
s
s
 L
e
e
d
s
: 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 J
u
ly
 

m
ile
s
to
n
e
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
n
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 a
s
s
e
t 
w
h
ic
h
 m
in
im
is
e
d
 e
n
e
rg
y
 u
s
e
 w
a
s
 m
e
t,
 

in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 b
y
 e
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
jo
in
te
rs
 h
a
s
 l
e
d
 t
o
 a
 c
o
n
c
e
s
s
io
n
 

re
q
u
e
s
t 
to
 d
e
la
y
 t
h
e
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 m
ile
s
to
n
e
. 
 A
 n
e
w
 e
n
e
rg
y
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t,
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 t
o
 3
1
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
0
, 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
ig
n
e
d
. 

T
h
e
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 (
n
o
w
 e
n
d
e
d
) 
h
a
s
 r
e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a
n
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 

d
e
la
y
 o
f 
tw
o
 m
o
n
th
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 I
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 r
o
ll 
o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
; 
th
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 
d
e
la
y
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
.

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
n
 t
h
e
 l
e
g
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
E
n
e
rg
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

C
o
m
p
a
n
y
 s
te
e
ri
n
g
 g
ro
u
p
 a
re
 n
e
a
rl
y
 c
o
m
p
le
te
. 
 W

e
 a
im
 t
o
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
h
is
 a
t 
a
 p
ro
je
c
t 
le
v
e
l 
e
.g
. 
E
a
s
tg
a
te
. 
A
 c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 h
e
a
t 

a
n
d
 p
o
w
e
r 
p
ro
je
c
t 
c
a
n
 d
e
liv
e
r 
c
h
e
a
p
e
r,
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
h
e
a
t 
a
n
d
 p
o
w
e
r 

to
 n
e
w
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
, 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 c
o
s
ts
 f
o
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 

re
d
u
c
in
g
 c
a
rb
o
n
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 i
ts
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
.

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
c
lim

a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 (
a
n
d
 v
ic
e
 v
e
rs
a
).

In
c
re
a
s
in
g
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
e
s
ig
n
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 

Im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 r
e
v
e
n
u
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t.

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 p
ro
je
c
t 
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s
 f
ro
m
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
.

F
u
tu
re
 E
n
e
rg
y
 Y
o
rk
s
h
ir
e
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
n
g
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

n
e
x
t 
th
re
e
 y
e
a
rs
.

A
 'c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 h
e
a
t 
a
n
d
 p
o
w
e
r'
 p
la
n
t 
is
 o
n
e
 

th
a
t 
u
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
t 
fr
o
m
 p
o
w
e
r 
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

h
e
a
t 
b
u
ild
in
g
s
. 
 W

h
ils
t 
th
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 
s
e
t-
u
p
 c
o
s
ts
 

a
re
 h
ig
h
, 
th
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 o
f 
th
is
 s
y
s
te
m
 

p
ro
v
id
e
s
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

. 
 I
t 
w
o
rk
s
 

b
e
s
t 
w
h
e
n
 s
u
p
p
ly
in
g
 m
ix
e
d
 u
s
e
 n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
, 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 c
o
n
s
ta
n
t 

d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
h
e
a
t 
(e
.g
. 
o
ff
ic
e
s
/c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

v
e
n
u
e
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 d
a
y
, 
a
n
d
 

h
o
te
ls
/r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
s
it
e
s
 a
t 
n
ig
h
t)
.

T
h
e
 e
n
e
rg
y
 g
u
a
rd
ia
n
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 r
a
is
e
 

a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
e
n
e
rg
y
 u
s
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
e
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
o
f 
a
ll 
s
ta
ff
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
it
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
 T
h
e
 a
im
 i
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 e
n
e
rg
y
 u
s
a
g
e
 

a
n
d
 a
s
 a
 c
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
 m
a
k
e
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 i
n
 o
u
r 
g
re
e
n
h
o
u
s
e
 g
a
s
 

e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
m
o
n
e
y
 s
p
e
n
t 
o
n
 f
u
e
l 
b
ill
s
. 
 T
h
e
 

e
n
e
rg
y
 g
u
a
rd
ia
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 j
u
s
t 
b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 

s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 '
E
n
e
rg
y
 A
n
g
e
ls
' 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 l
ib
ra
ry
 s
it
e
. 
 T
h
e
 n
e
w
 G
a
rf
o
rt
h
 

L
ib
ra
ry
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 w
it
h
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
k
e
y
 g
re
e
n
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
.

A
s
 w
it
h
 a
n
y
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 g
ro
u
p
, 
it
 i
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
to
 k
e
e
p
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
; 
if
 t
h
is
 d
o
e
s
n
't
 h
a
p
p
e
n
, 
th
e
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 

w
ill
 b
e
 l
im
it
e
d
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
a
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
rs
.

T
h
e
 C
a
rb
o
n
 T
ru
s
t 
h
a
s
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 p
a
y
in
g
 5
0
%
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
e
 

c
o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 E
n
e
rg
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 l
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
 

e
s
ta
te
. 
 A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 L
C
C
's
 E
n
e
rg
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
U
n
it
. 
 

C
o
s
t 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 u
ti
lit
ie
s
 r
e
m
a
in
 a
 m
a
jo
r 
c
o
s
t 
p
re
s
s
u
re
. 
 T
h
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 

s
o
m
e
 l
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 m
e
a
n
 t
h
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 
ra
n
k
 f
a
v
o
u
ra
b
ly
 i
n
 

te
rm

s
 o
f 
e
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
. 
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
's
te
p
 c
h
a
n
g
e
' i
n
 t
h
is
 

a
re
a
 a
re
 n
o
t 
e
x
te
n
s
iv
e
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 e
n
e
rg
y
 u
s
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
c
ti
o
n
 a
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
.

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 a
n
d
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 E
M
A
S
 g
ro
u
p
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
, 

a
n
d
 a
n
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
P
o
lic
y
 d
ra
ft
e
d
. 
 S
e
v
e
n
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
w
 

b
e
e
n
 a
c
c
re
d
it
e
d
 t
o
 E
M
A
S
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
.

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 r
e
ta
in
 E
M
A
S
 a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 g
ro
u
p
s

C
O
2
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 u
s
e
d
 a
s
 b
o
th
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
in
g
 y
e
a
r,
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

re
m
a
in
in
g
 t
w
o
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 D
a
ta
 a
re
 c
o
lla
te
d
 f
ro
m
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il,
 a
n
d
 

e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 f
ro
m
 o
u
ts
o
u
rc
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 w
h
e
re
v
e
r 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 
 B
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 

n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 a
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
-m

a
p
p
in
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
, 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 b
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 h
a
lf
 o
f 
2
0
0
8
-0
9
. 
 B
a
s
e
lin
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
Q
2
 a
re
 c
o
m
p
le
te
; 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 

th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
c
o
m
p
a
re
s
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o
n
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
b
a
s
is
, 
it
 i
s
 n
o
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 d
ra
w
 a
n
y
 c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
s
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
s
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 (
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w
ill
 l
ik
e
ly
 f
lu
c
tu
a
te
 f
ro
m
 s
e
a
s
o
n
 t
o
 s
e
a
s
o
n
).

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

O
v
e
ra
ll
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s

O
v
e
ra
ll 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 m
a
d
e
; 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 i
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
c
o
lle
c
ti
n
g
 d
a
ta
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 c
a
n
 b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 m
o
re
 a
c
c
u
ra
te
ly
 n
e
x
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r.
  
W
o
rk
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 d
e
fi
n
e
 n
e
w
 s
o
ft
w
a
re
 t
o
 g
iv
e
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 e
n
e
rg
y
 c
o
n
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
, 

w
h
ic
h
 a
llo
w
s
 f
o
r 
ta
rg
e
t 
s
e
tt
in
g
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
id
e
. 
 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 c
a
rb
o
n
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s
, 
fr
o
m
 u
s
in
g
 s
ta
ff
 a
s
 'e
n
e
rg
y
 g
u
a
rd
ia
n
s
', 
to
 b
e
in
g
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 h
e
a
t 
a
n
d
 p
o
w
e
r 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
; 
fr
o
m
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
v
e
l 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
s
ta
ff
, 
to
 l
a
u
n
c
h
in
g
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
lim

a
te
 C
h
a
rt
e
r 
(f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 o
n
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
),
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
lim

a
te
 P
le
d
g
e
 (
a
im
e
d
 a
t 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
).

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

R
e
d
u
c
e
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 f
ro
m
 p
u
b
li
c
 s
e
c
to
r 
b
u
il
d
in
g
s
, 
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

d
e
li
v
e
ry
 a
n
d
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 o
th
e
rs
 t
o
 d
o
 s
o

P
a
u
l 
B
ro
o
k

L
e
e
d
s
 C
 C

A
m
b
e
r

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

E
N
V
-1
b

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

O
v
e
ra
ll
 P
ro
g
re
s
s
 R
a
ti
n
g

Page 15



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

T
o
m
 K
n
o
w
la
n
d

O
n
g
o
in
g

J
o
n
 A
n
d
re
w
s

A
n
n
u
a
l 
e
v
e
n
t

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 T
ru
s
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

J
o
h
n
 K
e
a
rs
le
y

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

J
u
li
e
 M
e
a
k
in

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

D
y
la
n
 R
o
b
e
rt
s

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

L
e
g
a
l 
&
 D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

  
  

M
a
rt
in
 F
a
rr
in
g
to
n

W
a
y
n
e
 B
a
x
te
r

P
a
u
l 
S
te
p
h
e
n
s

L
e
e
d
s
 C
o
ll
e
g
e
s

C
a
ro
ly
n
 W
ri
g
h
t

C
a
th
e
ri
n
e
 B
la
n
s
h
a
rd

S
te
v
e
 S
p
e
a
k

W
e
s
t 
Y
o
rk
s
h
ir
e
 F
ir
e
 &
 R
e
s
c
u
e

M
ic
k
 S
m
it
h

G
a
ry
 B
a
rt
le
tt

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
tl
e
r/
M
ik
e
 D
o
y
le

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
rs

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
r

P
h
il
 C
ra
b
tr
e
e

V
C
F
S

J
o
h
n
 P
re
s
to
n
/J
o
h
n
 H
o
ll
a
n
d

T
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
lim

a
te
 C
h
a
n
g
e
 P
le
d
g
e
 i
s
 a
n
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
, 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
e
ir
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
to
 

re
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
ir
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 c
lim

a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e
. 
 T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 r
e
c
e
n
tl
y
 

la
u
n
c
h
e
d
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 w
e
b
s
it
e
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 

s
ig
n
e
d
 t
h
e
 p
le
d
g
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
o
n
ta
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 w
it
h
 p
ra
c
ti
c
a
l 

ti
p
s
 o
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
(f
o
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
ti
p
s
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
, 
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 m
o
d
e
s
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 e
tc
).

 T
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
lim

a
te
 C
h
a
rt
e
r 
is
 a
 s
im
ila
r 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
, 
b
u
t 
is
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 

c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
s
/o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
h
o
 w
a
n
t 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
ir
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 e
x
a
m
in
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 b
u
ild
in
g
/f
le
e
t 
e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 e
tc
.

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 E
U
 f
o
r 
s
o
m
e
 c
lim

a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 e
v
e
n
ts

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 b
o
th
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 b
y
 l
in
k
in
g
 v
ia
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
' 

w
e
b
s
it
e
s
.

F
o
llo
w
-u
p
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
w
it
h
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 p
le
d
g
e
d
 t
o
 d
o
 

s
o
m
e
th
in
g
, 
to
 o
ff
e
r 
p
ra
c
ti
c
a
l 
ti
p
s
 o
n
 h
o
w
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
ir
 p
le
d
g
e
(s
).

In
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 'O

n
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
th
e
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

T
ra
v
e
l 
P
la
n
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 h
a
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 m
o
v
in
g
 a
w
a
y
 f
ro
m
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
-b
a
s
e
d
 t
ra
v
e
l 
p
la
n
s
 t
o
 a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 T
ra
v
e
l 

P
la
n
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
w
it
h
 s
it
e
 t
ra
v
e
l 
p
la
n
s
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 f
ro
m
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
. 
 T
h
e
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
v
e
l 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
, 
w
it
h
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 t
o
 r
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
a
llo
c
a
te
 c
a
r 

p
a
rk
in
g
 p
e
rm

it
s
, 
a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
c
a
s
u
a
l/
e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
r 
u
s
e
r 
s
ta
tu
s
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 n
e
e
d
, 
p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 r
o
ll 
o
u
t 
th
e
 W

h
iz
z
G
o
 

c
a
r 
c
lu
b
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
ly
, 
a
n
d
 a
n
 a
s
s
is
te
d
 b
ik
e
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
.

C
o
m
p
le
te
 p
o
s
t 
re
le
a
s
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
p
o
s
t.

N
/A

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

Page 16



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

L
N
-1
a

P
I 
R
e
f

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t

Y
e
a
r 
to
 D
a
te
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

R
A
G
 R
a
ti
n
g

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
li
ty

N
I-
1
6
3
 -
 L
S
P
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

A
g
re
e
d

7
0
.6
%

(2
0
0
6
)

7
3
.0
%

A
m
b
e
r

N
o
 d
a
ta
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s

N
I-
1
6
4
 -
 L
S
P
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

A
g
re
e
d

5
0
.5
%

(2
0
0
6
)

5
3
.0
%

A
m
b
e
r

N
o
 d
a
ta
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

A
n
n
e
 C
ra
v
e
n

O
n
g
o
in
g

D
ia
n
a
 T
o
w
le
r

O
n
g
o
in
g

M
a
n
d
y
 C
ra
w
fo
rd
-L
e
e

2
0
1
0

M
a
n
d
y
 C
ra
w
fo
rd
-L
e
e

O
n
g
o
in
g

N
o
tw
it
h
s
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 S
k
ill
s
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
fu
n
d
in
g
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 w
ill
 g
iv
e
 e
x
tr
a
 

in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
to
 t
a
c
k
le
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 n
o
t 
in
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
tr
a
in
in
g
 (
N
E
E
T
).
  
T
h
is
 i
s
 i
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
h
 i
n
je
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
£
1
 m
ill
io
n
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 N
E
E
T
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
. 

T
a
rg
e
ts
 n
o
t 
m
e
t 
d
e
s
p
it
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
.

U
s
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
t 
le
a
s
t 
8
2
%
 o
f 
1
8
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s
 w
ill
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
o
f 
fi
v
e
 g
o
o
d
 G
C
S
E
s
 (
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
to
 a
 f
u
ll 

le
v
e
l 
tw
o
) 
a
n
d
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
5
4
%
 a
tt
a
in
 t
h
e
 e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
o
f 
tw
o
 A
-l
e
v
e
ls
 

(f
u
ll 
le
v
e
l 
th
re
e
).

E
x
tr
a
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
m
a
ll 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 t
ra
in
 t
h
e
ir
 s
ta
ff
, 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
o
f 
T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
 r
is
in
g
 b
y
 1
6
%
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
. 
 A
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
s
u
m
 o
f 

in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 b
e
tt
e
r 
c
o
-o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

s
m
a
ll 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
a
ls
o
 o
u
tl
in
e
s
 

a
n
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
d
u
lt
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 f
ix
e
d
 o
n
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
fu
ll 
le
v
e
l 
tw
o
 a
n
d
 f
u
ll 
le
v
e
l 
th
re
e
.

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
 o
n
 s
k
ill
s
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 r
e
s
o
lu
te
 w
it
h
 a
 d
e
te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
 

to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P
S
A
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 r
e
la
te
s
 t
o
, 
in
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
ri
n
g
 8
0
%
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 

2
0
1
0
.

J
o
b
c
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
 i
s
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
S
C
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 m
o
v
in
g
 i
n
to
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 T
ra
in
 t
o
 

G
a
in
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
.

L
o
n
e
 p
a
re
n
ts
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 L
S
C
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 u
p
 t
o
 N
V
Q
 

L
e
v
e
l 
2
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 L
e
v
e
l 
A
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
o
lle
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 J
o
b
c
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
. 
 T
h
is
 e
n
a
b
le
s
 J
o
b
c
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
 t
o
 

fu
n
d
 c
h
ild
c
a
re
 c
o
s
ts
, 
tr
a
v
e
l 
e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
 w
e
e
k
ly
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
re
m
iu
m
 t
o
 

lo
n
e
 p
a
re
n
ts
 o
f 
£
1
5
.0
0
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
. 
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
N
V
Q
 L
e
v
e
ls
 2
 a
n
d
 3
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 N
e
x
t 
S
te
p
s
 s
u
b
-c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
rs
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
, 

A
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
in
 J
o
b
c
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
 s
it
e
s
.

T
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 C
a
ll 
C
e
n
tr
e
 R
o
u
te
w
a
y
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 S
k
ill
s
 B
o
a
rd
. 
 

T
h
e
 L
S
C
 i
s
 d
ri
v
in
g
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
h
e
 m
e
rg
e
r 
o
f 
th
re
e
 c
o
lle
g
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
 

T
h
e
 m
e
rg
e
r 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 D
a
n
b
y
, 
L
e
e
d
s
 C
o
lle
g
e
 o
f 

T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 P
a
rk
 L
a
n
e
 C
o
lle
g
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 &
 K
e
ig
h
le
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 a
ll 
th
re
e
 i
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 S
e
c
re
ta
ry
 o
f 
S
ta
te
. 
T
h
e
 

m
e
rg
e
r 
w
ill
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 c
h
o
ic
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
tu
d
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 c
le
a
re
r 
th
a
n
 e
v
e
r 
b
e
fo
re
 a
n
d
 a
v
o
id
 c
o
n
fu
s
in
g
 d
u
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
; 
it
 

w
ill
 a
ls
o
 r
a
is
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
le
v
e
ls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
, 
o
ff
e
r 
m
o
re
 c
o
u
rs
e
s
 t
o
 s
u
it
 

th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 f
ro
m
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
le
a
v
e
rs
 t
o
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs
, 
a
n
d
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 

th
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
th
e
 b
e
s
t 
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
tr
y

C
h
a
n
g
e
 o
n
 t
h
is
 s
c
a
le
 m
a
y
 c
a
u
s
e
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
s
 u
n
ti
l 
th
e
 n
e
w
 's
in
g
le
' 

e
n
ti
ty
 i
s
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 m
e
rg
e
r.

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
9
-6
4
 f
o
r 
m
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 

1
9
-5
9
 f
o
r 
fe
m
a
le
s
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
2
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r.

T
h
e
 2
0
0
7
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 N
I 
1
6
3
 a
n
d
 1
6
4
 s
h
o
w
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
d
e
c
lin
e
, 
p
ro
b
a
b
ly
 c
a
u
s
e
d
 b
y
 h
ig
h
e
r 

re
c
o
rd
e
d
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 f
o
r 
th
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
, 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 a
 d
e
c
lin
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
A
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
, 
th
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 

P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
9
-6
4
 f
o
r 
m
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 

1
9
-5
9
 f
o
r 
fe
m
a
le
s
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r

S
e
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
t 
a
b
o
v
e

O
v
e
ra
ll
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

T
h
e
 l
a
te
s
t 
c
o
m
p
a
ra
ti
v
e
 d
a
ta
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 a
 f
a
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 a
d
u
lt
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
t 
b
o
th
 L
e
v
e
l 
2
 a
n
d
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
 F
a
c
to
rs
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 i
n
 t
h
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
a
n
 b
e
 v
ie
w
e
d
 a
s
 a
 r
is
k
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 P
S
A
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 L
A
A
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 T
h
is
 i
s
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 'a
m
b
e
r'
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
a
ti
n
g
; 
it
 i
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 r
a
ti
n
g
 w
ill
 m
o
v
e
 t
o
 r
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
re
v
ie
w
, 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
, 
m
a
d
e
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 
a
re
 k
n
o
w
n
.

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 s
k
il
l 
le
v
e
l 
o
f 
th
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 t
o
 f
u
lf
il
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l.

P
a
u
l 
S
te
p
h
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 A
n
n
e
 C
ra
v
e
n
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 

S
k
il
ls
 C
o
u
n
c
il

L
e
e
d
s
 C
 C

A
m
b
e
r

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 U
p
d
a
te

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

O
v
e
ra
ll
 P
ro
g
re
s
s
 R
a
ti
n
g

Page 17



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

M
a
n
d
y
 C
ra
w
fo
rd
-L
e
e

M
a
n
d
y
 C
ra
w
fo
rd
-L
e
e

A
n
n
 D
a
y

O
n
g
o
in
g

G
a
ry
 W

ill
ia
m
s
o
n
 

O
n
g
o
in
g

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 L
e
e
d
s

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
o
m
m
e
rc
e

  
  

V
C
F
S

R
ic
h
a
rd
 N
o
rt
o
n
/R
ic
h
a
rd
 R
o
b
s
o
n

C
a
th
e
ri
n
e
 B
la
n
s
h
a
rd

J
o
b
 C
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s

Ia
n
 H
u
n
te
r/
D
ia
n
a
 T
o
w
le
r

S
te
p
h
e
n
 B
o
y
le

L
e
e
d
s
 C
o
lle
g
e
s

C
a
ro
ly
n
 W

ri
g
h
t

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
rs

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
r

C
h
ri
s
 E
d
w
a
rd
s

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 S
k
ill
s
 C
o
u
n
c
il

A
n
n
e
 C
ra
v
e
n

L
e
e
d
s
 S
k
ill
s
 b
o
a
rd
 i
s
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 S
k
ill
s
 p
le
d
g
e
 -
 i
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

to
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
h
a
m
b
e
r 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
. 
A
 m
a
jo
r 
e
v
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 w
it
h
 m
in
is
te
ri
a
l 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e

E
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
ta
k
e
 u
p
.

T
h
e
 L
ib
ra
ry
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
s
 t
h
is
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
, 
A
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 i
n
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s
, 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
1
:1
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
, 
ta
ilo
re
d
 t
o
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
n
e
e
d
s
. 
 

A
 l
a
rg
e
 e
v
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 t
h
e
 T
o
w
n
 H
a
ll 
to
 c
e
le
b
ra
te
 A
d
u
lt
 L
e
a
rn
e
rs
 

w
e
e
k
, 
w
it
h
 s
m
a
lle
r 
e
v
e
n
ts
 b
e
in
g
 h
e
ld
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 w
e
e
k
.

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
: 
1
:1
 s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 t
im
e
 i
n
te
n
s
iv
e
 a
n
d
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
a
s
e
d
 l
e
a
rn
e
rs
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
re
a
t.
 T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 r
o
le
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 c
a
n
 p
la
y
. 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 o
f 
lib
ra
ri
e
s
 a
s
 a
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 l
e
a
rn
.

R
a
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
s
k
ill
s
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 f
ro
m
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 

n
o
w
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l.
  
E
x
te
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 S
k
ill
s
 

B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 h
a
s
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
ll 

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
g
iv
e
n
 t
h
e
 s
lo
w
in
g
 d
o
w
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
h
re
a
t 
to
 

re
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

re
-s
k
ill
in
g
 a
n
d
 u
p
-s
k
ill
in
g
.

S
lo
w
in
g
 d
o
w
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
.

T
h
re
a
t 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 r
e
-s
k
ill
in
g
 a
n
d
 u
p
-s
k
ill
in
g
.

R
a
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
s
k
ill
s
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 f
ro
m
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
.

E
x
te
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 S
k
ill
s
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 

o
f 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
.

T
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
e
s
ta
b
lis
h
in
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
io
n
 r
o
u
te
s
 c
a
n
 n
o
t 
b
e
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
te
d
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
 I
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
£
8
3
0
,0
0
0
 i
n
 S
k
ill
s
 f
o
r 
J
o
b
s
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
re
-e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 S
e
c
to
r 
R
o
u
te
w
a
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 w
o
rt
h
 o
v
e
r 
£
2
.3
 m
ill
io
n
 o
f 
s
k
ill
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

a
t 
e
n
tr
y
-l
e
v
e
l 
o
n
e
 a
n
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
tw
o
, 
w
ill
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
l 

le
a
rn
in
g
. 
 S
im
ila
rl
y
, 
L
e
e
d
s
 C
o
lle
g
e
 o
f 
B
u
ild
in
g
 i
s
 u
s
in
g
 a
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

£
2
3
0
,0
0
0
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
 p
re
-e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 w
it
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 S
k
ill
s
 f
o
r 
L
if
e
 a
n
d
 

v
o
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
k
ill
s
 a
t 
le
v
e
ls
 o
n
e
 a
n
d
 t
w
o
.

In
c
re
a
s
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
l 
le
a
rn
in
g
 b
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
re
-

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t.

E
n
g
a
g
e
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
 p
re
-e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

w
o
rk
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
.

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

Page 18



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

T
R
-1
a

P
I 
R
e
f

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t

Y
e
a
r 
to
 D
a
te
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

R
A
G
 R
a
ti
n
g

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
li
ty

N
I 
1
6
7
 -
 L
S
P
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

A
g
re
e
d

2
2
2
 s
e
c
o
n
d
s
 (
3
m
 4
2
s
e
c
s
) 
- 

2
0
0
5

2
3
4
 s
e
c
o
n
d
s
 (
3
m
 

5
4
s
e
c
s
)

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

N
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s

L
S
P
-T
R
1
a
 -
 L
S
P
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

7
2
8
 

(2
0
0
7
)

7
8
0

(2
0
0
8
)

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

N
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

A
n
d
re
w
 M
o
ly
n
e
u
x

M
a
r-
0
9

H
o
w
a
rd
 C
la
x
to
n

O
n
g
o
in
g

F
a
iz
a
l 
M
a
m
u
je
e

O
n
g
o
in
g

F
a
iz
a
l 
M
a
m
u
je
e

O
n
g
o
in
g

P
e
te
r 
G
o
d
fr
e
y
 

(H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
)

S
te
v
e
 F
a
lc
o
n
e
r

M
a
r-
0
9

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
tr
e
n
d
 f
o
r 
h
a
rd
e
n
in
g
 

v
e
rg
e
s
 o
n
ly
 a
s
 a
 l
a
s
t 
re
s
o
rt
. 
 L
e
e
d
s
 f
o
llo
w
s
 

th
is
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
.

H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 u
s
e
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 f
it
 

fo
r 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 l
o
n
g
 l
if
e
; 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
ts
 a
re
 u
s
e
d
 

fo
r 
ro
a
d
s
 i
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
s
ta
te
s
 o
f 
d
is
re
p
a
ir
, 
a
n
d
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
. 
 T
h
e
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 i
s
 e
n
s
u
re
d
 b
y
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
d
e
s
ig
n
 b
ri
e
fs
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 r
o
a
d
s
 o
n
 a
 c
a
s
e
 b
y
 c
a
s
e
 b
a
s
is
, 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 m
o
s
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
) 
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
is
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 

m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 s
tr
u
c
tu
ra
l 
in
te
g
ri
ty
 o
f 
e
a
c
h
 r
o
a
d
.

W
o
rk
 t
o
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
 u
p
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
y
 u
p
o
n
 p
ri
v
a
te
 

v
e
h
ic
le
s
 a
n
d
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 w
a
lk
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
y
c
lin
g
 i
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
, 
a
n
d
 a
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 p
a
rt
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 D
e
s
ig
n
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

M
o
u
c
h
e
ls
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
.

U
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 o
f 
a
ll 
ro
a
d
 u
s
e
rs
 w
it
h
in
 a
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 T
im
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w
h
ic
h
 

s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
.

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 p
a
rt
y
.

V
e
rg
e
 h
a
rd
e
n
in
g
 (
w
it
h
 i
m
p
e
rv
io
u
s
 m
a
te
ri
a
ls
) 
is
 s
tr
o
n
g
ly
 r
e
s
is
te
d
 

a
n
d
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 s
o
lu
ti
o
n
s
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
fo
r 
p
a
rk
in
g
. 
T
ri
a
ls
 a
re
 o
n
 g
o
in
g
 

w
it
h
 p
e
rv
io
u
s
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
ts
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
w
a
te
r 
ru
n
-o
ff
 

o
n
to
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
.

D
is
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 w
h
o
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
p
a
rk
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 v
e
rg
e
 

o
u
ts
id
e
 t
h
e
ir
 h
o
m
e
s
.

In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
's
 d
ra
in
a
g
e
 s
y
s
te
m
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 i
n
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 l
ik
e
lih
o
o
d
 o
f 
fl
o
o
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 r
o
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
h
e
 t
ri
a
ls
 u
s
in
g
 n
e
w
 m
a
te
ri
a
ls
, 
a
n
d
 s
e
e
k
in
g
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
s
 

to
 h
a
rd
e
n
in
g
 v
e
rg
e
s
 (
u
s
in
g
 p
o
ro
u
s
 m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 o
n
 a
n
d
 b
e
n
e
a
th
 t
h
e
 

s
u
rf
a
c
e
).

 S
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 r
e
lia
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 D
e
s
ig
n
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

S
ti
ll 
a
w
a
it
in
g
 c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 F
in
a
n
c
e
 a
s
 t
o
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
fu
n
d
in
g
 w
ill
 b
e
 

m
a
d
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 t
h
e
 's
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
' p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

R
e
fu
rb
is
h
 t
h
e
 U
T
M
C
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
ro
o
m
 -
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
o
 P
C
s
, 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

to
 t
h
e
 r
o
o
m
's
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 e
tc
.

R
is
k
s
 o
n
 o
u
r 
ro
u
te
s
 a
re
 o
n
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
 o
r 
u
n
p
la
n
n
e
d
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
, 
w
h
ic
h
 

c
a
n
 h
a
v
e
 a
 l
a
rg
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
.

A
 d
ra
ft
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 a
n
d
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 s
e
n
t 
to
 G
O
Y
H
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 a
 c
le
a
r 
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
d
u
ty
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 i
t 
is
 a
p
p
lie
d
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 o
n
g
o
in
g
.

A
w
a
it
in
g
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 G
O
Y
H
. 
W
o
rs
t 
c
a
s
e
 s
c
e
n
a
ri
o
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
th
is
 i
s
 u
n
lik
e
ly
.

T
h
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
a
 m
o
d
e
rn
, 
w
e
ll 
c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 s
ig
n
a
l 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 i
s
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
 t
o
o
l 
U
T
M
C
 e
m
p
lo
y
s
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
te
 a
 

s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
y
s
te
m
. 
 T
h
e
 t
ra
ff
ic
 s
ig
n
a
l 

's
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
' 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
  
is
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
 r
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 m
o
re
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
ig
n
a
ls
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
 A
 b
id
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 F
in
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 r
e
fu
rb
is
h
 t
h
e
 U
T
M
C
 

c
o
n
tr
o
l 
ro
o
m
.

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 U
p
d
a
te

T
h
e
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 h
a
v
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 t
h
e
ir
 d
a
ta
 s
u
p
p
lie
rs
, 
s
o
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
is
 N
I 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

re
v
is
e
d
. 
 N
e
w
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
, 
e
n
a
b
lin
g
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
th
re
e
 y
e
a
rs
 t
o
 b
e
 

re
v
is
e
d
 a
n
d
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
.

S
te
a
d
y
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
/i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 j
o
in
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
o
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 &
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 r
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
ri
n
g
 i
n
 C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 b
ri
n
g
 a
b
o
u
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. C
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 –
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 j
o
u
rn
e
y
 t
im
e
 p
e
r 
m
ile
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 m
o
rn
in
g
 p
e
a
k

P
ro
g
re
s
s

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

T
h
e
 H
A
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 

to
 W

Y
 L
T
P
  
ta
rg
e
ts
, 
a
n
d
 o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 

th
e
 C
it
y
 V
is
io
n
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

th
is
 t
a
rg
e
t.

T
h
e
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 d
e
ta
ils
 h
o
w
 

th
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 m
a
n
a
g
e
s
 r
o
a
d
w
o
rk
s
, 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
, 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
d
is
ru
p
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
ra
ff
ic
 f
lo
w
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 m
in
im
a
l.

D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 t
o
o
ls
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 t
o
 b
ri
n
g
 i
n
to
 p
la
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
s
e
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
.

T
h
e
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 h
a
s
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
P
S
A
 t
a
rg
e
t 
o
n
 J
o
u
rn
e
y
 R
e
lia
b
ili
ty
. 
 

O
u
r 
ta
rg
e
t 
la
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
w
a
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 v
e
h
ic
le
 d
e
la
y
 o
n
 

th
e
 1
0
%
 s
lo
w
e
s
t 
jo
u
rn
e
y
s
. 
 W

h
ils
t 
th
is
 w
a
s
 m
is
s
e
d
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
, 
o
n
 

th
e
 r
o
u
te
s
 i
n
 Y
&
H
 w
e
 m
e
t 
th
is
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  
T
h
is
 y
e
a
r 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
is
 

re
la
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
 w
e
 m
a
k
e
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 r
e
lia
b
ili
ty
; 
in
 Y
&
H
 

w
e
 a
re
 m
a
k
in
g
 g
o
o
d
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
n
 t
h
is
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 G
O
Y
H
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
.

O
v
e
ra
ll
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

G
a
ry
 B
a
rt
le
tt

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n

C
y
c
le
 T
ri
p
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
rn
in
g
 

p
e
a
k
 p
e
ri
o
d
 (
0
7
3
0
-0
9
3
0
).

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

O
v
e
ra
ll
 P
ro
g
re
s
s
 R
a
ti
n
g

A
M
B
E
R

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

D
e
li
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 f
a
c
il
it
a
te
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
a
n
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

s
y
s
te
m
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
y
c
li
n
g
 a
n
d
 w
a
lk
in
g

L
e
e
d
s
 C
 C

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r

Page 19



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

P
ro
g
re
s
s

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

G
e
o
ff
 J
o
n
e
s

 6
 t
o
 1
8
 m
o
n
th
s

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

  
  

P
h
il 
C
ra
b
tr
e
e

G
ra
p
h
ic
 d
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 m
a
p
p
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 Y
&
H
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
S
p
a
ti
a
l 
E
v
id
e
n
c
e
 B
a
s
e
, 
N
a
tu
ra
l 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 G
re
e
n
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 

S
tu
d
y
, 
G
re
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 A
u
d
it
, 
C
lim

a
te
 C
h
a
n
g
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
E
M
A
S
, 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
C
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
U
n
it
 (
C
G
M
).
  

W
o
rk
 o
n
 a
 3
D
 c
o
m
p
u
te
r 
m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 
th
e
 c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ta
l 

s
ta
g
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 c
h
ie
f 
o
ff
ic
e
r 
b
u
y
-i
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
.

H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y

P
e
te
r 
G
o
d
fr
e
y

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
r

J
o
h
n
 P
re
s
to
n
/J
o
n
 H
o
lla
n
d

J
e
ff
 E
n
g
lis
h

S
te
v
e
 S
p
e
a
k

P
a
u
l 
S
te
p
h
e
n
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
rs

M
e
tr
o

V
o
lu
n
ta
ry
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 F
a
it
h
 S
e
c
to
rW
o
rk
 p
la
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 I
C
T
 B
R
M
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
fi
rm

 s
c
o
p
e
 o
f 
3
D
 m
o
d
e
l.

S
e
c
u
ri
n
g
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 f
o
r 
a
 3
D
 m
o
d
e
l.

Page 20



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

T
R
-1
b

P
I 
R
e
f

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t

Y
e
a
r 
to
 D
a
te
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

R
A
G
 R
a
ti
n
g

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
li
ty

L
S
P
-T
R
1
b
(i
) 
- 

L
S
P
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

7
8
,5
4
8
,4
4
4

(2
0
0
7
)

N
o
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

s
e
t

A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
g
re
e
d
 o
n
c
e
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 s
e
t

L
S
P
-T
R
1
b
(i
i)
 -
 

L
S
P
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

4
2
.3
0
%

(2
0
0
4
)

4
4
.3
0
%

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

N
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

R
o
y
 C
o
e
llo

R
o
y
 C
o
e
llo

S
te
v
e
 F
a
lc
o
n
e
r

M
a
rk
 B
u
rg
e
s
s
/ 
N
ig
e
l 

L
e
e
s

O
n
g
o
in
g

R
o
y
 C
o
e
llo

S
te
v
e
 F
a
lc
o
n
e
r

P
e
te
r 
G
o
d
fr
e
y
  

(H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
)

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
ta
ff
 t
o
 k
e
y
 p
o
s
ts
 t
o
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 A
6
4
 E
a
s
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 

Q
B
I.

W
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 M
E
T
R
O
 w
e
 c
a
n
 n
o
w
 p
ro
v
id
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 

fo
r 
p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 a
s
 w
e
 h
a
v
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
 n
e
w
 b
u
s
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 s
o
ft
w
a
re
 s
y
s
te
m
.

n
/a
 -
 a
c
ti
o
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
.

n
/a
 -
 a
c
ti
o
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
.

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
.

A
d
d
re
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
.

V
a
c
a
n
t 
p
o
s
ts
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 A
6
4
 E
a
s
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 Q
B
I.

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
- 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 o
n
 I
n
fl
u
e
n
c
in
g
 T
ra
v
e
lle
rs
 

B
e
h
a
v
io
u
r.
  
R
e
g
u
la
r 
'S
tr
a
te
g
ic
' m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
.

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 N
e
w
 G
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

ti
m
e
ta
b
le
.

A
d
d
re
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 f
ro
m
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
, 
a
n
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
.

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

D
a
ta
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
ro
m
 M
e
tr
o
. 
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 i
n
te
rv
a
ls
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
a
ta
 

w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
. 
O
n
c
e
 t
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
d
 d
a
ta
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 a
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 i
n
te
rv
a
ls
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 b
a
s
e
 y
e
a
r.

G
o
o
d
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
 o
n
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fr
o
n
ts
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 b
u
s
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
je
c
ts
, 
b
u
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 w
it
h
 M
e
tr
o
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
s
ta
ff
.

O
v
e
ra
ll
 P
ro
g
re
s
s
 R
a
ti
n
g

A
M
B
E
R

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

Im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
, 
u
s
e
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
il
it
y
 o
f 
p
u
b
li
c
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
.

L
e
e
d
s
 C
 C

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r

L
o
c
a
l 
b
u
s
 p
a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 
jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 o
ri
g
in
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 

th
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

N
o
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 h
a
s
 y
e
t 
ta
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
ro
u
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 

d
e
s
ig
n
 i
n
p
u
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B
u
s
 R
a
p
id
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
.

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 m
a
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.

P
u
b
lic
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 m
a
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
u
p
o
n
 A
6
5
 Q
B
I 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

A
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
P
u
d
s
e
y
 B
u
s
 S
ta
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 

b
e
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r.
  
T
h
is
 f
o
rm
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

th
e
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 t
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
tr
ic
t 
c
e
n
tr
e
s
.

T
h
e
 b
u
s
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 Y
o
rk
s
h
ir
e
 B
u
s
 r
o
u
te
 4
 (
u
s
in
g
 S
P
R
U
C
E
),
 

a
n
d
 B
u
rl
e
y
 R
o
a
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 b
u
s
 r
o
u
te
, 
h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 T
h
e
 

A
6
4
 E
a
s
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 B
u
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 h
a
s
 n
o
t 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 

a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
o
s
t 
v
a
c
a
n
c
ie
s
.P
ro
g
re
s
s

A
6
5
 a
n
d
 D
e
w
s
b
u
ry
 R
o
a
d
 p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 a
re
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 a
s
 a
re
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
b
u
s
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 

p
ro
je
c
ts
.

T
h
e
 H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 h
a
s
 s
ta
ff
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 t
o
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 o
n
 I
n
fl
u
e
n
c
in
g
 T
ra
v
e
lle
rs
 B
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
a
n
d
 a
re
 

e
x
c
e
e
d
in
g
 a
ll 
o
u
t 
in
te
rn
a
l 
ta
rg
e
ts
. 
 W
e
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 h
e
a
v
ily
 o
n
 

v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 p
la
n
s
 o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 m
a
jo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
it
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

re
g
io
n
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
o
a
d
 n
e
tw
o
rk
. 
 T
h
e
 D
ft
 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 d
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 n
o
w
 h
a
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 s
o
ft
e
r 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 a
t 
th
e
 f
ro
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 
w
it
h
 h
a
rd
 m
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 n
o
w
 

o
n
ly
 a
llo
w
e
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re
s
o
rt
.

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 w
ill
 l
im
it
 o
u
r 
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 o
th
e
rs
 o
n
 t
h
is
 t
a
rg
e
t.

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 U
p
d
a
te

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
.

O
v
e
ra
ll
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

G
a
ry
 B
a
rt
le
tt

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
o
n
-c
a
r 
jo
u
rn
e
y
s
 i
n
to
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 

L
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
rn
in
g
 p
e
a
k
 p
e
ri
o
d

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

W
o
rk
 o
n
 D
e
w
s
b
u
ry
 R
o
a
d
 (
T
o
m
m
y
 W
a
s
s
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
) 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 b
u
s
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
s
 p
ro
c
e
e
d
in
g
 t
o
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
. 
 T
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 A
6
5
 

Q
u
a
lit
y
 B
u
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
le
c
te
d
 a
n
d
 a
 p
u
b
lic
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 i
s
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 
O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
.

Page 21



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

P
ro
g
re
s
s

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

H
o
w
a
rd
 C
la
x
to
n

O
n
g
o
in
g

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 
(p
o
s
t 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 v
a
c
a
n
t)

O
n
g
o
in
g

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

  
  

W
o
rk
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
 u
p
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
ff
ic
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 r
o
a
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 

a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 u
s
e
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
.

T
im
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w
h
ic
h
 

s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
.

C
o
n
fl
ic
ti
n
g
 d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 o
f 
a
ll 
ro
a
d
 u
s
e
rs
 w
it
h
in
 a
 s
c
h
e
m
e
.

W
o
rk
in
g
 p
a
rt
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 D
e
s
ig
n
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 M
o
u
c
h
e
ls
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
.

H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y

M
e
tr
o

T
h
e
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 t
ra
v
e
l 
p
la
n
 c
o
n
ta
in
s
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
v
e
l 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
. 
 O
n
c
e
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
p
o
s
t 

o
c
c
u
rs
, 
a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
tr
a
v
e
l 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
a
is
e
d
.

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 e
ff
e
c
t 
o
f 
c
lim
a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

fu
tu
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 v
ic
e
 v
e
rs
a
.

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
- 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
e
s
ig
n
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 

e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
.

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
tl
e
r/
M
ik
e
 D
o
y
le

C
o
m
p
le
te
 p
o
s
t 
re
le
a
s
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
p
o
s
t.

L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 T
ru
s
t

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
r

J
e
ff
 E
n
g
lis
h

P
e
te
r 
G
o
d
fr
e
y

P
a
u
l 
S
te
p
h
e
n
s

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
rs

S
te
v
e
 S
p
e
a
k

P
h
il 
C
ra
b
tr
e
e

Page 22



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

T
R
-1
c

P
I 
R
e
f

B
a
s
e
li
n
e

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t

Y
e
a
r 
to
 D
a
te
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

R
A
G
 R
a
ti
n
g

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
li
ty

N
I 
1
6
9
 -
 L
S
P
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

A
g
re
e
d

1
2
%

(2
0
0
7
/0
8
)

1
1
%

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

N
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

Ia
n
 M
o
o
re
 

M
a
r-
0
9

A
n
d
re
w
 M
o
ly
n
e
u
x

A
n
d
re
w
 M
o
ly
n
e
u
x

A
n
d
re
w
 M
o
ly
n
e
u
x

A
p
r-
0
9

A
n
d
re
w
 M
o
ly
n
e
u
x

M
a
r-
0
9

A
n
d
re
w
 M
o
ly
n
e
u
x

C
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 c
o
re
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
h
ig
h
w
a
y
 a
n
d
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
rs
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 

(w
a
te
r,
 g
a
s
 a
n
d
 e
le
c
tr
ic
it
y
 b
o
a
rd
s
) 
ta
k
e
s
 p
la
c
e
, 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
 

lo
g
ic
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 a
re
a
s
. 
 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 s
o
m
e
 

m
in
o
r 
c
la
s
h
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
.

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 l
e
a
d
s
 t
o
 m
u
lt
ip
le
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
in
g
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 

o
u
t 
in
 i
llo
g
ic
a
l 
w
a
y
s
 (
e
g
 n
e
w
ly
-l
a
id
 p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
in
g
 d
u
g
 u
p
).

C
lo
s
e
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
.

T
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 s
tr
e
e
ts
 i
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

to
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 T
ra
ff
ic
 S
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 S
tr
e
e
ts
 (
T
S
S
) 
is
 n
o
w
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
.

T
S
S
 n
o
t 
b
e
in
g
 u
s
e
d
 c
o
u
ld
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 s
e
v
e
re
 t
ra
ff
ic
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 o
n
 L
e
e
d
s
' 

ro
a
d
s
 w
h
e
n
 w
o
rk
 i
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t.

E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 T
S
S
 i
s
 u
s
e
d
 w
h
e
n
 u
ti
lit
y
 c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 

m
a
jo
r 
w
o
rk
.

T
ra
ff
ic
 S
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 S
tr
e
e
ts
' a
re
 k
e
y
 r
o
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 

ju
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
to
 t
h
e
 s
m
o
o
th
 f
lo
w
 

o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
 A
n
y
 w
o
rk
 o
r 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

th
a
t 
o
c
c
u
r 
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 s
it
e
s
 m
a
y
 c
a
u
s
e
 s
e
v
e
re
 

tr
a
ff
ic
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
, 
s
o
 w
o
rk
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 c
a
re
fu
lly
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
s
e
 k
e
y
 p
o
in
ts
.

A
ll 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
 a
re
 n
o
w
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
 S
tr
e
e
t 
W
o
rk
s
 R
e
g
is
te
r,
 w
h
ic
h
 h
e
lp
s
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
 

w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 d
e
la
y
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
. 
 P
la
n
n
e
d
 w
o
rk
s
 c
o
-

o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 c
h
e
c
k
s
 a
re
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
. 
 A
ll 
w
o
rk
s
 c
h
e
c
k
s
 a
re
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 d
a
ily
.

A
 l
a
c
k
 o
f 
c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
tr
e
e
t 
w
o
rk
s
 w
ill
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
ly
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

c
it
iz
e
n
s
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
te
a
d
y
 f
lo
w
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
.

T
h
e
 H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

d
e
ta
ils
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 r
o
a
d
 'a
s
s
e
ts
' -
 l
e
n
g
th
 o
f 

th
e
 n
e
tw
o
rk
, 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
ig
n
s
, 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

ro
a
d
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 e
tc
.

A
 d
ra
ft
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 a
n
d
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 s
e
n
t 
to
 G
O
Y
H
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 a
 c
le
a
r 
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
d
u
ty
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 i
t 
is
 a
p
p
lie
d
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
. 
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 o
n
g
o
in
g
.

A
w
a
it
in
g
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f
ro
m
 G
O
Y
H
. 
W
o
rs
t 
c
a
s
e
 s
c
e
n
a
ri
o
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
th
is
 i
s
 u
n
lik
e
ly
.

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 G
O
Y
H
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
.

T
h
e
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 d
e
ta
ils
 h
o
w
 

th
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 m
a
n
a
g
e
s
 r
o
a
d
w
o
rk
s
, 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
, 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
d
is
ru
p
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
ra
ff
ic
 f
lo
w
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 m
in
im
a
l.

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 U
p
d
a
te

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

O
v
e
ra
ll
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

G
a
ry
 B
a
rt
le
tt

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

P
ro
g
re
s
s

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts

N
o
n
-p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
c
la
s
s
if
ie
d
 r
o
a
d
s
 w
h
e
re
 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
r 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 b
a
c
k
lo
g
 o
f 

s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
t 
re
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ts
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 S
tr
e
e
t 
W
o
rk
s
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
to
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
 w
o
rk
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
.

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 H
A
M
P
, 
s
u
b
m
it
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 r
o
ll-
o
u
t 
w
h
e
n
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
.

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 D
ra
ft
 H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 d
e
la
y
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
A
M
P
 i
s
 n
o
t 
s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 s
lip
 b
y
 6
 m
o
n
th
 t
o
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9
. 

D
e
la
y
 p
re
s
e
n
ts
 n
o
 i
m
m
e
d
ia
te
 r
is
k
.

8
0
,0
0
0
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 c
o
lu
m
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
p
la
c
e
d
 b
y
 2
0
1
1
, 
a
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
a
s
 s
lo
w
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 s
u
m
m
e
r 
b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 

in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
te
d
 t
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 t
h
e
 

lig
h
ts
. 
 T
h
is
 a
c
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 e
n
d
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 

th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 t
w
o
-m

o
n
th
 b
a
c
k
lo
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
le
a
re
d
. 
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ts
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 w
o
rk
in
g
 i
s
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 b
e
lo
w
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
r 
to
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
.

R
e
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
a
c
k
lo
g
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
.

E
n
e
rg
y
 c
o
s
ts
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
is
e
, 
im
p
a
c
ti
n
g
 o
n
 f
u
tu
re
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
s
.

G
o
o
d
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 l
a
te
s
t 
m
ile
s
to
n
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 S
tr
e
e
t 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g
 P
F
I 
P
ro
je
c
t 
w
a
s
 m
e
t.
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 r
e
m
a
in
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty
; 
fu
tu
re
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
s
 a
re
 a
 

m
a
jo
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 o
n
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
.

O
v
e
ra
ll
 P
ro
g
re
s
s
 R
a
ti
n
g

A
M
B
E
R

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ri
o
ri
ty

Im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
e
e
ts
 a
n
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 b
y
 c
a
rr
y
in
g
 o
u
t 

a
 m
a
jo
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
.

L
e
e
d
s
 C
 C

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r

Page 23



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 T
ra
c
k
e
rs
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 

O
ff
ic
e
r

T
im
e
s
c
a
le

O
th
e
r 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

K
e
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
s

R
is
k
 /
 C
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
s

P
ro
g
re
s
s

F
a
iz
a
l 
M
a
m
u
je
e

O
n
g
o
in
g

F
a
iz
a
l 
M
a
m
u
je
e

O
n
g
o
in
g

S
te
v
e
 F
a
lc
o
n
e
r

M
a
r-
0
9

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

T
h
e
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
0
8
-0
9
 w
a
s
 s
h
a
re
d
 (
in
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
) 
w
it
h
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
p
a
ri
s
h
 c
o
u
n
c
ils
, 
A
L
M
O
s
 a
n
d
 

a
re
a
 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 a
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 w
e
re
 

ta
k
e
n
 o
n
 b
o
a
rd
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 
fo
r 

a
 M
a
rc
h
 0
9
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
.

A
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 c
o
s
ts
.

C
lo
s
e
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
.

T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 2
0
0
9
-1
0
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r'
s
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
e
s
.

T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m
a
in
ta
in
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
s
tr
e
e
ts
 

a
n
d
 f
o
o
tw
a
y
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
 i
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 u
n
ti
l 
2
0
1
3
 

a
n
d
 b
e
y
o
n
d
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
.

B
u
d
g
e
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
s
 l
im
it
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
b
u
d
g
e
t 

d
u
e
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 c
o
s
ts
.

L
e
e
d
s
 C
C
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
rs

P
a
u
l 
S
te
p
h
e
n
s

S
te
v
e
 S
p
e
a
k

P
h
il 
C
ra
b
tr
e
e

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
to
ry
 O
ff
ic
e
r

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
h
e
 r
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 s
ig
n
a
ls
.

T
h
e
 t
ra
ff
ic
 s
ig
n
a
l 
's
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
' p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
 

re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 m
o
re
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
ig
n
a
ls
 i
s
 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 a
s
 f
in
a
n
c
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
c
u
re
d
.

B
u
d
g
e
ta
ry
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r
e
m
a
in
 a
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
.

Page 24



Action Tracker Guidance 

Introduction 

 

The ‘Action Trackers’ are prepared on a half yearly basis and are intended to give an organisational ‘snapshot’ view 

of the progress against the city’s top level priorities as set out in the Leeds Strategic Plan and Council Business Plan.  

They provide a broader range of information and progress than is provided in the performance indicator results alone.  

Each improvement priority within the Leeds Strategic Plan and Council Business Plan has been allocated to a Lead 

Officer whose role is to provide leadership, co-ordinate the activities of contributing officers/partners and evaluate 

the performance information to ensure the delivery of the improvement priority.  An action tracker has been 

completed for every improvement priority by the Lead Officer who has provided an overall evaluation of progress to 

date.  Please see below a brief summary of the information that has been provided in each of the sections of the 

action tracker template. 

 

 

Overall Progress Rating The Lead Officer provides an overall traffic light rating on the progress to date based on all 

the information provided in the completed action tracker including the results for the aligned 

performance indicators.  The criteria for this traffic light is as follows: 

 

Green = Progressing as expected  

Amber = Minor delays or issues to address  

Red = Significant delays or issues to address  

 

Overall assessment of 

progress 
In this section the Lead Officer provides an overall summary analysis of the progress to date - 

taking a view based on all the information provided in the completed action tracker including 

the results for the aligned performance indicators.  This section should provide an 

explanation for the overall traffic light rating. 

Contributory 

Officers/partners 

This part of the action tracker sets out who else is contributing to the delivery of the 

improvement priority and where relevant these officers/partners also appear in the main body 

against specific actions/activities. 

Performance Indicator 

Information 
In this section the results for the aligned performance indicators for this improvement priority 

are presented including the target and are traffic lighted both the result itself and for data 

quality.  Brief commentary is also provided to highlight any issues or important information 

relating to the indicator.   

NB this only shows the indicators which are directly aligned but additional performance 

information is presented in appendix 2. 

Improvement priority 

progress to date 

Risk / Challenges 

Key actions 

Contributory officer 

Timescale 

Other information 

This is the main body of the action tracker and sets out the key actions/activities which are 

underway and contribute to the delivery of the overall improvement priority.  For each 

action/activity a set of information is provided that includes any risks or challenges to delivery, 

the key actions which are due to take place over the next 6 months, who the contributory 

officer/partner is and highlights where any other more detailed information can be found.  

This section could not possibly include all activities and Lead Officers have been asked to 

provide a strategic overview through including the main activities only and signposting further 

sources of information where relevant. 

 

 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
T
y
p
e

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv
ic
e

F
re
q
u
e
n
c
y
 &
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

R
is
e
 o
r 

F
a
ll

B
a
s
e
lin
e

L
a
s
t 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

T
a
rg
e
t

Q
tr
1

Q
tr
2

P
re
d
ic
te
d
 

F
u
ll 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

D
a
ta
 

Q
u
a
lit
y

N
I 
1
8
8

P
la
n
n
in
g
 t
o
 a
d
a
p
t 
to
 c
lim

a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

L
e
v
e
l

R
is
e

0
N
.A
.

1
0

0
1

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
S
P
-E
E
1
A

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
5
5
0
 n
e
w
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 b
y
 2
0
1
1

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

1
2
,7
5
1

N
.A
.

1
2
,9
3
4

1
2
,9
1
0

1
2
,8
4
6

1
2
,9
3
4

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
S
P
-

C
U
1
A
(I
)

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
v
is
it
s
 t
o
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s

L
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 a
n
d
 

In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

4
,1
8
1
,9
2
3

N
.A
.

4
,1
1
1
,2
9
7

1
,0
4
2
,4
1
9

2
,1
0
2
,2
3
6

4
,1
3
6
,3
0
8

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
S
P
-

C
U
1
A
(I
I)

V
is
it
s
 t
o
 M
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 G
a
lle
ri
e
s
: 
 T
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
is
it
s
 t
o
 M
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 

G
a
lle
ri
e
s
.

M
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 

G
a
lle
ri
e
s

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

3
8
4
,3
4
6

N
.A
.

7
4
0
,0
0
0

2
0
9
,5
6
5

4
5
9
,0
2
8

7
8
2
,6
7
6

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
S
P
-T
P
1
E

In
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
e
w
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 o
n
 

lo
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
s
 a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 c
re
d
it
 u
n
io
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
s
a
v
in
g
s
, 
lo
a
n
s
 a
n
d
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ts
)

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 P
o
lic
y
Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

6
,7
0
0

N
.A
.

6
,7
0
0

1
,6
0
9

3
,0
2
8

6
,7
0
0

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

N
I 
1
5
7
 -
 

M
A
J
O
R
S

P
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
s
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
M
a
jo
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 t
y
p
e
s

P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

%

R
is
e

6
3
%

6
3
.4
9
%

6
5
%

7
5
%

7
8
.1
3
%

6
5
%

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
e
e
d
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n
 -
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

L
e
e
d
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n
 -
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

L
e
e
d
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n
 -
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

L
e
e
d
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n
 -
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

L
e
e
d
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n
 -
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
g
re
e
d

4

T
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
it
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 (
k
e
e
p
e
rs
) 
a
n
d
 n
e
w
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 o
u
r 
re
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 a
 v
e
ry
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 o
n
 s
it
e
s
 -
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
, 
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

ta
k
e
 u
p
 o
f 
e
v
e
n
ts
, 
a
 g
re
a
te
r 
fo
c
u
s
 o
n
 c
re
a
ti
n
g
 o
ff
e
rs
 f
o
r 
th
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
p
u
b
lic
 a
n
d
 l
in
k
in
g
 i
n
to
 o
th
e
r 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
c
ro
s
s
-s
it
e
 v
is
it
in
g
.

T
h
e
 p
o
o
r 
w
e
a
th
e
r 
d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r,
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 t
h
e
 f
lo
o
d
s
, 
c
a
u
s
e
d
 t
h
e
 c
lo
s
u
re
 o
f 
s
o
m
e
 o
f 
o
u
r 
s
it
e
s
. 
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 p
e
ri
o
d
 t
h
is
 y
e
a
r 
is
 h
ig
h
e
r,
 p
a
rt
ly
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
re
 h
a
s
 

n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 a
 r
e
p
e
a
t 
o
f 
la
s
t 
y
e
a
r'
s
 w
e
a
th
e
r-
re
la
te
d
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
, 
b
u
t 
a
ls
o
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 k
e
e
p
e
rs
.

T
h
e
 C
it
y
 A
rt
 G
a
lle
ry
 w
a
s
 c
lo
s
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r;
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
v
is
it
s
 i
n
 t
h
is
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
re
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
p
e
ri
o
d
s
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 a
re
 s
e
t 
to
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
it
h
 a
 

c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 a
n
d
 h
ig
h
 p
ro
fi
le
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 e
x
h
ib
it
io
n
s
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

2

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
ta
rg
e
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 t
u
rn
d
o
w
n
 i
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
, 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 a
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
n
u
m
b
e
r 
in
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
. 
If
 t
h
is
 t
re
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
, 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
m
a
y
 n
o
t 
b
e
 m
e
t.

3

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 c
o
u
n
ti
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 i
s
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 t
h
a
t 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s
 o
f 
p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
v
is
it
s
 w
e
re
 t
o
o
 l
o
w
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
d
 v
is
it
o
r 
fi
g
u
re
s
 w
ill
 n
o
w
 a
lm
o
s
t 
c
e
rt
a
in
ly
 c
o
u
n
te
ra
c
t 
th
e
 l
o
s
s
 o
f 
v
is
it
o
rs
 f
ro
m
 M
o
o
r 

A
lle
rt
o
n
 (
re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t)
 a
n
d
 G
a
rf
o
rt
h
 (
re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
),
 w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 t
o
 b
e
 c
lo
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
fo
u
rt
e
e
n
 w
e
e
k
s
 a
n
d
 f
iv
e
 m
o
n
th
s
 r
e
s
p
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
.

5

T
h
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 f
o
r 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
a
re
 c
a
lc
u
la
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
it
y
 C
re
d
it
 U
n
io
n
's
 r
e
c
o
rd
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
n
e
w
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
h
o
 a
re
 o
n
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
lo
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
s
 i
s
 

th
a
t 
u
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
W
o
rk
 a
n
d
 P
e
n
s
io
n
s
. 
 T
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 a
re
 s
a
v
in
g
s
, 
lo
a
n
s
, 
a
n
d
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
c
c
o
u
n
ts
. 
 I
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
rs
 o
n
e
 (
1
,6
0
9
) 
a
n
d
 t
w
o
 (
1
,4
1
9
),
 3
,0
2
8
 a
c
c
o
u
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 o
p
e
n
e
d
.

1

N
I 
1
8
8
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 L
S
P
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 l
ik
e
ly
 s
h
o
rt
, 
m
e
d
iu
m
 a
n
d
 l
o
n
g
-t
e
rm
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 c
lim

a
te
 a
n
d
 h
a
v
e
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 

re
d
u
c
e
 r
is
k
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
 a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
 T
a
rg
e
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
t 
to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
1
 i
n
 0
8
/0
9
; 
le
v
e
l 
2
 i
n
 0
9
/1
0
 a
n
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
3
 i
n
 1
0
/1
1
 (
fr
o
m
 a
 s
c
a
le
 o
f 
0
-4
).
  
E
a
c
h
 l
e
v
e
l 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 b
ro
k
e
n
 d
o
w
n
 

in
to
 a
 s
e
ri
e
s
 o
f 
ta
s
k
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
.

T
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r,
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 p
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
(t
h
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
a
s
k
 f
o
r 
le
v
e
l 
0
) 
a
n
d
 a
 s
e
m
in
a
r 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
2
4
th
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 o
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
a
s
k
s
 f
o
r 
le
v
e
l 
1
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 o
th
e
r 
o
n
e
. 
T
h
e
re
fo
re
, 
w
e
 r
e
m
a
in
 o
n
 t
ra
c
k
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
le
v
e
l 
1
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 b
y
 e
n
d
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
.

L
e
e
d
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
la
n
 -
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

A
g
re
e
d

L
e
e
d
s
 C
it
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
t 
h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t's
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
  
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
re
 m
e
t 
w
h
ils
t 
a
t 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 t
im
e
, 
e
n
a
b
lin
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 c
it
y
. 
 T
h
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
la
rg
e
 s
c
a
le
 m
a
jo
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
m
o
v
e
s
 t
h
o
s
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
h
e
re
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 f
ro
m
 t
h
is
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
. 
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 h
ig
h
 i
n
 t
h
is
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
a
s
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
u
t-
o
f-
ti
m
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 l
o
w
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 d
e
c
re
a
s
e
 a
s
 t
h
e
 b
a
c
k
lo
g
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
.

6Page 27



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
T
y
p
e

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv
ic
e

F
re
q
u
e
n
c
y
 &
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

R
is
e
 o
r 

F
a
ll

B
a
s
e
lin
e

L
a
s
t 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

T
a
rg
e
t

Q
tr
1

Q
tr
2

P
re
d
ic
te
d
 

F
u
ll 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

D
a
ta
 

Q
u
a
lit
y

N
I 
1
5
7
 -
 

M
IN
O
R
S

P
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
s
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
M
in
o
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 t
y
p
e
s

P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

%

R
is
e

6
5
%

7
8
.1
5
%

6
5
%

8
1
.5
3
%

7
7
.6
1
%

7
5
%

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

N
I 
1
5
7
 -
 

O
T
H
E
R
S

P
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
s
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
O
th
e
r 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 t
y
p
e
s

P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

%

R
is
e

8
0
%

8
6
.4
7
%

8
0
%

8
8
.0
7
%

8
8
.0
4
%

8
5
%

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

N
I 
1
5
1

O
v
e
ra
ll 
E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 (
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
)

P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 P
o
lic
y

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

%

R
is
e

7
5
.8
%

N
.A
.

N
.A
.

7
3
.9
%

7
4
.4
%

7
4
.4
%

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
E
G
I1

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
5
5
0
 n
e
w
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 b
y
 2
0
1
1
, 
w
it
h
 t
w
o
 t
h
ir
d
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

lo
c
a
l 
re
s
id
e
n
ts

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
6
 M
o
n
th
ly

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

0
N
.A
.

1
3
8

3
2

7
6

1
5
2

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
E
G
I2

T
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
6
5
0
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 

d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 s
u
rv
iv
e
 

a
n
d
 g
ro
w
 b
y
 2
0
1
0

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
6
 M
o
n
th
ly

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

0
N
.A
.

1
6
3

1
1
3

3
3
8

6
7
6

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
E
G
I3

T
o
 a
tt
ra
c
t 
7
5
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 

re
lo
c
a
te
 t
o
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 

b
y
 2
0
1
0

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
6
 M
o
n
th
ly

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

0
N
.A
.

1
9

1
1
0

2
0

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
E
G
I4
i

T
o
 c
re
a
te
 1
,1
0
0
 j
o
b
s
 a
n
d
 m
o
v
e
 8
0
0
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 i
n
to
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
s
e
lf
-

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t.
  
P
a
rt
 i
: 
T
o
 c
re
a
te
 1
,1
0
0
 j
o
b
s

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
6
 M
o
n
th
ly

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

0
N
.A
.

2
7
5

2
0

1
1
9

2
3
8

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

1
2

1
3

F
o
rt
y
-f
o
u
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 w
e
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 i
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
tw
o
. 
 T
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
s
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
in
g
 a
 n
e
w
 p
ro
je
c
t 
ta
rg
e
ti
n
g
 j
o
b
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 d
e
liv
e
ry
; 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 i
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 g
ro
w
th
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
in
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 i
s
 n
o
t 
e
n
ti
re
ly
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
's
 c
o
n
tr
o
l.

T
w
o
 h
u
n
d
re
d
 a
n
d
 t
w
e
n
ty
-f
iv
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 w
e
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 i
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
tw
o
. 
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 o
u
r 
ta
rg
e
t 
a
re
a
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
te
re
s
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 o
n
 o
ff
e
r,
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
O
ff
ic
e
rs
 

a
re
 h
a
v
in
g
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 i
n
 r
e
fe
rr
in
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
.

N
in
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 w
e
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
lo
c
a
te
 t
o
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
tw
o
. 
 I
n
w
a
rd
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
in
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
re
a
s
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 d
ri
v
e
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
p
a
c
e
 i
n
 e
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 

a
re
a
s
. 
 T
h
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 m
a
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 h
a
lf
 o
f 
2
0
0
8
-0
9
 w
ill
 b
e
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
.

N
in
e
ty
-n
in
e
 j
o
b
s
 w
e
re
 c
re
a
te
d
 i
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
tw
o
. 
 J
o
b
 g
ro
w
th
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
th
a
t 
is
 m
o
s
t 
s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim

a
te
. 
 A
 n
e
w
 p
ro
je
c
t 
te
a
m
, 
th
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 G
ro
w
th
 F
u
n
d
, 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 i
n
c
e
n
ti
v
is
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
g
ro
w
th
; 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 j
o
b
 l
o
s
s
e
s
 a
re
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 e
a
rl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 y
e
a
r.

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

1
0

1
1

8

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

In
d
ic
a
to
r

O
v
e
ra
ll 
E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
: 
T
h
is
 i
s
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 (
1
6
-5
9
 f
o
r 
fe
m
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 1
6
-6
4
 f
o
r 
m
a
le
s
) 
w
h
o
 a
re
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 I
n
te
rn
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
L
a
b
o
u
r 
D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 (
IL
O
 

D
e
fi
n
it
io
n
).
 T
h
e
 d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 A
n
n
u
a
l 
P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
, 
a
n
d
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
s
s
e
d
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 F
o
r 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 N
O
M
IS
 w
e
b
s
it
e
. 
T
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
 f
o
r 
q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 r
e
la
te
s
 t
o
 

th
e
 l
a
te
s
t 
A
P
S
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
v
e
rs
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 t
o
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
.

T
h
e
 A
P
S
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
a
s
is
. 
 T
h
e
 A
P
S
 i
s
 a
 c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 s
u
rv
e
y
 o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 G
re
a
t 
B
ri
ta
in
, 
th
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 s
a
m
p
le
 s
iz
e
 f
o
r 
L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 2
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
.

B
e
tw
e
e
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 a
n
d
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 t
h
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 w
a
s
 7
4
.4
%
. 
T
h
is
 w
a
s
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
7
4
.5
%
, 
a
n
d
 h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
fi
g
u
re
 o
f 
7
3
.7
%
. 
T
h
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 f
o
r 

L
e
e
d
s
 a
re
1
%
 l
o
w
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 7
5
.4
%
 w
h
ic
h
 r
e
la
te
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
to
 t
h
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 
(A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
6
 t
o
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
).
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 a
re
 d
e
ri
v
e
d
 f
ro
m
 s
a
m
p
le
 

s
u
rv
e
y
s
 :
 w
e
 c
a
n
 b
e
 9
5
%
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
th
e
 t
ru
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 f
ig
u
re
 i
n
 b
o
th
 c
a
s
e
s
 i
s
 +
 o
r 
- 
2
.2
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 p
o
in
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 q
u
o
te
d
 f
ig
u
re
s
.

L
e
e
d
s
 C
it
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
rg
e
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
t 
to
 m
a
tc
h
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t's
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 w
e
 a
re
 p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  
W
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
c
e
n
tr
a
te
 o
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
n
g
 t
o
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 f
u
ll 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 o
n
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
.

T
a
rg
e
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 s
e
t 
to
 m
a
tc
h
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t's
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
  
ta
rg
e
ts
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
a
rg
e
t.
  
T
h
e
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
 c
o
n
c
e
rt
e
d
 e
ff
o
rt
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
o
u
t-
o
f-
ti
m
e
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 l
e
d
 t
o
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
2
5
%
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
n
in
e
 m
o
n
th
s
.

97 Page 28



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
T
y
p
e

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv
ic
e

F
re
q
u
e
n
c
y
 &
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

R
is
e
 o
r 

F
a
ll

B
a
s
e
lin
e

L
a
s
t 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

T
a
rg
e
t

Q
tr
1

Q
tr
2

P
re
d
ic
te
d
 

F
u
ll 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

D
a
ta
 

Q
u
a
lit
y

L
E
G
I4
ii

T
o
 c
re
a
te
 1
,1
0
0
 j
o
b
s
 a
n
d
 m
o
v
e
 8
0
0
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 i
n
to
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
s
e
lf
-

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t.
  
P
a
rt
 i
i:
 M
o
v
e
 8
0
0
 p
e
o
p
le
 

fr
o
m
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 i
n
to
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
s
e
lf
-e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
6
 M
o
n
th
ly

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

0
N
.A
.

2
0
0

4
0

9
8

1
9
6

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

B
V
-1
7
0
C

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 v
is
it
in
g
 m
u
s
e
u
m
s
 

a
n
d
 g
a
lle
ri
e
s
 i
n
 o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
g
ro
u
p
s

M
u
s
e
u
m
s
 a
n
d
 

G
a
lle
ri
e
s

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

2
3
,9
3
9

2
3
,9
3
9

2
9
,9
2
3

8
,6
5
6

1
4
,3
2
6

3
7
,0
4
8

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

C
P
-C
U
5
0
B

V
is
it
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 c
u
lt
u
ra
l 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

- 
S
p
o
rt
 &
 A
c
ti
v
e
 R
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n

S
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 A
c
ti
v
e
 

R
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

N
u
m
b
e
r

R
is
e

4
,3
6
6
,0
6
5

4
,3
6
6
,0
6
8

4
,1
5
9
,0
0
0

1
,1
3
7
,7
6
0

2
,1
8
3
,4
3
2

4
,1
5
9
,0
0
0

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
K
I 
C
D
 

H
W
0
4

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 p
o
in
ts
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

th
e
 c
it
y
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t

S
tr
e
e
t 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g

M
o
n
th
ly

%

R
is
e

9
8
.5
0
%

N
.A
.

9
8
.5
0
%

9
8
.2
1
%

9
7
.8
7
%

9
8
.0
4
%

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

L
K
I 
2
1
5
A

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

re
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 f
a
u
lt
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty

S
tr
e
e
t 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

D
a
y
s

F
a
ll

N
.A
.

6
.0
4
 d
a
y
s

5
 d
a
y
s

5
.2
5
 d
a
y
s

4
.9
6
 d
a
y
s

5
.4
3
 d
a
y
s

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

1
6

1
7

1
8

1
5

1
4

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

F
if
ty
-e
ig
h
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
e
re
 m
o
v
e
d
 i
n
to
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t/
s
e
lf
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
in
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
tw
o
. 
 L
ik
e
ly
 j
o
b
 l
o
s
s
e
s
 m
a
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
h
a
lf
 o
f 
2
0
0
8
-0
9
 a
re
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
.

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
`l
ig
h
ti
n
g
 p
o
in
ts
' (
la
m
p
p
o
s
ts
, 
ill
u
m
in
a
te
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 s
ig
n
s
, 
b
e
a
c
o
n
s
, 
ill
u
m
in
a
te
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 b
o
lla
rd
s
 a
n
d
 t
u
n
n
e
l 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 p
o
in
ts
 (
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 t
u
n
n
e
ls
))
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 `
in
-

lig
h
t',
 o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
. 
 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 1
1
4
,0
0
0
 l
ig
h
ti
n
g
 p
o
in
ts
 a
c
ro
s
s
 L
e
e
d
s
, 
a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
m
a
in
s
 s
tr
o
n
g
, 
w
it
h
 9
7
.8
7
 p
e
r 
c
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
s
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
.

D
a
ta
 f
o
r 
th
is
 a
re
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 S
o
u
th
e
rn
 E
le
c
tr
ic
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ti
n
g
, 
w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 2
5
-y
e
a
r 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 i
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 L
e
e
d
s
.

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 a
c
tu
a
ls
 f
o
r 
la
s
t 
y
e
a
r.
 T
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 S
it
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 (
K
e
e
p
e
rs
) 
a
n
d
 n
e
w
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 O
ff
ic
e
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 o
u
r 
re
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 a
 v
e
ry
 b
e
n
e
fi
c
ia
l 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 s
it
e
s
 -
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
, 
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 a
ll 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
d
.

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

T
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 0
8
/0
9
 f
o
r 
q
u
a
rt
e
r 
tw
o
 w
a
s
 6
.4
6
%
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
rr
e
s
p
o
n
d
in
g
 p
e
ri
o
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r.
 M
o
s
t 
s
it
e
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 A
q
u
a
ti
c
s
 C
e
n
tr
e
 i
s
 b
e
c
o
m
in
g
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
.

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 m
o
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
ig
h
t 
d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
is
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
e
a
s
o
n
a
l 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
(l
ig
h
te
r 
n
ig
h
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

s
u
m
m
e
r 
m
o
n
th
s
).
 Y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
s
 f
o
re
c
a
s
t 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 s
c
o
re
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
, 
a
n
d
 i
s
 o
n
ly
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
re
 c
it
y
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
5
.1
8
 d
a
y
s
.

C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
b
le
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
a
c
k
lo
g
 o
f 
c
o
lu
m
n
 k
n
o
c
k
d
o
w
n
s
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
d
u
e
 t
o
 a
 m
o
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 n
ig
h
t 
p
a
tr
o
l 
b
e
in
g
 i
n
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
e
fe
c
ts
 h
a
s
 s
te
a
d
ily
 r
is
e
n
 o
v
e
r 

th
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
r.
 T
o
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
 t
h
is
, 
S
E
C
 a
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
ig
h
t 
s
h
if
t 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 p
a
tr
o
ls
 t
o
 d
o
 r
e
p
a
ir
s
 a
s
 t
h
e
y
 f
in
d
 t
h
e
m
, 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 h
a
v
in
g
 t
o
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 o
ff
ic
e
 s
ta
ff
 f
o
r 

a
n
o
th
e
r 
c
re
w
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
, 
w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r.

T
h
e
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 r
a
ti
n
g
 o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 t
o
 `
n
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
'. 
B
o
th
 t
h
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 T
e
a
m
 h
a
v
e
 w
o
rk
e
d
 w
it
h
 I
n
te
rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 a
n
d
 S
E
C
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
a
s
t 
1
8
 

m
o
n
th
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 I
n
te
rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 a
re
 n
o
w
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
 f
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 T
e
a
m
 d
u
ri
n
g
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
3
.

Page 29



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3

C
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 2
0
0
8
-0
9

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
T
y
p
e

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

T
it
le

S
e
rv
ic
e

F
re
q
u
e
n
c
y
 &
 

M
e
a
s
u
re

R
is
e
 o
r 

F
a
ll

B
a
s
e
lin
e

L
a
s
t 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

T
a
rg
e
t

Q
tr
1

Q
tr
2

P
re
d
ic
te
d
 

F
u
ll 
Y
e
a
r 

R
e
s
u
lt

D
a
ta
 

Q
u
a
lit
y

L
K
I 
2
1
5
B

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 r
e
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 

lig
h
ti
n
g
 f
a
u
lt
 w
h
e
re
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
im
e
 i
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
a
 D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 

O
p
e
ra
to
r 
(D
N
O
)

S
tr
e
e
t 
L
ig
h
ti
n
g

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y

D
a
y
s

F
a
ll

N
.A
.

2
6
.1
5
 d
a
y
s

2
5
 d
a
y
s

3
0
.8
3
 d
a
y
s

3
8
.2
4
 d
a
y
s
3
2
.4
9
 d
a
y
s

N
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

w
it
h
 d
a
ta

1
9

L
o
c
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r

T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 b
y
 S
E
C
 i
s
 d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
Y
E
D
L
. 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
ly
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 u
n
io
n
s
 a
g
re
e
in
g
 w
it
h
 Y
E
D
L
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 'w
o
rk
 t
o
 r
u
le
'. 
T
h
is
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 o
n
 2
7
th
 J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 u
n
ti
l 
th
e
 2
2
n
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
  
N
o
t 
o
n
ly
 d
id
 t
h
is
 e
ff
e
c
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
s
e
 m
o
n
th
s
, 
b
u
t 
th
e
 b
a
c
k
 l
o
g
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 t
h
is
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 n
o
w
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
le
a
re
d
 a
n
d
 

a
s
 s
u
c
h
, 
th
is
 w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
fu
tu
re
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
is
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
n
't 
u
n
iq
u
e
 t
o
 L
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 h
e
ld
 a
t 
th
e
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
 o
n
 t
h
e
 2
4
th
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 w
a
s
 a
n
 i
s
s
u
e
 

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 r
e
g
io
n
.

T
h
e
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 r
a
ti
n
g
 o
n
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 t
o
 '
n
o
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
'. 
B
o
th
 t
h
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 T
e
a
m
 h
a
v
e
 w
o
rk
e
d
 w
it
h
 I
n
te
rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 a
n
d
 S
E
C
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
a
s
t 
1
8
 

m
o
n
th
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 I
n
te
rn
a
l 
A
u
d
it
 a
re
 n
o
w
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
 f
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 T
e
a
m
 d
u
ri
n
g
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
3
.

Page 30



Appendix 3 Accountability Reporting Guidance

Column

Title
Description

No. Each indicator is numbered to allow for easier navigation through the report.

This column gives a little more information on the type of indicator and gives some indication of its relative importance and what the implications 

might be of poor performance.  Some of the indicators fall into more than one type, for example, all LSP government agreed indicators are also 

national indicators.  The types of indicator are:

Leeds Strategic Plan Government Agreed - these indicators form part of the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008 to 2011 and have been negotiated and 

agreed, by the council and its partners, with government.  They form part of our current Local Area Agreement and additional reward grant is paid if 

we meet these targets.  The Audit Commission will also give these indicators additional attention under the Comprehensive Area Assessment as 

these are our local priorites.  

Leeds Strategic Plan Partnership Agreed - these indicators form part of the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008 to 2011 and have been agreed with our 

partners as priorites for the city.  The Audit Commission will give these indicators additional attention under the Comprehensive Area Assessment as 

these are our local priorites.  

Council Business Plan - these indicators form part of the Council Business Plan 2008 to 2011 and we have set these targets to drive change and 

progress across the organisation.  The Audit Commission will give these indicators additional attention under the Comprehensive Area Assessment 

as these are our internal organisational priorites.  

National Indicator - this is a set of 198 indicators used by Government nationally to monitor the performance of public services in local areas.  Our 

performance against this set of indicators will contribute to the Comprehensive Area Assessment. This has replaced several sets of other indicators 

including the old best value indicators. 

Local Indicators - these indicators have been nominated by service areas to provide a more complete picture of performance.  In many cases these 

indicators will also directly contribute to the delivery of our priorities

Reference

Each indicator is given a unique reference code and these codes tell us which basket each indicator belongs to.  A basket is a set of indicators which 

are used to report on progress relating to different plans or frameworks. Below we have listed the main groups of indicator you will see in these 

reports.

LSP - Leeds Strategic Plan indicator

NI - National Indicator

BP - Business Plan indicator

LAA - Local Area Agreement indicator - for this year only we are continuing to measure a small number of indicators from our previous LAA which are 

subject to reward monies based on the year end position in April 2009.

LKI - Local key indicator

Title
The title column gives a description of the indicator. 

NB The Government have provided the descriptions for all national indicators.

Service
The service column identifies which team within the Council is responsible for service delivery, monitoring the performance and data quality of each 

indicator.

Frequency & 

Measure

The top line in this column identifies how often we collect this information. This may be every month, every three months (quarterly) or once a year 

(annually). We only report annual indicators at the end of quarter 4 (after the end of March). With the exception of education attainment figures which 

are reported in quarter 3.

The second line in this column identifies what measure we use to check on progress. For example, we might measure this result in the number of 

days or weeks we should take to finish something, such as a planning application. In another case, we might measure the percentage, such as the 

percentage of enquiries we respond to within five minutes.

Rise or Fall
The rise or fall column identifies if the results should go up or down to show whether we are doing well. For example, if this is set to rise, you would 

expect the figures to increase.

Baseline
This column gives the baseline performance figures upon which we have set our targets and/or wil be comparing our performance over the coming 

years

Last Year Result This column displays the result from the end of the previous financial year (31 March 2008)

Target This column shows the target we have agreed for this financial year.

Qtr1 The shows the current position at the end of this quarter.  

Qtr2

The shows the current position at the end of this quarter.  This result might be given a traffic light (red, amber or green) if the service is unable to 

accurately predicte the full year performance based on the interim results (see below).  If they can forecast their year end position then the traffic light 

will appear in the next column.

Predicted Full 

Year Result

Directorates use this column to show how well they expect to do at the end of the year. They forecast this position depending on the current 

performance of each indicator. This figure may change each quarter depending on the performance of the indicator. Where possible we use this 

figure to inform whether an indicator is traffic lighted red, amber or green.

The green light shows that the Directorate predicts this indicator  WILL meet its target. The Directorate uses current performance information to 

make this forecast.

An amber traffic light shows that the Directorate predicts this indicator will not meet its target. However, the performance for this indicator is still 

acceptable and will not result in significant problems. The Directorate uses current performance information to make this forecast.

The red lights shows that the Directorate predicts this indicator WILL NOT  meet its target at the end of the year. The Directorate uses current 

performance information to make this forecast.

Data Quality
We are using  this information to make strategic decisions therefore it is important that it is both accurate and reliable.  This column provides an 

overall assessment of the data quality for each indicator. 

No Concerns indicates that the data as accurate and there are good processes in place to check and validate this information.

Some Concerns indicates that more work needs to be done to ensure the data is accurate and reliable.  Services may be in the middle of 

implementing improvments to their systems and processes but these are not fully in place yet. 

Concerns indicates that there are concerns that the quality of the data may not be good or that maybe they have not got the correct data.  Again 

services are working toward improving this position.  Many of the national indicator set are new and we are having to set up new systems to collect 

data - until these are fully embedded and proven there are likely to be outstanding concerns.

Comments

The comments for each indicator should explain why performance varies. They should also highlight if there are any problems with the quality of the 

data and what steps the Directorate is taking to improve it. This section will also focus on what will be done to improve the actions and state what 

outcomes they have achieved. 

Performance 

Indicator Type

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development   
                                                                                
Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
 
Date: 13th January 2009 
 
Subject:  A660 Corridor Transport Issues  
 

        
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The North West (Inner) Area Committee on 18th December 2008 considered the 

attached report of the Director of City Development on the A660 Corridor Transport 
Issues.  

 
1.2 The Area Committee resolved that the joint report of the Chief Highways Officer and 

Director of Resources dated 24th November 2008 for the detailed design and public 
consultation on the A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road, Woodhouse Proposed 
Inbound Bus/Cycle Lane and Junction Improvement Measures be referred to this 
Board for discussion. A copy of this joint report is attached . Members also asked for 
an explanation as to the rationale for canceling the Scrutiny Board (Central and 
Corporate) Call-In meeting on 22nd December 2008 concerning the Director of 
Resources delegated decision on this matter. A copy of the Area Committee’s minute 
is attached in full for reference purposes. 

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 The Chief Highways Officer took a delegated decision to approve this scheme on 

24th November 2008 which was not Called-In. The Director of Resources 
subsequently approved a delegated decision for the funding of this scheme on 2nd 
December 2008. This decision was Called–In by Councillors Monaghan and 
Illingworth because they stated that:  
 
“the Area Committee has not been consulted as stated in the report. The item is to 
be discussed at the meeting on the 18th December 2008. Previous discussion was 
abortive through a misunderstanding.” 
 
 

Specific Implications For: 
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 
 

Electoral Wards Affected:   

Headingley 
Hyde Park & Woodhouse 
Weetwood 
 
 
                               
                         Ward Members consulted 
                                  

 

 

 

 

Originator: Richard Mills 
 
Tel: 247 4557  

                        

Agenda Item 8

Page 33



 
 
2.2 As a consequence of the Call-In, a meeting of Scrutiny Board (Central and Corporate) 

functions was called for the 22nd December to hear the request. 
 
2.3 The Chief Highways Officer having subsequently investigated the concerns raised by 

Ward Councillors agreed to rescind his delegated decision authorising the scheme on 
17th December 2008. The Director of Resources rescinded his delegated decision 
authorising funding of this scheme on the same date.  

 
2.4 As a consequence of the delegated decisions being withdrawn by the Director of 

Resources the Call-In meeting was cancelled as there was no decision to discuss. 
 
2.5 The Chief Highways Officers is currently consulting with Ward Councillors regarding 

proposals for this scheme. 
 
3.0 Recommendation 
 
3.1 Members are asked to consider and determine what, if any, further information or 

scrutiny Members wish to undertake on this matter. 
            
 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
None Used 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 
 
 
 

 
 
Extract from the Minutes of the North West (Inner) Area 
Committee Meeting of the 18

th
 December 2008 

 
 
 
Minute No 66 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(a) That the contents of the report and appendices be noted. 
 
(b) That in respect of the Design and Cost Report dated 24th November 2008 submitted 
by the Chief Highways Officer and Director of Resources for the detailed design and public 
consultation on the A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road, Woodhouse Proposed Inbound 
Bus/Cycle Lane and Junction Improvement Measures, this report be referred to the Scrutiny 
Board (City Development) for discussion, together with addressing the rationale behind a 
decision by officers to cancel the Scrutiny Board (Central and Corporate) Call-In meeting on 
22nd December 2008 to consider the officer delegated decision on this scheme from the 
Director of Resources. 
 
(c) That in respect of the former officer delegated decision of the Chief Highways Officer 
in relation to the A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road, Woodhouse Proposed Inbound 
Bus/Cycle Lane and Junction Improvement Measures, this Committee requests that this 
decision be withdrawn by the Chief Highways Officer. 
 
(d) That this Committee unanimously opposes the first phase of the design proposals of 
works to be undertaken along the A660 corridor and requests the Chief Highways Officer to 
cancel this scheme. 
 
(e) That this Committee supports the principle of improvements to the A660 corridor 
within the North West Inner area and requests full consultation to be undertaken on the 
proposals. 
 
(f) That this Committee supports the proposal for a Inner North West Transport 
Strategy being developed, with specific reference to parking provision, cycle and bus use to 
reduce unnecessary car journeys along the A660 and that this issue be debated at the 
Transport Sub Group. 
 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Director of City Development 
 
To:  Inner North West Area Committee  
 
Date:   18th December 2008   
 
Subject:  A660 Corridor Transport Issues  
 

        
  
 
 
 
 
 

Executive Summary 
 
The report outlines early work to identify interim measures for improving movement within 
the A660 corridor in particular for bus transit, pending the longer term development of 
proposals for the New Generation Transport system.  More specifically the report 
summarises initial scheme proposals that have been developed to improve pedestrian 
facilities at the A660 junction with Clarendon Road and to address bus stop and priority 
issues at this site.  
 
 
 
1.0      Purpose of This Report 
 
1.1 This report outlines proposals for development of traffic and transport measures for 

the A660 corridor. 
 
2.0 Background Information 
 
2.1 The A660 corridor has been identified as part of the proposed New Generation 

Transport (NGT) scheme which is being developed as a replacement for the former 
Leeds Supertram scheme.  Phase 1 of this scheme has been endorsed by the 
Regional Transport Board for the Regional Funding Allocation (RFA), and Phase 2 
which includes the A660 is due to be considered by the RTB in January 2009.  
However, if the funding is endorsed a start of construction is not likely before 2014 at 
the very earliest. 

 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap  
 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

Headingley 
Hyde Park & Woodhouse 
Weetwood 
 
 

Originator: Andrew Hall 
 
Tel: 0113 247 5296  

 

 

 

Delegated Executive 
Function available 
for Call In 
 

Council 
Function 

Delegated Executive 
Function not available for 
Call In Details set out in the 
report 

   x  

                Ward Members consulted 
                (referred to in report) 
   √ 

Page 37



2.2 In view of the NGT timetable. Investigations are being undertaken to develop an 
interim package of measures that will provide early improvements, especially to the 
reliability and timing of bus services.  These proposals will be designed to be 
compatible, as far as possible, with the ultimate NGT scheme. 

 
 
3.0 Main Issues 
 
3.1 Studies assessing congestion on the major radials in the Leeds District have shown 

the A660 to be one of the most congested.  Morning peak inbound traffic speeds were 
among the lowest of those studied and similarly the evening peak speeds outbound 
were the lowest in the district. 

  
3.2 Peak traffic flows on this corridor are low in comparison to other major radials, 

however bus patronage is amongst the highest. Given the higher than average ratio of 
bus users to car users, there is potential for bus priority measures to be particularly 
effective on this corridor with significant benefits for existing and future passengers.  

 
3.3 Issues of reliability and timing for the large number of bus services are a matter of 

continuing concern for passengers and the local community.  These concerns are 
shared by the Council, Metro and the bus operators.   

 
3.4 High flows of pedestrians and cyclists are also a feature of the inner sections of the 

A660 route.  Surveys indicate over 100 cyclists traveling towards Leeds city centre in 
the busiest peak hour. 

 
3.5 There are a also a number of issues with regard to road safety with the junctions at  

Rampart Road, Hyde Park Corner, North Lane, Shaw Lane and the Ring Road 
identified in the Council’s sites for concern listings.  There is also a long standing 
aspiration to improve the provision for pedestrians at the junction with Clarendon 
Road and to address the very poor bus facilities at this location.  In addition, a study 
for Leeds Cycling Action Group and funded by the area committee has identified 
issues relating to cycling. 

 
3.7 Traffic surveys indicate the following key data in relation to this corridor: 
 

Ø Bus flows – There are 27 service buses (34 south of Clarendon Road) 
scheduled each way in the peak hours along this corridor.  Journey time 
data shows considerable variation at all times of day but particularly in the 
peak where variability is almost twice as high as the inter-peak. In the 
evening peak outbound buses have the lowest speeds on any radial route 
in Leeds, averaging well below 10mph for the entire length of the route.  For 
example between Hyde Park Corner and Headingley centre buses take an 
average of ten minutes longer than at other times  

 
Ø Bus patronage – Over 2500 passengers use services on the A660 during 

the morning peak with similar levels in the evening.  Services are also very 
well used during the off-peak periods. 

 
 
 

Page 38



Ø Traffic flow – Whilst relatively low in comparison to other key radials, 
congestion has similar effects on journey time and public transport reliability 
to those experienced elsewhere on the network. Flows in the morning peak 
have reached 1897 vehicles, whilst the evening peak flows are slightly 
lower at 1726 vehicles. 

 
Ø Cycle flow – Cycle traffic is relatively high on this corridor with around 175 

cyclists observed throughout the morning peak, with similar flows in the 
evening albeit dispersed over a longer period.  

 
Ø Pedestrian flows – There are heavy pedestrian flows along this corridor at 

peak periods particularly South of Headingley centre.  All crossing points 
along the route are busy including (but not limited to) the main junctions at 
Hyde Park Corner and Clarendon Road. Morning counts indicate an hourly 
total of 634 pedestrian crossing movements at the Woodhouse 
Lane/Clarendon Road junction.  

 
 
3.7 The delays and congestion affecting bus movements in this corridor are such that it is 

considered that there is a strong case in conjunction with the other issues identified to 
identify interim measures for introduction prior to the proposed NGT scheme.  
 

 
4.0 Proposals 
 
4.1 In order to address the issues identified above, initial desk top studies have been 

undertaken to identify where measures might have the greatest impact in reducing 
some of the key problems along this route.  These key locations are identified on the 
plan provided on the route plan at Appendix 1 and discussed further as follows. 

 
4.2 Whilst ideally the range of problems described above would be tackled as part of a 

single integrated scheme, their complexity is such that it may be more practical to 
bring forward proposals in a phased manner as their evaluation and development 
proceeds.  At the present time approval has been granted for the fees needed to 
develop to a more detailed level the outline proposals identified below for the 
Clarendon Road junction and to take forward further investigation and development of 
solutions for the other issue identified later in this section. 

 
 Woodhouse Lane Clarendon Road (Section 1) 
 
4.3 As a first stage outline proposals for the provision of improved pedestrian facilities at 

the junction of Clarendon Road and Woodhouse Lane including new controlled 
facilities across the Clarendon Road leg of the junction.  This has been a long 
standing request.  At the same time as part of the junction works, which require the 
reconfiguration of the traffic signals it is proposed to take the opportunity to address 
the sub standard bus stop facilities by providing a bus priority facility.  Details of the 
outline scheme are included in Appendix 2 and identified as Section 1 on the route 
plan. 

 
4.4 Elsewhere on the A660 corridor, using the data described in Section 3, a number of 

key locations are currently being examined further prior to bringing forward outline 
proposals for further discussion and consultation.  

Page 39



Hyde Park Corner area (Section 2) 
 
4.5 This site and the adjacent Rampart Road junction are both identified in the Council’s 

road injury sites for concern.  At Hyde Park Corner there are long standing issues 
concerning the adequacy of the existing pedestrian facilities and also the present 
layout is not best suited to the movement of traffic with a number of conflicting turning 
movements.  At the same time the traffic signal installation is dated and does not 
provide for the most efficient priority to be given to public transport movements.  In 
terms of Rampart Road there are particular issues relating to the turning movements 
onto and off the A660 which could be addressed by the introduction of traffic signals 
integrated with improvements at Hyde Park Corner and the proposals for the 
Clarendon Road junction. 

 
 Hyde Park Corner to Headingley Centre (Section 3) 
 
4.6 As identified earlier, in the outbound direction this location is a major source of delay 

to bus services.  Taking a typically peak hour outbound flow of 1200 passengers, 
these extra peak delays with a cumulative cost to passengers of around 200 hours in  
travel time and in this context there is a compelling economic case for action, aside 
from the real benefits that could accrue to passengers.  It is likely that the most 
effective measure would be the provision of an outbound bus lane which has been 
investigated.  Such a proposal would have implications for the present cycle lane 
provision which would require to be modified and further advice is being taken on this 
matter. 

 
Headingley Centre and Otley Road (Section 4)  

 
4.7 A study is being undertaken to assess what steps can be taken to improve conditions 

in Headingley Centre in particular in terms of the bus queuing and stopping 
arrangements.  Similarly the section of route between Shaw Lane and the Ring Road 
is being examined, including the junctions with Weetwood Lane and Church Wood 
Avenue.  This work will form the basis for developing and consulting on possible 
solutions during 2009. 

  
A6120 Ring Road junction (Section 5) 

 
4.8 This location has been identified as requiring improvements as part of the NGT with 

particular issues relating to the need for improved public transport priorities, together 
with formal provision for pedestrians and cyclists across all legs of the junction.  In this 
regard an outline bid for resources to be allocated from the Regional Funding 
Allocation has been submitted to the Regional Transport Board for the improvement 
of key junctions along the A6120 route including the A660.  Subject to the 
development of detailed proposals and the approval of the Department for Transport 
this scheme could  begin on site in 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 A660 North of the A6120 (Section 6) 
 
4.9 Whilst the NGT scheme will include proposals for a park and ride site at Bodington 

and the associated priority facilities, at the present time the Council does not have 
sufficient resources from its core LTP funding to bring forward a scheme of this 
magnitude without specific major scheme funding.  Therefore, work is being 
undertaken with the NGT project team to evaluate the options for bringing forward this 
scheme earlier.  Any further decisions on this element of the scheme will need to 
await the decisions of the Regional Transport Board concerning the bid for Phase 2 of 
the NGT scheme. 

 
   
5.0 Implications for Council Policy and Governance 
 
5.1 Compliance with Council Policies 

 
5.1.1 Environmental Policy: The proposals contained within this report are in accordance 

with the aims of the Policy in that the improvement works will reduce the number and 
severity of accidents thereby creating a safer local environment and will help 
encourage the use of public transport 

 

5.1.2  Mobility: The provision of dropped crossings and pedestrian facilities will provide a 
positive aid to all pedestrians and ease pedestrian movement across the A660 
Woodhouse Lane and Clarendon Road. 

 

5.1.3 Local Transport Plan (LTP): The proposals contained in this report are in accordance 
with Primary Objectives of the Local Transport Plan: to improve safety, security and 
health in particular to reduce the number and severity of accidents thereby creating a 
safe environment, making public transport more accessible for the public, improve the 
highway network and provide facilities for each road user  

 
5.1.4 Ethnic minorities, women and disabled people:  This report has no implication for 

ethnic minorities or women.   

 
5.2 Legal and Resource Implications 

 
5.2.1 Funding: With the exception of the scheme at the Ring Road roundabout (which is the 

subject of a major scheme bid) it is anticipated that the potential capital costs of any 
measures agreed will be met from the Council’s Local Transport Plan funding 

 
5.2.2 Staffing:   There are no additional staffing implications arising from these proposals. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 
6.0 Consultation 
 
6.1 Ward Members have been consulted on the proposals for Clarendon Road and have 

supported the outline proposals.  Members of the Area Committee have requested 
further discussion of these proposals especially with regard to the proposed bus 
measures and the proposals were presented to the Area Committee’s transport sub 
group at its 11th November meeting.  Funding for the final proposals will require a 
further approval once detailed consultation and design has been completed. 

 
6.2 NGT Project Team:  The preliminary scheme proposals have been fully considered 

with the NGT Project Team in order to ensure that any proposals implemented at this 
time would not be detrimental to future NGT proposals. 

 
6.3 The development of the corridor generally is at very early stage with further detailed 

consultation planned with Ward Members, Area Management,  Metro and the bus 
operators on the various elements set out in this report. 

 
6.4 Residents, businesses and stakeholders:  As the various proposals are developed,  

comments from local stakeholders and residents associations will be accepted and  
taken into account in the finalisation of any proposals and formal reporting of the 
proposals.  

 
7.0 Conclusions 
 
7.1 The initial assessment of the traffic and transport issues on the A660 indicates that a 

case exists for the early investment in the infrastructure of the route to provide 
improvements in the interim period before the introduction of the proposed NGT 
scheme.  As a result of this work early improvements to the junction with Clarendon 
Road are being developed and consulted upon.  

 
8.0 Recommendations 
 

8.1 Members are requested to note and comment on the content of this report. 
 
 
9 Background information 
 
9.1 There are no background papers supporting this report.  

Page 42



Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



HIGHWAYS SERVICES

PROPOSED FOOTWAY CONSTRUCTION OR

RECONSTRUCTION INCLUDING THE RELAYING OF

EXISTING PAVED FOOTWAYS

PROPOSED CARRIAGEWAY CONSTRUCTION AND

WIDENING

PROPOSED VERGE CONSTRUCTION OR RECONSTRUCTION

INCLUDING THE RELAYING OF EXISTING VERGES ALONG THE

NORTH EASTERN SIDE OF WOODHOUSE LANE

PROPOSED TACTILE PAVING.  RED PAVING AT TRAFFIC

SIGNALLED PEDESTRIAN CROSSING POINTS AND BUFF AT

NON-CONTROLLED PEDESTRIAN CROSSING POINTS

PROPOSED CYCLE BYPASS WITH RED SURFACE

TREATMENT ON THE APPROACHES TO TOUCAN

CROSSINGS ON WOODHOUSE LANE

The 7no. trees affected by the proposed bus lane on the north eastern side

of Woodhouse Lane are to be removed and new trees planted in locations

yet to be agreed with Leeds City Council Forestry Section

- APPENDIX 2
- APPENDIX 2

P
a

g
e
 4

5



P
a
g
e
 4

6

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a

lly
 le

ft b
la

n
k



DELEGATED DECISION NOTIFICATION REF NO 
1

34694

SERVICE AREA RESOURCES

SUBJECT
2 A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road, Woodhouse Proposed Inbound Bus/Cycle Lane And Junction 

Improvement Measures 

COUNCIL
FUNCTION

EXECUTIVE
DECISION
(KEY)

EXECUTIVE
DECISION
(MAJOR)

EXECUTIVE
DECISION
(OTHER)

NOT SUBJECT TO
CALL IN 

4
EXEMPT FROM

CALL IN:  YES / NO 

4
EXEMPT FROM

CALL IN:  NO 

NOT SUBJECT TO
CALL IN 

DECISION
3

.

The Director of Resources: 

i)     noted the contents of the report; and 

ii)     gave authority to incur expenditure of £135,000 staff costs comprising of £5,000 for the cost benefit 
analysis and £130,000 design costs, to be met from the  Integrated Transport scheme 99609 within
the approved Capital Programme. 

AFFECTED WARDS HYDE PARK AND WOODHOUSE 

ADVICE SOUGHT Yes No

Legal 
Finance 
Personnel     

Equal Opportunities     

Other (please specify) 

DECLARED OFFICER  / 
MEMBER INTERESTS

5

1
This reference number will be assigned by Governance Services and notified to you

2
A brief heading should be inserted

3
Brief details of the decision should be inserted. This note must set out the substance of the decision, options considered and

the reason for deciding  upon the chosen option, although care must be taken not to disclose any confidential or 
commercially sensitive information. Guidance on the substance of the note is available from  Governance Services 

4
 For Key and Major decisions only.  If exempt from Call In details to be provided in the report. The Call In period expires at 

5.00 pm on the 5
th

working day after publication.  Scrutiny Support will notify decision makers of matters called in by no later 

than 12.00 noon on the 6th day.
5

  No officer having a pecuniary interest in any matter should take a decision in relation to that matter. Other interests of a  non-

disqualifying nature should be recorded here. 

Page 47



DISPENSATION BY 
STANDARDS
COMMITTEE

DATE: ………………………………………………….. 

BACKGROUND
PAPERS

6 A design instruction issued by the Transport Strategy Group in January 2008. 

Consultation letters to Ward Members, local MP, Emergency Services and Metro. 

NGT Preliminary Proposals. 

Traffic Survey Results. 

CONFIDENTIAL
REPORT

YES NO     RULE NO 10.4
7
  (     ) 

Yes No Date

DETAILS OF 
CONSULTATION
UNDERTAKEN (OTHER 
REASONS/
ORGANISATIONS
CONSULTED)

Executive Member        ________________ 

Ward Councillors                             15 September 2008

Chief Officers Affected        ________________ 
Others (Specify) 
Emergency Services and Metro 

(WYPTE)  15 September 2008 

  NGT Project Team                                                               Unknown                 

NorthWest (Inner) Area Committee                                   15 September 2008 

Local Residents and Businesses                                   Unknown

CONTACT PERSON N BORRAS CONTACT NO 3951431

AUTHORISED
SIGNATORY

8 DATE
2

nd
 December 

2008

KEY MAJOR OTHER
9

*First publication (5 day notice)

Commencement for Call In 4/12/2008

Last date for Call In 11/12/2008

 Implementation Date 12/12/2008

* If key decision not on Forward Plan, the reason and need that the decision be taken are 
that:

6
A separate Index should  be prepared if necessary. ALL DOCUMENTATION UPON WHICH THE DECISION WAS BASED 

MUST BE RETAINED AND BE READILY ACCESSIBLE SO IT CAN BE PRODUCED SHOULD THE DECISION BE 
CHALLENGED

7
   Access to Information Procedure Rules

8
The signatory must be duly authorised by the Director  to make the decision in accordance with the Department’s scheme.

     It is not acceptable for the signature to be ‘pp’ for an authorised signatory. For Key Decisions only, the date of the authorised
signature signifies that, at the time, the Officer was content that the decision should be taken.  However, should 
representations be received following public availability of reports the signatory will consider the effect which such 
representations should have upon the final decision.

9
Governance Services will enter these dates

Page 48



Agenda Item:2398/2008

Originator: N BORRAS

Dept:  TRAFFIC

Tel: 0113 3951431 

REPORT TO THE CHIEF HIGHWAYS OFFICER AND DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES

DATE: 24 NOVEMBER 2008 

Subject: Design & Cost Report

Scheme Title:  A660 WOODHOUSE LANE/CLARENDON ROAD, WOODHOUSE 
PROPOSED INBOUND BUS/CYCLE LANE AND JUNCTION 
IMPROVEMENT MEASURES 

Capital Scheme Number: 14893 

Eligible for Call In Not Eligible for Call In 
                  (Details contained in the report)

Specific Implications For: 

Equality and Diversity 

Community Cohesion 

Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected: 

HYDE PARK AND WOODHOUSE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report is to seek approval for the detailed design and public consultation of a scheme to 
introduce an inbound bus/cycle lane on the A660 Woodhouse Lane between Rampart Road 
and Clarendon Road and junction improvement measures at the A660 Woodhouse 
Lane/Clarendon Road junction and the advertisement of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to 
introduce the bus/cycle lane. 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the detailed design and public 
consultation of a scheme to introduce an inbound bus/cycle lane on the A660 
Woodhouse Lane between Rampart Road and Clarendon Road, undertake junction 
improvement measures at the A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road junction and 
advertise a draft TRO to introduce a bus/cycle lane along the length, as shown on 
the attached drawing number TMW-17-1183-02C.

2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

2.1 The A660 is currently the most congested transport corridor in Leeds and Metro and 
the bus operators have stated that this route is of most concern in terms of delays to 
public transport.  As a result of this, the Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road junction 
is the first phase of a proposed package of works to be undertaken along the A660 
corridor.

Page 49



2.2 In recent years, the corridor has endured blight as a result of being part of the former 
Supertram proposals.  These proposals have now been superseded by the New 
Generation Transport proposals (NGT).  However, although the A660 corridor forms 
part of those proposals, it is currently envisaged that the A660 will not form part of 
the initial scheme.  Therefore, it has been agreed between the City Council and 
Metro that other proposals for the A660 should be developed. 

2.3 The Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road junction is a current Site for Concern ranked 
as number 79, in the Council’s “Sites for Concern” Accident framework, with 15 
personal injury accidents, consisting of 12 slight and 3 serious accidents. 

2.4 The site has a very high PV2 count showing very high pedestrian flows to and from 
the university.  Clarendon Road, adjacent to ‘The Library’ public house, was 
recommended for a signalised pedestrian crossing and approved in the Pedestrian 
Crossing Review in March 2007. 

3.0 MAIN ISSUES  

3.1 Design Proposals/Scheme Description 

3.1.1 It is proposed to introduce an inbound bus and cycle lane, improve the existing traffic 
signals at the A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road junction and introduce 
pedestrian and cycle facilities in order to improve vehicular and pedestrian 
movements and reduce the number of injury accidents. 

3.1.2 In order to facilitate the provision of the bus priority and improvement scheme, the 
intentions are to:

i) provide an inbound bus and cycle lane starting 60m east of Rampart Road by 
widening the existing carriageway on the north eastern side of Woodhouse 
Lane;

ii) widen the existing carriageway on the south western side of Woodhouse Lane 
to facilitate the proposed bus and cycle lane and aid the maximization of the 
junction capacity; 

iii) provide formal pedestrian facilities on the Clarendon Road leg of the junction 
and improve the existing pedestrian facilities on the north western leg of 
Woodhouse Lane; 

iv) construct pedestrian islands on both legs of Woodhouse Lane and realign the 
existing central island on the north western leg of the junction to allow for the 
provision of traffic signals and pedestrian facilities; 

v) take up and relay the existing Yorkstone flagged footways on both sides of the 
north western leg of Woodhouse Lane and relay/renew the concrete paved 
footways on the southern leg of Woodhouse Lane outside the university; 

vi) remove 7 no. trees along the north eastern side of Woodhouse Lane, which will 
then be replaced with 12no. new trees at locations to be agreed with the City 
Council’s Forestry Section; 

vii) undertake all ancillary improvement works necessary for the proper 
implementation of the scheme including carriageway resurfacing, traffic signing 
and road markings and street lighting works; and 

viii) advertise and implement a draft TRO to introduce a bus/cycle lane along the 
A660 Woodhouse Lane. 

Page 50



3.1.3 All works are to be undertaken within the boundary of the adopted highway and will 
not encroach onto or affect either Woodhouse Moor or Cinder Moor. 

3.1.4 In addition to the above works it is also proposed to undertake a cost benefit analysis 
on the future phases of work proposed for the A660 Corridor between Clarendon 
Road in Woodhouse and St Michael’s Road in Headingley. 

3.1.4 The total estimated staff costs for the required highway works and the cost benefit 
analysis are £135,000, comprising of £5,000 for the cost benefit analysis and 
£130,000 design costs, which can be met from the Integrated Transport scheme 
within the approved Capital Programme and is eligible for 100% Government 
funding.

3.1.5 The scheme proposals are illustrated on the attached drawings number TMW-17-
1183-02c.

3.2 Consultations  

3.2.1 Ward Members  
 and Local MPs: Ward Members and the Local MPs were consulted by letter dated 

15 September 2008.  One Councilor was concerned about the 
removal of part of the grass verge to accommodate the proposed 
inbound bus/cycle lane.  Another was concern about the removal of 
the existing bus lay-by, which is used illegally by pizza delivery 
vehicles. He questioned as to where these vehicles will be able to 
park and was informed that there is ample parking on Raglan Road.
No other adverse comments or objections were received. 

3.2.2 Emergency Services  
 and Metro (WYPTE): Emergency Services and Metro were consulted by letter dated 

15 September 2008.  West Yorkshire Police have no 
objections towards the scheme proposals.  Metro identified 
the need to relocate the inbound bus stop, which will be 
discussed as part of the detailed design. No other comments 
or objections were received. 

3.2.3 NGT Project Team: The preliminary scheme proposals have been discussed at 
great length with the NGT Project Team in order to ensure that 
any proposals implemented at this time would not be 
detrimental to future NGT proposals. 

3.2.3 North West  
 (Inner) Area Committee:  North West (Inner) Area Committee were consulted by 

letter dated 15 September 2008 with a view to obtaining 
their comments and those of The Friends of Woodhouse 
Moor.  No adverse comments or objections were received. 

3.2.5 Local Residents and Businesses: As part of the ongoing detailed design, a 
substantial consultation process with local 
residents and businesses will be undertaken and 
the comments presented to the Joint Highways 
Board prior to implementation of the scheme. 

3.3 Programme 

3.3.1 It is anticipated that the detailed scheme design and public consultation can be 
undertaken during the 2008/2009 financial years, subject to approval. Page 51



4.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR COUNCIL POLICY AND GOVERNANCE

4.1 Compliance with Council Policies 

4.1.1 Environmental Policy: The proposals contained within this report are in accordance 
with the aims of the Policy since the improvement works will 
reduce the number and severity of accidents, thereby 
creating a safer local environment, and will help encourage 
the use of public transport 

4.1.2 Mobility: The provision of dropped crossings and pedestrian facilities will provide a 
positive aid to all pedestrians and ease pedestrian movement across the 
A660 Woodhouse Lane and Clarendon Road. 

4.1.3 Local Transport Plan (LTP): The proposals contained in this report are in
accordance with Primary Objectives of the Local 
Transport Plan: To improve safety, security and health 
in particular to reduce the number and severity of 
accidents thereby creating a safe environment, 
making public transport more accessible for the public 
and improve the highway network and provide 
facilities for each road user. 

4.1.4 Ethnic minorities,  
 women and disabled people:  This report has no implication for ethnic minorities,  

  women or disabled people. 

4.1.5 LTP Policy Approval: A Design Instruction was issued by Transport Policies and  
Programme Section in January 2008 

4.1.5 Safety Audit: A Stage 1 Safety Audit was undertaken on the 8 October 2008.
Comments based on a preliminary scheme drawing were received 
from Accident Studies and will be addressed as part of the detailed 
design process 

4.2 Community Safety 

4.2.1 The proposals contained in this report have no implications under Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1988. 

5.0 LEGAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Scheme Design Estimate 

5.1.1 Funding: The total estimated staff costs for the required highway works and the cost 
benefit analysis are £135,000, comprising of £5,000 for the cost benefit 
analysis and £130,000 staff costs, which can be met from the Integrated 
Transport scheme within the approved Capital Programme and is eligible 
for 100% Government funding. 

5.1.2 Staffing:  There are no additional staffing implications arising from these proposals. 

5.2 Capital Funding and Cash Flow 

Parent Scheme Number : 99609  
 Title : LTP Integrated Transport SchemePage 52



6.0 CONCLUSIONS 

6.1 The proposed introduction of an inbound bus/cycle lane, the improvements to the 
A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road junction and the associated Traffic 
Regulation Order (waiting and loading restrictions and bus lane ) will reduce the 
number and severity of injury accidents at the A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon 
Road junction and serve to greatly improve the service and reduce the delays of 
public transport. 

7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

CHIEF HIGHWAYS OFFICER

7.1 The Chief Highways Officer is requested, subject to approval of the Director of 
Resources to: 

i) approve the design and public consultation of the junction improvement 
scheme at the A660 Woodhouse Lane/Clarendon Road junction and an 
inbound bus/cycle lane along the A660 Woodhouse Lane between Rampart 
Road and Clarendon Road, as shown on the attached drawing number TMW-
17-1183-02C, at a total cost of £135,000; and 

ii) request the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) to advertise the 
draft Traffic Regulation Order to introduce a bus/cycle lane on Woodhouse 
Lane as shown on attached drawing number TMW-17-1183-02C and, if no 
valid objections are received, to make, seal and implement the Traffic 
Regulation Order as advertised. 

7.2 DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES

 The Director of Resources is requested to: 

 i)   note the contents of the report; and 

  ii)  give authority to incur expenditure of £135,000 staff costs comprising £5,000 
       for the cost benefit analysis and £130,000 design costs, to be met from the 
       Integrated Transport scheme 99609 within the approved Capital Programme. 

8.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 A design instruction issued by the Transport Strategy Group in January 2008. 

 Consultation letters to Ward Members, local MP, Emergency Services and 
Metro.

 NGT Preliminary Proposals. 

 Traffic Survey Results. 

U: Shared/Admin/Wordproc/Comm/2008/A660 Woodhouse Lane – Staff Costs.doc Page 53



AUTHORITY TO SPEND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE                     SUPPORTING FINANCIAL INFORMATION               PARENT SCHEMES

1. CURRENT APPROVAL FUNDING (£000’S)  

CPRH TOTAL 
ACTUAL TO 

31.03.08
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012 ON 

Parent Balance 19,041.0 68.9 1,832.1 8,120.2 9,019.8

2. CURRENT FORECAST OF EXPENDITURE  (£000’S) 

Gross Expenditure by CPRH 
SCHEME NO: 

TOTAL 
ACTUAL TO 

31.03.08
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012 ON 

Previous  Approvals : 3,833.3 68.9 242.6 3,263.2 258.6 0.0 0.0

This Approval : Staff (06) 135.0 70.0 65.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Works (03) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Other (07) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance 15,072.7 0.0 1,519.5 4,792.0 8,761.2 0.0 0.0

Total = B 19,041.0 68.9 1,832.1 8,120.2 9,019.8 0.0 0.0

Less Income   * 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total Net Cost                                        C 19,041.0 68.9 1,832.1 8,120.2 9,019.8 0.0 0.0

Less 100% Gov Funding 19,041.0 68.9 1,832.1 8,120.2 9,019.8 0.0 0.0

GENERAL  RESOURCE REQUIRED   D 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

*     FOR EXAMPLE : Grants/Contributions/Operating Leasing 

3. REVENUE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS APPROVAL (£) 

Latest Estimated Revenue Effect 

Code 27/294 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

Employees 
Running Costs
Capital Financing 2,785 8,103 10,532 10,324
Income

Net Service Cost                                      E 2,785 8,103 10,532 10,324

REMARKS

4. REVISED CASH FLOW IN ISMUS FOR CHILD SCHEME NO:  14893

CPRH TOTAL 
ACTUAL 

TO 31.03.08 
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012 ON 

Staff (06) 135.0 0.0 70.0 65.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Works (03) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Other (07) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total Expenditure                                   A 135.0 0.0 70.0 65.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

5. REVISED CASH FLOW IN ISMUS FOR PARENT SCHEME NO:   99609 

CPRH TOTAL 
ACTUAL TO 

31.03.08
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012 ON 

Parent Balance 15,072.7 0.0 1,519.5 4,792.0 8,761.2 0.0 0.0

Page 54



Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
 
Date: 13th January 2009 
 
Subject: Current Work Programme 
 

        
 
 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 Appendix 1 to this report  provides Members with a copy of the Board’s current 

Work Programme.  
 
1.2 Appendix 2 is the current Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1st January 

to 30th April 2009. 
 
1.3 Appendix 3 provides Members of the Board with the latest Executive Board 

minutes. 
 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 The Board is requested to: 

 
(i) Determine from these documents whether there are any additional items the 

Board would wish to add to its Work Programme. 
 
(ii) Receive and make any changes to the attached Work Programme following 

decisions made at today’s meeting. 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
None used 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected: All 

 
 

 

 

Originator: Richard Mills 
 
Tel:247 4557  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



  
  
  
  
  
S

C
R

U
T
IN

Y
 B

O
A

R
D

 (
C

IT
Y
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
) 
C

U
R

R
E

N
T
 W

O
R

K
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

 (
1
3
th

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
9
) 
  
  
  
A

P
P
E

N
D

IX
 1

 

K
e
y
: 
 

C
C

F
A

 /
 R

F
S

 –
 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

a
ll 

fo
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo

r 
s
c
ru

ti
n
y
 

R
P

 –
  

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 p

o
lic

y
 

D
P

 –
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w

 p
o
lic

y
 

M
S

R
 –

 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

c
ru

ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M

 –
 P

e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

B
 –

 B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In

c
lu

d
in

g
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru

ti
n
y
) 

S
C

 –
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

C
I 
–
 C

a
ll 

in
 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 1
3
th
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 R
e
p
o
rt
s
 f
ro
m
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 R
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 n
o
 l
a
te
r 
th
a
n
 2
9
th
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

C
lim

a
te

 C
h
a
n
g
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

 
T
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 c

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 

s
tr
a
te

g
y
 

 

T
h
is

 h
a
s
 n

o
w

 b
e
e
n
 r
e
m

o
v
e
d
 f
ro

m
 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 c

u
rr
e
n
t 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
. 
A

 
p
o
s
it
io

n
 s

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
is

 b
e
in

g
 s

o
u
g
h
t 

o
n
 t
h
is

 m
a
tt
e
r.
 

 

D
P

 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 
C

y
c
lis

ts
 A

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 C

it
y
 

T
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
d
e
p
a
rt
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 
c
y
c
lis

ts
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 

 

T
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
is

 w
h
ils

t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 i
ts

 w
o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
 a

n
d
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te

d
 a

n
 i
n
it
ia

l 
re

p
o
rt
 w

it
h
 a

 v
ie

w
 t
o
 u

n
d
e
rt
a
k
in

g
 a

 
s
u
it
a
b
le

 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 o

n
 t
h
is

 i
s
s
u
e
 

 

  
  
 B

 

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 L

o
o
p
 a

n
d
 m

a
jo

r 
a
rt
e
ri
a
l 
ro

u
te

s
 o

n
to

 i
t 

 

T
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 
a
 r
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 L

o
o
p
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
m

o
d
e
lli
n
g
 

w
o
rk

 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 o

n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
d
e
p
a
rt
m

e
n
t 

 

T
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 a
s
k
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 b

e
 

in
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
d
 

th
is

 i
s
 t
h
e
 e

a
rl
ie

s
t 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 w

h
e
n
 t
h
e
 

d
e
p
a
rt
m

e
n
t 
m

a
y
 b

e
 i
n
 a

 p
o
s
it
io

n
 t
o
 

re
p
o
rt
 o

n
 t
h
is

 m
a
tt
e
r 

 

  
 R

P
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

T
o
 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 p

e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

re
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 C

it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
. 

   

T
h
is

 i
s
 t
h
e
 u

s
u
a
l 
Q

u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 

 

  
 P

M
 

Page 59



  
  
  
  
  
S

C
R

U
T
IN

Y
 B

O
A

R
D

 (
C

IT
Y
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
) 
C

U
R

R
E

N
T
 W

O
R

K
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

 (
1
3
th

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
9
) 
  
  
  
A

P
P
E

N
D

IX
 1

 

K
e
y
: 
 

C
C

F
A

 /
 R

F
S

 –
 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

a
ll 

fo
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo

r 
s
c
ru

ti
n
y
 

R
P

 –
  

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 p

o
lic

y
 

D
P

 –
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w

 p
o
lic

y
 

M
S

R
 –

 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

c
ru

ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M

 –
 P

e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

B
 –

 B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In

c
lu

d
in

g
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru

ti
n
y
) 

S
C

 –
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

C
I 
–
 C

a
ll 

in
 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 1
0
th
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 R
e
p
o
rt
s
 f
ro
m
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 R
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 n
o
 l
a
te
r 
th
a
n
 2
1
s
t  
J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 1
7
th
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
R
e
p
o
rt
s
 f
ro
m
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 R
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 n
o
 l
a
te
r 
th
a
n
 2
5
th
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 2
1
s
t  
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 R
e
p
o
rt
s
 f
ro
m
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 R
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 n
o
 l
a
te
r 
th
a
n
 1

s
t  
A
p
ri
l 
 2
0
0
9
 

 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 C

a
p
a
c
it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 

P
la

n
n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
  

 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o

n
 t
h
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

&
 C

a
p
a
c
it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 &

 
C

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

T
h
is

 w
a
s
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 o
n
 

th
e
 1

8
th
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 f
o
r 
S
p
ri
n
g
 

2
0
0
9
. 

  

R
P

/D
P

 

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 /
 

A
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 E

c
o
n
o
m

ic
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
  

T
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 
th

is
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 p

ri
o
r 
to

 i
ts

 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

B
o
a
rd

 i
n
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
9
 

N
e
w

 P
la

n
 A

d
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B

u
d
g
e
t 
a
n
d
 

P
o
lic

y
 F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 o
n
 2

2
/5

/0
8
(C

G
&

A
 

o
n
 1

4
/5

/0
8
).
 T

h
is

 w
ill
 n

o
t 
n
o
w

 b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 u
n
ti
l 
S

p
ri
n
g
 2

0
0
9
. 

   

D
P

 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
R

e
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

’s
 c

o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 

to
 t
h
e
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y
 B

o
a
rd

s
 A

n
n
u
a
l 

R
e
p
o
rt
 2

0
0
7
/0

8
 

  

 
 

Page 60



  
  
  
  
  
S

C
R

U
T
IN

Y
 B

O
A

R
D

 (
C

IT
Y
 D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
) 
C

U
R

R
E

N
T
 W

O
R

K
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

 (
1
3
th

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
9
) 
  
  
  
A

P
P
E

N
D

IX
 1

 

K
e
y
: 
 

C
C

F
A

 /
 R

F
S

 –
 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

a
ll 

fo
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo

r 
s
c
ru

ti
n
y
 

R
P

 –
  

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 p

o
lic

y
 

D
P

 –
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w

 p
o
lic

y
 

M
S

R
 –

 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

c
ru

ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M

 –
 P

e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

B
 –

 B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In

c
lu

d
in

g
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru

ti
n
y
) 

S
C

 –
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

C
I 
–
 C

a
ll 

in
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 O
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

  
1
. 

T
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 a
t 
it
s
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o

n
 1

4
th
 O

c
to

b
e
r 
re

q
u
e
s
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
ta

ils
 o

n
 t
h
e
 C

a
rr
ia

g
e
w

o
rk

s
 s

ig
n
a
g
e
 b

e
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
d
 t
o
 a

ll 
M

e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
 t
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

. 
A

n
 e

m
a
il 

o
n
 t
h
is

 m
a
tt
e
r 
w

a
s
 s

e
n
t 
to

 a
ll 

B
o
a
rd

 M
e
m

b
e
rs

 o
n
 3

0
th
 O

c
to

b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

 2
. 

A
s
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 a
 v

is
it
 t
o
 t
h
e
 G

ra
n
d
 T

h
e
a
tr
e
, 
A

s
s
e
m

b
ly

 R
o
o
m

s
 a

n
d
 C

it
y
 V

a
ri
e
ti
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
d
 f
o
r 
6
th

 
J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
9
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
in

g
 a

t 
th

e
 C

it
y
 V

a
ri
e
ti
e
s
 a

t 
1
2
 n

o
o
n
. 

 
3
. 

T
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 o
n
 1

6
th
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 a

s
k
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
  
p
ro

v
id

e
d
 w

it
h
 a

 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
re

p
o
rt
 o

n
 w

h
a
t 
s
h
o
rt
 t
e
rm

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

m
a
d
e
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 a

t 
th

e
 A

6
6
1
 K

in
g
 L

a
n
e
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 R

in
g
 R

o
a
d
. 
T
h
is

 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
rs

e
 o

f 
p
re

p
a
ra

ti
o
n
 

A
n
d
 w

ill
 b

e
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 a
s
 s

o
o
n
 a

s
 i
t 
is

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

. 
 

4
. 

T
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 o
n
 1

6
th
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 
a
s
k
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
fu

rt
h
e
r 
s
c
ru

ti
n
y
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 o

f 
th

e
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 b

e
 c

a
rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 
to

 t
h
e
 C

it
y
 V

a
ri
e
ti
e
s
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 2

0
0
9
. 

 5
. 

T
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 o
n
 1

8
th
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 
a
s
k
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
 m

a
p
 b

e
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
d
 t
o
 a

ll 
B
o
a
rd

 M
e
m

b
e
rs

 s
h
o
w

in
g
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 p

ri
v
a
te

 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

fo
r 
fi
tn

e
s
s
 c

e
n
tr
e
s
, 
s
w

im
m

in
g
 p

o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 s

p
o
rt
s
 h

a
lls

. 
T
h
is

 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 p

u
rs

u
e
d
. 

 
5
. 

P
o
s
s
ib

le
 i
s
s
u
e
 r
a
is

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 B

o
a
rd

 i
n
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
0
8
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 l
a
te

r 
in

 t
h
e
 y

e
a
r 
- 
R

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
P

o
lic

y
 

a
n
d
 E

M
A

S
 

  
  
  
  
  
  

   

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 O

F
 K

E
Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 
F
o
r 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 1
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 t
o
 3
0
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

 

K
e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
il 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
n
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
) 

H
a
w
k
s
w
o
rt
h
 2
0
M
P
H
 Z
o
n
e
 a
n
d
 

V
e
s
p
e
rs
/S
p
e
n
 W

o
o
d
 2
0
M
P
H
 

L
im

it
s
 

A
p
p
ro
v
e
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

fe
a
tu
re
s
 a
n
d
 a
 T
ra
ff
ic
 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 O

rd
e
r 
fo
r 
th
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
; 

 In
s
tr
u
c
t 
L
e
g
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

a
d
v
e
rt
is
e
 t
h
e
 T
ra
ff
ic
 R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 

O
rd
e
r 
to
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 

s
p
e
e
d
 l
im

it
s
. 

C
h
ie
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

  

6
/1
/0
9
 

In
te
rn
a
l 
a
n
d
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 

d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
in
 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
it
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 

W
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
, 

E
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
M
e
tr
o
 a
n
d
 

a
ff
e
c
te
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
. 

  

D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 C
o
s
t 
R
e
p
o
rt
 

 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

c
h
ri
s
.w
a
y
@

le
e
d
s
.g
o
v
.u

k
 
 

Page 63



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
il 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
n
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
) 

A
6
6
0
 W

o
o
d
h
o
u
s
e
 

L
a
n
e
/C

la
re
n
d
o
n
 R
o
a
d
, 

W
o
o
d
h
o
u
s
e
 P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 I
n
b
o
u
n
d
 

B
u
s
/C

y
c
le
 L
a
n
e
 a
n
d
 J
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
M
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
t 
th
e
 A
6
6
0
 

W
o
o
d
h
o
u
s
e
 L
a
n
e
/C

la
re
n
d
o
n
 R
o
a
d
 

ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
n
 i
n
b
o
u
n
d
 b
u
s
/c
y
c
le
 

la
n
e
 a
lo
n
g
 t
h
e
 A
6
6
0
 W

o
o
d
h
o
u
s
e
 L
a
n
e
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 R

a
m
p
a
rt
 R

o
a
d
 a
n
d
 

C
la
re
n
d
o
n
 R

o
a
d
, 
a
t 
a
 t
o
ta
l 
c
o
s
t 
o
f 

£
6
6
0
,0
0
0
; 

 G
iv
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
o
 i
n
c
u
r 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
f 

£
4
4
5
,0
0
0
 w

o
rk
s
, 
£
8
0
,0
0
0
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
rs
 d
iv
e
rs
io
n
s
, 
£
5
,0
0
0
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

c
o
s
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 a
n
d
 £
1
3
0
, 
0
0
0
 

s
ta
ff
 c
o
s
ts
; 
a
n
d
 

 R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
th
e
 D

ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
L
e
g
a
l 
a
n
d
 

D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 a
d
v
e
rt
is
e
 t
h
e
 

T
ra
ff
ic
 R

e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 O

rd
e
r 
to
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 a
 

b
u
s
/c
y
c
le
 l
a
n
e
 o
n
 W

o
o
d
h
o
u
s
e
 L
a
n
e
 

a
n
d
 i
f 
n
o
 v
a
lid
 o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
, 

to
 m

a
k
e
, 
s
e
a
l 
a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 

T
ra
ff
ic
 R

e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 O

rd
e
r 
a
s
 

a
d
v
e
rt
is
e
d
. 

C
h
ie
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

  

6
/1
/0
9
 

M
P
s
, 
C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
, 

P
u
b
lic
, 
O
th
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 

  

D
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 C
o
s
t 
R
e
p
o
rt
 

 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

n
.b
o
rr
a
s
@

le
e
d
s
.g
o
v
.u
k
 

 

Page 64



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
il 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
n
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
) 

P
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 

L
e
e
d
s
 2
0
0
8
 -
 2
0
1
2
 

T
h
a
t 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 e
n
d
o
rs
e
 t
h
e
 

P
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 a
 h
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
a
n
d
 

m
o
re
 a
c
ti
v
e
 c
it
y
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
L
e
is
u
re
) 

 

1
4
/1
/0
9
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

w
it
h
 N

H
S
 L
e
e
d
s
, 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 

v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

C
h
ie
f 
R
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

m
a
rk
.a
llm

a
n
@

le
e
d
s
.g
o

v
.u
k
 

 

F
re
e
 S
w
im

m
im

g
 C

a
p
it
a
l 

M
o
d
e
rn
is
a
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

T
o
 a
g
re
e
 t
h
a
t 
fi
rm

 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 G

o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t’
s
 

F
re
e
 S
w
im

m
in
g
 C

a
p
it
a
l 

M
o
d
e
rn
is
a
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 b
y
 

th
e
 3
1
s
t  
J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 d
e
a
d
lin
e
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
L
e
is
u
re
) 

 

1
4
/1
/0
9
 

B
o
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

C
h
ie
f 
R
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

m
a
rk
.a
llm

a
n
@

le
e
d
s
.g
o

v
.u
k
 

 

U
D
P
 R

e
v
ie
w
 S
a
v
e
d
 P
o
lic
ie
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 A
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
o
f 

C
it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fo
r 
th
e
 S
e
c
re
ta
ry
 o
f 
S
ta
te
’s
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
4
/1
/0
9
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

P
a
n
e
l 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

Page 65



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
il 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
n
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
) 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
S
p
a
ti
a
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

R
e
v
ie
w
- 
L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
C
it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R
S
S
 R
e
v
ie
w
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
4
/1
/0
9
 

V
ia
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
la
n
 P
a
n
e
l 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

T
e
m
p
le
 W

o
rk
s
 H

o
lb
e
c
k
 L
e
e
d
s
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
rt
 G

a
lle
ry
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 

o
f 
T
e
m
p
le
 W

o
rk
s
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

W
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

k
e
y
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

je
a
n
.d
e
n
t@

le
e
d
s
.g
o
v
.u

k
 
 

L
e
e
d
s
 F
lo
o
d
 A
lle
v
ia
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
: 
D
e
s
ig
n
 G

u
id
e
 &
 V
is
io
n
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 D
e
s
ig
n
 G

u
id
e
 

a
n
d
 V
is
io
n
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

T
h
e
re
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

in
te
rn
a
lly
. 
J
o
in
t 

p
u
b
lic
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 

w
ill
 b
e
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

Page 66



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
il 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
n
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
) 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
u
b
lic
 R

ig
h
ts
 o
f 
W
a
y
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 -
 F
in
a
l 

D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 R
ig
h
ts
 o
f 
W
a
y
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 f
o
r 
L
e
e
d
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
L
e
is
u
re
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 g
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 1
2
 w
e
e
k
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

w
h
ic
h
 e
n
d
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

3
1
s
t  
O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

 

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

jo
a
n
n
e
.c
lo
u
g
h
@

le
e
d
s
.

g
o
v
.u
k
 

 

A
6
5
3
 D

e
w
s
b
u
ry
 R

o
a
d
 B
u
s
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 M

e
a
s
u
re
s
, 
R
in
g
 R
o
a
d
 

B
e
e
s
to
n
 P
a
rk
 B
u
s
 L
a
n
d
 

P
e
rm

is
s
io
n
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
t 
th
e
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
to
ry
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
in
g
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 o
n
 r
e
tu
rn
 o
f 
te
n
d
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
 

w
o
rk
s
 a
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 b
u
s
 c
o
rr
id
o
r 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 L
T
P
 a
n
d
 a
re
 a
n
 i
n
tr
in
s
ic
 p
a
rt
 

o
f 
th
e
 Y
o
rk
s
h
ir
e
 B
u
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
. 
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

In
it
ia
l 
M
e
m
b
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
. 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

C
it
y
 C

e
n
tr
e
 P
a
rk
 

In
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 C

it
y
 C
e
n
tr
e
 

P
a
rk
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
L
e
is
u
re
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
O
ff
ic
e
rs
, 

C
A
B
E
, 
C
iv
ic
 T
ru
s
t 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

Page 67



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
il 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
n
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
) 

P
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 G

re
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

T
o
 s
e
e
k
 a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
fo
r 
th
e
 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 P
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 

G
re
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
L
e
is
u
re
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

E
x
te
n
s
iv
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
it
h
 a
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
. 

 

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

A
6
5
 Q

u
a
lit
y
 B
u
s
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 -
 L
a
n
d
 

A
c
q
u
is
it
io
n
 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
o
 i
n
c
u
r 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
f 

u
p
 t
o
 £
2
.5
 m

ill
io
n
 t
o
 a
c
q
u
ir
e
 

la
n
d
s
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
t 

th
e
 A
6
5
 Q

B
I 
S
c
h
e
m
e
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
 :
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 P
u
b
lic
 

In
q
u
ir
y
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 

C
h
ie
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 O

ff
ic
e
r 

p
a
u
l.
ru
s
s
e
ll@

le
e
d
s
.g
o
v

.u
k
 

 

A
6
3
9
 A
rl
a
 L
a
n
d
s
lip
 

T
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 t
h
e
 

c
a
rr
ia
g
e
w
a
y
 s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 k
e
e
p
 t
h
is
 

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
lin
k
 o
p
e
n
 t
o
 t
ra
ff
ic
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

1
3
/2
/0
9
 

N
/A
 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

Page 68



 
K

e
y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 M

a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

C
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m

a
d
e
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
il 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
n
d
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
) 

R
o
u
te
 5
1
/5
1
A
 B
u
s
 S
to
p
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

T
o
 o
b
ta
in
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
o
 s
p
e
n
d
 

£
3
2
5
,0
0
0
 t
o
 c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
, 
d
e
s
ig
n
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
t 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 t
o
 t
h
e
 b
u
s
 

s
to
p
s
 a
lo
n
g
 r
o
u
te
 5
1
/5
1
A
 

C
h
ie
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

  

2
3
/2
/0
9
 

W
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
, 

E
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
M
e
tr
o
 a
n
d
 

a
d
ja
c
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 

  

R
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
h
ie
f 

H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 O

ff
ic
e
r 
a
n
d
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

k
e
it
h
.b
ri
s
to
w
@

le
e
d
s
.g
o

v
.u
k
 

 

S
tr
e
e
t 
D
e
s
ig
n
 G

u
id
e
 

A
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
o
f 
S
u
p
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ry
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 D

o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
) 

 

4
/3
/0
9
 

A
lr
e
a
d
y
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 

  

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

T
h
e
 C

it
y
 V
a
ri
e
ti
e
s
 M

u
s
ic
 H

a
ll 

R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
je
c
t 

A
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
u
rr
in
g
 o
f 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

re
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
L
e
is
u
re
) 

 

4
/3
/0
9
 

T
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
fo
r 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
fo
r 
L
e
is
u
re
.  

 

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

C
it
y
 C

e
n
tr
e
 S
w
im

m
in
g
 

T
o
 a
g
re
e
 a
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 

to
 t
h
e
 U

n
iv
e
rs
it
y
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 

re
tu
rn
 f
o
r 
p
u
b
lic
 s
w
im

m
in
g
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 

p
o
o
l.
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
L
e
is
u
re
) 

 

4
/3
/0
9
 

   

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m

a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
it
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

  

Page 69



  N
O

T
E

S
 

 K
e
y
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
  
a
re
 t
h
o
s
e
 e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
: 

•
 

w
h
ic
h
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
c
u
rr
in
g
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
r 
m
a
k
in
g
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 o
v
e
r 
£
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
, 
o
r 

•
 

a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 l
iv
in
g
 o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 a
n
 a
re
a
 c
o
m
p
ri
s
in
g
 t
w
o
 o
r 
m
o
re
 w
a
rd
s
 

 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

 P
o
rt

fo
li
o
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 M

e
m

b
e
r 

 

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
a
n
d
 C

o
rp
o
ra
te
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
ic
h
a
rd
 B
re
tt
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 R

e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
A
n
d
re
w
 C
a
rt
e
r 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
S
te
v
e
 S
m
it
h
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
o
h
n
 L
e
s
lie
 C
a
rt
e
r 

L
e
is
u
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
o
h
n
 P
ro
c
te
r 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
S
te
w
a
rt
 G

o
lt
o
n
 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
ic
h
a
rd
 H
a
rk
e
r 

A
d
u
lt
 H

e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
P
e
te
r 
H
a
rr
a
n
d
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
K
e
it
h
 W

a
k
e
fi
e
ld
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 M

o
rl
e
y
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
o
b
e
rt
 F
in
n
ig
a
n
 

A
d
v
is
o
ry
 M

e
m
b
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
u
d
it
h
 B
la
k
e
 

 In
 c
a
s
e
s
 w
h
e
re
 K
e
y
 D
e
c
is
io
n
s
 t
o
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
re
 n
o
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
, 
5
 d
a
y
s
 n
o
ti
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 s
u
c
h
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 b
y
 w

a
y
 o
f 
th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
. 
 

Page 70



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 3RD DECEMBER, 2008 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor A Carter in the Chair 

 Councillors R Brett, J L Carter, R Finnigan, 
S Golton, R Harker, P Harrand, J Procter, 
S Smith and K Wakefield  

 
 Councillor J Blake – Non voting advisory member 

  
 
 

137 Exclusion of the Public  
The substantive reports referred to under minutes 140 and 141 had been 
designated as exempt until 3rd December (1.00 pm)  and 27th November 
respectively.  This designation had arisen from embargoes on the documents 
which had substantially been the source of the contents of those reports and 
all information had been published on lifting of those embargoes. 
 

138 Declaration of Interests  
Councillor Wakefield declared a personal interest in the item relating to 
Machinery of Government and 14-19 Commissioning Arrangements (minute 
149) as a schools and college governor. 
 
Councillor Blake declared a personal interest in the item relating to the Vision 
for Council Leisure Centres (minute 154) as an NHS Leeds Board member. 
 

139 Minutes  
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the minutes of the meeting held on 5th November 2008 be 

approved. 
 
(b) That with reference to minute 122 relating to the Deputation to Council 

regarding sports facilities in the Hyde Park area, a further report be 
brought to the next meeting of the Board. 

 
ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
 

140 Independence, Wellbeing and Choice Inspection of Adult Social Services  
Tim Willis, the lead inspector from the Commission for Social Care Inspection, 
attended the meeting and presented the Service Inspection Report following 
the inspection in Leeds which was undertaken in Leeds in July/August 2008. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report on the outcome of the 
inspection and presented an action plan relating to the 25 recommendations 
contained in the inspection report. 
 
 

Page 71



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the inspection report, the report of the Director and the action plan 

be noted. 
 
(b) That updates on progress against the action plan be brought to this 

Board as part of the Annual Performance Assessment reporting in 
December 2009. 

 
(c) That the inspection report and associated action plan be referred to the 

Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) for their oversight of performance 
against the targets set out in the plan. 

 
141 Annual Performance Assessment (Star Rating) for Adult Social Services 

2007/08  
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report on the annual 
assessment of Adult Social Care Services published by the Commission for 
Social Care Inspection on 27th November 2008 and attached to the report of 
the Director.  The response to the assessment was integrated into the action 
plan referred to in minute 140 above. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the report of the Director and the Performance Review report from 

the Commission be noted. 
 
(b) That the Annual Performance Review report be referred to the Scrutiny 

Board (Adult Social Care) for their oversight of performance against the 
targets set in respect of identified areas for improvement. 

 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

142 Future Secondary Provision Proposal for South Leeds High School  
Further to minute 43 of the meeting held on 16th July 2008 the Chief Executive 
of Education Leeds submitted a report on proposals to close South Leeds 
High School and to replace it with an Academy to serve the needs of children 
and young people from the Beeston and Holbeck, City and Hunslet and 
Middleton Park wards. 
 
The Chair referred to correspondence which had been addressed to members 
of the Board in relation to this, and to the proposal referred to in minute 143 
below, and other members confirmed their receipt of the same. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the outcome of the consultation, to close South Leeds High 

School on 31st August 2009, conditional upon Department for Children, 
Schools and Families approval to open an academy on that site 
opening on 1st September 2009, be noted. 

 
(b) That approval for the publication of a statutory notice to that effect be 

given. 
 

Page 72



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

143 Future Secondary Provision Proposal for Intake High School  
Further to minute 220 of the meeting held on 16th April 2008 the Chief 
Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on proposals to close Intake 
High School Arts College and to replace it with an Academy to serve the 
children and young people from the Bramley and Stanningley ward. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the outcome of the consultation, to close Intake High School on 

31st August 2009, conditional upon Department for Children, Schools 
and Families approval to open an academy on that site opening on 1st 
September 2009 be noted. 

 
(b) That approval be given for the publication of a statutory notice to that 

effect. 
 
ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
 

144 Reprovision of Windlesford Green Hostel for People with Learning 
Disabilities  
Referring to minute 57 of the meeting held on 22nd August 2007 the Director 
of Adult Social Services submitted a report on the proposed change of scope 
for the scheme established to create a new supported living development for 
people with learning disabilities at Windlesford Green. 
 
The rescoping provided for a smaller development meeting the needs of 
current residents, requiring a less than best disposal of land and resulting in 
land being made available for alternative use. 
 
RESOLVED – That the changes to the scheme as previously reported be 
noted, that the revised scheme as detailed in the report be approved and that 
the terms of the proposed lease as detailed in the report also be approved. 
 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

145 Deputation to Council - Pets in Council Houses  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report in 
response to the deputation to Council from Cats Protection on 10th September 
2008. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

146 Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA) (1995) - 12th Progress Report  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on the 
progress made in improving the overall energy efficiency of the Leeds housing 
stock. 
 
RESOLVED – That the content of the 12th HECA progress report and its 
release to the Government Office for Yorkshire and the Humber be noted. 
 

Page 73



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

147 West Yorkshire Energy Efficiency Scheme - Expenditure Discharge and 
Legal Delegation  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on 
proposals that Calderdale Council be appointed as banker for the West 
Yorkshire Regional Energy Efficiency Scheme with responsibility for 
administering the scheme budget for the period April 2008 to March 2011. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the West Yorkshire Energy Efficiency Scheme be approved. 
 
(b) That the Scheme annual and approximate sub set expenditure be 

approved for discharge. 
 
(c) That Calderdale Council continue in the role of banker for the West 

Yorkshire Energy Efficiency Scheme for the period April 2008 to March 
2011 and that the Legal Delegation Form as contained in Appendix 1 to 
the report be approved. 

 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

148 Options for changes to primary provision in the Richmond Hill Planning 
Area  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on the options 
available with regard to primary education provision in the Richmond Hill 
Planning Area. 
 
The options presented in the report were: 
 
1. The expansion of Richmond Hill Primary School linked to a proposal to 

close Mount St Mary’s Primary School. 
 
2. Closure of both Richmond Hill and Mount St Mary’s Primary Schools 

and the establishment of a new school. 
 
3. Closure of Richmond Hill and Mount St Mary’s Primary Schools and 

the establishment of a joint community and Catholic Provision. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That formal consultation be undertaken on the linked proposals to: 

• Expand Richmond Hill Primary School by one form of entry with 
new community specialist provision for children with Special 
Education Needs 

• Close Mount St Mary’s Primary School. 
 
(b) That a further report be brought to the Board with regard to the land 

ownership position at Mount St Mary’s. 
 
 
 

Page 74



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

149 Machinery of Government and 14-19 (25 for Learners with Learning 
Difficulties and/or Disabilities) Commissioning Arrangements  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on the proposed 
local approach to the implementation of the Machinery of Government 
changes to deliver the transfer of responsibilities from the Learning and Skills 
Council to the City Council.  The report also referred to the strategic approach 
to the commissioning for 16-19 (25 for learners with learning difficulties and/or 
disabilities) learners in Leeds from September 2009 through which the 
Council will trial the operational response to its new responsibilities. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to the local approach to implementing the 

arrangements for the Council’s response to the Machinery of 
Government changes that will transfer responsibilities from the LSC to 
Leeds City Council as detailed in sections 3.1.2 and 3.1.3 of the report. 

 
(b) That the basis for the strategic commissioning arrangements for post 

16 learners in Leeds from September 2009 as detailed in sections 
3.2.2 to 3.2.4 of the report be noted, and that the Director of Children’s 
Services develop detailed arrangements for the commissioning of 
provision and for monitoring and evaluating the impact of these 
activities. 

 
(c) That a further report be brought to the Board as early as possible in 

2009 on the proposed strategic commissioning arrangements for post 
16 learners. 

 
 (Councillor Finnigan declared a personal interest in this item as a 

governor of Joseph Priestley College). 
 

150 Building Schools for the Future Phase 2 Priesthorpe Specialist Sports 
College  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on proposals to 
proceed with the refurbishment of Priesthorpe Specialist Sports College as 
part of Wave 1, Phase 2 of the Building schools for the Future programme. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to the completion and entry into all necessary 

legal documentation for the Design and Build contract for Priesthorpe 
Specialist Sports College. 

 
(b) That expenditure of £16,579,338 from the capital programme be 

authorised. 
 

151 Leeds Building Schools for the Future: Follow On Project and 
Expression of Interest  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on the ‘Follow On’ 
project for the Building Schools for the Future programme and on the 
submission of the expression of interest as the basis for transforming the 
remaining schools in BSF. 

Page 75



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the priorities identified within the Expression of Interest be 

approved as the follow on project in Leeds through additional 
investment in Building Schools for the Future. 

 
(b) That further work be undertaken to detail the specific programmes in all 

the remaining geographical areas of Leeds. 
 
 

152 2008 Audit Commission School Survey  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report summarising the 
results from the Audit Commission’s School Survey for 2008. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the findings of the 2008 Audit Commission School Survey as set 

out in Appendix A to the report be noted. 
 
(b) That it also be noted that the results of the survey will be used to inform 

children’s services and partners’ service improvement plans. 
  
LEISURE 
 

153 Long Term Burial Requirements for the City  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on the current position 
with regard to the supply of burial space in Leeds and options for meeting the 
expected demand for burial space for the next 50 years and beyond. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the recommended policy to establish a preference for smaller 

locally based cemetery sites combined with the extension, where 
possible, for existing sites be adopted. 

 
(b) That officers explore further the potential to extend Farnley and 

Lofthouse cemeteries including consultation with planning officers 
about the inclusion of proposals in the Local Development Framework. 

 
(c) That officers look in more detail at the potential to develop small locally 

based cemeteries at Elmete, Priesthorpe Lane, Alwoodley Gates, Tile 
Lane East Moor and Haigh Farm Rothwell and report back to this 
Board on the outcome of this work. 

 
(d) That approval be given to the development of a 5 acre Cemetery at 

Whinmoor on the site identified on Plan B attached to the report, and 
that the implementation of this development be delivered as part of a 
larger masterplan for the site involving the decant of the Council’s 
nursery from Redhall. 

 
(e) That proposals to deliver a 14 acre cemetery extension at Lawnswood 

be not progressed. 

Page 76



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

 
(f) That officers liaise with Leeds University to acquire the site of the 

American Football Field either through private treaty or Compulsory 
Purchase to deliver a 3.8 acre extension to Lawnswood Cemetery, that 
officers explore further the potential to deliver a 5 acre cemetery on the 
site of the former Elmete Caravan Park and that officers seek to 
acquire the 2.5 acre site at Horsforth Cemetery either through private 
treaty or Compulsory Purchase Order. 

 
(g) That the Capital Programme be amended to reflect schemes at 

Lawnswood £1,750,000 ,  Elmete Cemetery £743,000, Horsforth 
Cemetery Extension £350,000, Kippax Cemetery Extension £51,000 
and Harehills Cemetery £125,000, releasing £281,000 back to the 
general Capital Programme. 

 
(h) That officers liaise further with representatives of the Muslim 

community on the accommodation of Muslim burial needs in the 
Council’s network of smaller cemeteries. 

 
(i) That officers carry out consultations with the relevant Ward Members 

and Area Committees regarding these proposals. 
 

154 Vision for Council Leisure Centres  
Further to minute 74 of the meeting held on 2nd September 2008 the Director 
of City Development submitted a report on the outcome of the public 
consultation exercise undertaken in relation to the Council’s draft Vision for 
Leisure Centres. 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the outcome of the public consultation exercise on the Vision for 

Council Leisure Centres be noted. 
 
(b) That officers explore in more detail the proposal to transfer Richmond 

Hill Sports Hall to community management as part of a community 
asset transfer. 

 
(c) That Sport England be requested to re-run their Facilities Planning 

Model for swimming pools provision in Leeds and in particular examine 
the implications of the Council’s draft proposals. 

 
(d) That officers consider the potential for community management for 

each of the centres most affected by these proposals and report back 
to a future meeting of this Board. 

 
(e) That officers further develop capital investment proposals for 

Aireborough, Bramley, Kirkstall, Pudsey, Otley, Rothwell, Scott Hall 
and Wetherby Leisure Centres. 

 
 
 

Page 77



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

CENTRAL AND CORPORATE 
 

155 Implications of Introducing a Living City Wage for Leeds  
The Chief Executive submitted a report on the implications of introducing a 
Living City Wage in Leeds following a resolution made by Council at its 
meeting on 9th April 2008. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

156 Business Transformation in Leeds City Council  
(a) Organisational Programme 
 The Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) and 

the Director of Resources submitted a joint report outlining the 
Council’s developing business transformation agenda and setting out 
the reasons behind the development, the high level scope of the 
programme of work required, initial benefits accruing from the work and 
governance arrangements to secure delivery. 

 
 RESOLVED – That the establishment of an organisational wide 

Business Transformation Programme be endorsed in the terms 
outlined on the submitted report. 

 
(b) Design and Cost Report for Key Enabling Projects 
 The Director of Resources and Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, 

Policy and Improvement) submitted a joint report on proposals for the 
delivery of the first phase of the Business Transformation Programme. 

 
 RESOLVED – 
 (a) That approval be given to the release of £7,183,000 (over a five 

year period), to be funded from the Business Transformation 
allocation in the Strategic Development Fund for the first phase 
of the Business Transformation programme. 

 
 (b) That authority be given to incur expenditure on procuring and 

implementing the key enabling projects which provide the 
foundations for delivering the Council’s Business Transformation 
aspirations. 

 
 

157 Calling In of Decision Taken on 8th October 2008  
The Chief Democratic Services Officer submitted a report on the outcome of 
the Call In of a decision of the Executive Board on 8th October 2008 regarding 
the Capital Programme Update 2008 –2012 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 14th January, 2009 

 

DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

158 Deputation to Council - Spenhill Residents' Association regarding the 
Protection of Butcher Hill Playing Fields and Surrounding Land  
The Director of City Development submitted a report in response to the 
deputation to Council from the Spenhill Residents’ Association on 10th 
September 2008. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

159 Leeds Local Development Framework Annual Monitoring Report  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on the City Council’s 
recommendations on the Leeds Local Development Framework for the 
Secretary of State’s consideration. 
 
An amended page of the submission was circulated at the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Annual Monitoring Report be approved for submission 
to the Secretary of State pursuant to Regulation 48 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2004. 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  5th December 2008 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN: 12th December 2008 
 
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items Called In by 12.00 noon on 
Monday 15th December 2008). 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of Last Meeting
	7 Leeds Strategic Plan Performance Report for Quarter 2 2008/09
	App 1 City Dev Action Tracker Summary
	App 2 PI Culture
	App 2 PI Environment
	App 2 PI Learning
	App 2 PI TransportA
	App 2 PI TransportB
	App 2 PI TransportC
	Action Tracker Interpretation Guidance
	App 3 Q2 Scrutiny PI Report
	App 3 PI Report Guidance

	8 A660 Corridor Transport Issues
	A660 Report
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	A660 Woodhouse Lane,Clarendon Road, proposed bus-Cycle Lane (34694)

	9 Work Programme
	appendix 1current work programme
	Appendix 2 City Develoment - Forward Plan
	Ex Brd Minutes 3.12.08.doc


